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I am pleased to present this report of 
the second full year of operation for the 
Commission for Children and Young People. 

All children and young people are precious. 
It is a privilege to work with, and champion 
the rights of, Victoria’s children and 
young people. They continue to inspire 
me and teach me about resilience and 
optimism, and I am reminded every day 
of the importance of our work. We have 
been trusted with the responsibility for 
promoting the safety and wellbeing of 
children and young people in Victoria, 
particularly those who are most vulnerable. 

As a good parent would
��er� ni�htǡ a��ro�i�ate�� ͘͘͘͟ �i�torian �hi��ren an� �oun� 
�eo��e are �i�in� in outǦofǦho�e �areǡ �hi�h is fun�e� an� 
re�u�ate� �� the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǤ 
The Children, Youth and Families Act 2005 ȋsǤ ͙͟͜Ȍ in��u�es a 
�o��it�ent �� the �tate of �i�toria to �ro�i�e Ǯfor the �h�si�a�ǡ 
inte��e�tua�ǡ e�otiona� an� s�iritua� �e�e�o��entǯ of �hi��ren in 
outǦofǦho�e �are Ǯin the sa�e �a� as a �oo� �arent �ou��ǯǤ 

�n Mar�h ͚͙͘͜ �e �e�an �or� on our Ƥrst �o��issionǦinitiate� 
in�uir�Ǥ �ur re�ort on that in�uir�ǡ entit�e� “. . . as a good parent 
would . . .” Inquiry into the adequacy of the provision of residential 
care services to Victorian children and young people who have 
been subject to sexual abuse or sexual exploitation whilst residing 
in residential care, demonstrates that children and young people 
are sti�� �ein� se�ua��� a�use� an� e���oite� in state �areǤ �e 
�an an� shou�� �o �etterǤ �his �ear �e �i�� �onitor an� re�ort 
on ho� the �o�ern�ent res�on�s to our re�o��en�ations 
an� �hat a�tions are �ein� ta�en to i��ro�e the safet� an� 
�e���ein� of �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �i�in� in resi�entia� �areǤ

Important lessons
�e �i�� �ontinue to �on�u�t in�uiries into the �eaths of �hi��ren 
�ho ha�e �o�e into �onta�t �ith �hi�� �rote�tion ser�i�esǤ 
�hese in�uiries �ro�i�e a �in�o� into �hi�� �rote�tion �ra�ti�e 
an� �o�i�iesǤ �he� a�so �i�e us insi�ht into ho� �e�� other 
�rofessiona�s an� ser�i�e s�ste�s �oǡ or �o notǡ �or� to�ether to 
promote the safety and best interests of our community’s most 
�u�nera��e �hi��renǤ �he i��ortant �essons �e �earn fro� these 
tra�i� e�ents a��o� us to honour the �ife of the �hi�� �� i��ro�in� 
the s�ste� for a�� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in our �areǤ

From the Principal  
Commissioner

Bernie Geary, OAM 
Principal Commissioner
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For example, I recently met a boy who has experienced profound 
ne��e�t an� �at�he� his �rother �ieǤ �e is no� thri�in� �ith 
�o�in� foster �arersǡ �ut the i��a�t of those e��erien�es �ersist 
an� he stru���es to �ee� u� at s�hoo�Ǥ �is a��ess to an ai�e at 
s�hoo� �as �ith�ra�n an� his �arers ha� to �att�e to ha�e it 
reinstate�Ǥ A �enerous �o��unit� �ou�� not �ant hi� or his 
�arers to e��erien�e the stress of not �no�in� if he �i�� �ontinue 
to ha�e this �u�hǦnee�e� he�� at s�hoo�Ǥ � a��o�ate� for hi� 
to re�ei�e on�oin� su��ortǤ �his �o�ǯs stor� hi�h�i�hts the nee� 
to ensure that the �ost �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e 
in our �o��unit� re�ei�e �riorit� a��ess to ser�i�es an� that 
the�ǡ an� their �arersǡ ha�e a��ess to a��o�a�� su��ort �hen the 
ser�i�es �ro�i�e� are ina�e�uateǤ

Direct contact
�his �ast �ear �e re�ei�e� a�out ͛͘͞ �a��sǡ e�ai�s an� �etters 
fro� �e��ers of the �o��unit� �ho �ere see�in� a��i�e or 
assistan�e in re�ation to the safet� an� �e���ein� of �hi��renǤ 
Although the Commission has no legislated authority to manage 
�o���aintsǡ �e see this ro�e as an i��ortant oneǤ �e assist 
�eo��e �� �ro�i�in� infor�ation an� he��in� the� ha�e their 
�on�erns e�a�ine� an� �e�isions re�ie�e� �� �o�ern�ent 
�e�art�entsǤ �his �or� �a�es us �etter infor�e� a�out the 
�urrent �ha��en�es fa�e� �� �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� 
�eo��e an� their fa�i�ies an� �arersǤ

�e �onǯt �ust �ait for �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e to 
�onta�t usǢ �e �o out an� �eet the�Ǥ An�re� 
a��o�osǡ the 
Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People, and 
� tra�e� aroun� �i�toria to see for ourse��es ho� �hi��ren an� 
�oun� �eo��eǡ an� their �arersǡ are �o�in�Ǥ �e see the �est an� 
the �orst of the ser�i�e s�ste�Ǥ As an e�Ǧ�outh �or�erǡ � stron��� 
�e�ie�e �hi��renǯs �oi�es are �est hear� on their o�n ter�sǡ that 
isǡ �here the� �i�eǡ re�reate or stu��Ǥ

�hen the �e�ia re�orts stories of �hi�� ne��e�t an� a�useǡ 
the community responds with an immediate outpouring of 
s���ath� an� su��ortǤ �he �ha��en�e is to ensure that this 
e�otion is trans�ate� into tan�i��eǡ �on�Ǧter� assistan�eǤ �o 
�o�ern�ent or �o��unit� res�onsi�i�it� �an �e �reater than 
ensurin� the safet� an� �e���ein� of these �u�nera��e �hi��ren 
an� �oun� �eo��eǤ 

Inquiries in recent years, including the Royal Commission into 
Institutional Responses to Child Sexual Abuse and the Royal 
�o��ission into 	a�i�� �io�en�eǡ ha�e shone a �i�ht on the 
a�use to �hi�h too �an� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e ha�e 
�een su��e�te�Ǥ �he �est �a� to honour the �oura�e of the 
sur�i�ors �ho �arti�i�ate in these in�uiries is to i���e�ent the 
re�o��en�ations that arise fro� the�Ǥ

�f �arti�u�ar i��ortan�e in �i�toria are the re�o��en�ations 
arising from the Parliamentary Family and Community 
�e�e�o��ent �o��itteeǯs Betrayal of Trust re�ortǤ ���ortant 
re�o��en�ations re�atin� to �ri�ina� an� �i�i� �a�s ha�e a�rea�� 
�een �ut into effe�tǤ �e �oo� for�ar� to �or�in� �ith the 
�o�ern�ent on i���e�entin� other re�o��en�ationsǤ

� a� ��ease� to ha�e �een in�ite� re�u�ar�� to �resent to the 
�hi��renǯs �er�i�es �oor�ination �oar�ǡ �here o��ortunities 
exist to discuss issues relating to children and young people and 
�ro�ote �rossǦ�e�art�enta� �oor�ination an� �o��a�orationǤ

Priority access to services
� ha�e �on� ar�ue� for refor�s to ensure that �hi��ren in state 
�are re�ei�e �riorit� a��ess to ser�i�es to he�� the� hea� fro� 
the trau�a the� ha�e e��erien�e�Ǥ � �e�ie�e these �hi��ren 
�eser�e a Ǯ�o�� �assǯ in the s�ste�Ǥ � ha�e s�o�en to �an� 
children and young people, and those who care for them, and 
� �no� that hi�hǦ�ua�it�ǡ �on�Ǧter�ǡ �onsistent an� re�ia��e 
su��ort too often fai�s to �ateria�iseǤ 
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Community connection
�o��unit� �onne�tion is at the heart of �u�h of our �or�Ǥ 
�he �e�utante �a��ǡ he�� in Au�ust ͚͙͘͜ǡ �e�e�rate� the 
a�hie�e�ents of �oun� �eo��e �ho ha�e e��erien�e�  
outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �t �ro�i�e� an o��ortunit� for near�� ͘͘͝ 
�e��ers of the �o��unit�ǡ in��u�in� �o�ern�ent �inistersǡ  
to �eet an� ta�� to so�e of the �oun� �eo��e entruste� to the 
�are of the stateǤ �he �a�� is ��anne� an� or�anise� �ith others 
in the se�torǤ

� a� �er� �rou� of the �o��issionǯs inno�ati�e a��roa�hes 
to �a�in� the �oi�es of �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e 
hear�Ǥ � a� �ratefu� to the �e�i�ate� tea� of �o�unteers �ho 
�arti�i�ate in these �ro�ra�sǤ �e re�ruitǡ s�reenǡ train an� 
su��ort �ore than ͘͝ �o��unit� �o�unteers for our �isitor 
�ro�ra�s in �outh �usti�e �entres an� resi�entia� �areǤ �ur 
�o��unit� �o�unteers �rin� a freshǡ in�e�en�entǡ un�arnishe� 
�ers�e�ti�e to our �or�Ǥ 

�t is often sai� that �hi�� �rote�tion is e�er�oneǯs �usinessǤ  
�ur �o��unit� �o�unteers he�� us �ui�� �onne�tions �et�een 
the �o��unit� an� �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ  
The community integration program creates pathways for 
�u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e to �onne�t �ith the 
�o��unit�Ǥ �he in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra�s �ro�i�e an 
o��ortunit� for ser�i�es �ro�i�e� �� the state to �e �easure� 
a�ainst the e��e�tations of the �o��unit�Ǥ

Advocacy
�he infor�ation �e �ather is the �asis of the a��i�e �e �ro�i�e 
to �o�ern�ent an� our �ritten su��issions on �o�i�� an� �a� 
refor�Ǥ �he �o��issioners an� other staff of the �o��ission 
share this infor�ation �� �i�in� e�i�en�e at �ar�ia�entar� 
an� other in�uiries an� state an� nationa� ro�a� �o��issionsǤ 
�e �ro�u�e an� �istri�ute �u��i�ationsǡ re�u�ar�� �resent 
to community and professional forums and participate in 
�onsu�tationsǡ �or�sho�s an� �o��itteesǤ  

�his �ear � �as a�ain ��ease� to �e the nationa� �on�enor of 
the Austra�ian �hi��renǯs �o��issioners an� 
uar�iansǤ �his 
�o��a�oration �ro�i�es i��ortant o��ortunities to �earn fro� 
one another an� to a��o�ate �oint�� for the safet�ǡ �e���ein�  
an� ri�hts of �hi��ren nationa���Ǥ

Looking to the future
��er the �ears our �e�is�ationǡ ro�eǡ fun�tions an� �riorities  
ha�e e��an�e� an� � e��e�t the� �i�� �ontinue to �han�eǤ  
�he �re�ious �ƥ�e of the �hi�� �afet� �o��issioner fun�tione� 
as an a��inistrati�e oƥ�e of a �o�ern�ent �e�art�entǤ �e are 
now an independent commission with a broader mandate and 
stron�er �o�ers an� �e ha�e Austra�iaǯs on�� �o��issioner for 
A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� Youn� �eo��eǤ

�e �ust ensure that our or�anisationa� stru�ture an� �a�a�i�it� 
�at�h �oth our �urrent ro�es an� an� ne� fun�tions �i�en to us 
�� �o�ern�entǤ �he re�ie� of the �o��ission �� the �i�torian 
�u��i� �e�tor �o��ission in ͚͙͘͜ hi�h�i�hte� areas �e nee� 
to stren�thenǡ an� that �or� is �e�� un�er�a�Ǥ �he re�ie� a�so 
�onƤr�e� areas �e ha� i�entiƤe� as nee�in� i��ro�e�entǡ 
particularly in relation to our data management and information 
te�hno�o�� s�ste�sǤ �e are �or�in� to�ar�s a�hie�in� these 
i��ro�e�entsǤ

� �arti�u�ar�� a��re�iate the efforts an� �e�i�ation of our staffǡ 
who are focused on and committed to promoting the safety 
and wellbeing of children and young people in this time of 
transitionǤ �ur �or�ǡ �arti�u�ar�� throu�h our in�uiriesǡ re�ie�s 
and monitoring, exposes us to some of the terrible harm children 
an� �oun� �eo��e in �i�toria e��erien�eǤ �ur �er� e��erien�e� 
an� hi�h�� s�i��e� staff �e��ers �eet these �ha��en�es �ith 
�rofessiona�is� an� �o��assionǤ 

� a� ��ease� that �ren�a �o�an� has �een a��ointe� to the 
on�oin� �osition as the �o��issionǯs �hief e�e�uti�e oƥ�erǤ  
� �ontinue to �e ins�ire� �� the �or� of An�re� 
a��o�osǡ  
the �o��issioner for A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� Youn� �eo��eǤ  
�t is a ��easure to �or� �ith su�h a �e�i�ate� an� ta�ente� �rou� 
of �eo��eǤ

 
 

Bernie Geary OAM  
Principal Commissioner     

  
 
 

From the Principal Commissioner (continued)
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Andrew Jackomos PSM 
Commissioner for Aboriginal  
Children and Young People

From the Commissioner  
for Aboriginal Children  
and Young People

There are two lasting gifts that we can give 
our children: attachment and freedom. 

For Koorie children, attachment is 
grounded in culture and their identity. 
Attachment means knowing who they are 
in relation to their family, their community, 
their ancestors and their Country. This 
connection gives our children the freedom 
to stand proud and with that comes 
stronger self-esteem and the ability to 
practice self-determination.

	or �oorie �hi��ren �ho are not �i�in� �ith their �arentsǡ this 
�onne�tion to �u�ture is e�en �ore �ru�ia� if the� are to �a�e 
�oo� �hoi�es in their �i�esǤ Atta�h�ent is the foun�ation 
on which they can heal past hurts and succeed, despite the 
a��ersit� the� �a� ha�e a�rea�� e��erien�e�Ǥ

� a� ��ease�ǡ a�on� �ith �ernie 
ear�ǡ to �resent the 
�o��ission for �hi��ren an� Youn� �eo��e annua� re�ortǤ �his 
re�ort is an o��ortunit� for us to a��no��e��e the �hi��ren an� 
�oun� �eo��e in �i�toriaǡ re�o�nise inno�ati�e �ro�ra�s an� 
initiati�es an� �onsi�er the �ha��en�es that �eǡ as a�u�tsǡ �ust 
ta���e to i��ro�e the �i�es of our �ost �u�nera��e �hi��renǤ

� a� a Yorta Yorta �an an� � ha�e the �reat honour to �e the 
Victorian Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young 
�eo��eǤ � a� t�o �ears into �� fourǦ�ear a��oint�ent an� � a� 
�rou� of the �or� that �e ha�e a�hie�e�Ǥ �e ha�e a��o�ate� 
strongly for the inclusion of the Koorie community in decision-
�a�in�ǡ in�rease� a��ounta�i�it� an� trans�aren�� a�out ho� 
�oorie �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e are farin�ǡ an� i��ro�e� 
�u�tura� �onne�tions for those �i�in� in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ

Koorie children in  
out-of-home care
��er the �ast �ear � ha�e �een hu���e�ǡ an� at ti�es  
sho��e�ǡ �� the stories of �ore than ͘͘͝ �oorie �hi��ren �ho 
�ere re�o�e� fro� their fa�i�ies an� ��a�e� in outǦofǦho�e 
�are in �i�toriaǤ 

�ron�fu��� an� �ontrar� to �oth �e�is�ation an� �oo� �ra�ti�eǡ 
�an� of these �hi��ren are a�so �is�onne�te� fro� their �inǡ 
�u�ture an� �o��unit�Ǥ 	or �an� �hi��ren in �areǡ their i�entit� 
is not esta��ishe� �urin� inta�eǤ �his �an resu�t in the� �ein� 
placed with non-Aboriginal carers without any plan to embrace 
their culture, which is required by the Aboriginal Child Placement 
�rin�i��eǤ �nfants an� �reǦs�hoo�ers are es�e�ia��� at ris� of 
�e�o�in� �is�onne�te� fro� their �u�tureǤ 

�as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ has re�ea�e� thatǡ for so�e �hi��renǡ their 
i�entit� is not �onƤr�e� for �an� �earsǡ �hi�h is una��e�ta��eǤ 
�he �uestion of A�ori�ina� i�entit� �ust �e as�e� �an� ti�es 
an� in the ri�ht �a� to the ri�ht �eo��eǤ �u�ture is in �our sou�Ǥ 
At some point, perhaps as adolescents or adults, these children 
�i�� e��erien�e a �oi� in their �i�es an� the� �i�� see� �no��e��e 
a�out the�se��es an� their i�entit�Ǥ
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Taskforce 1000
� a��no��e��e that the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es 
ha�e �enuine �oo��i�� to �or� �ith the se�tor to a��ress the 
�urrent o�erǦre�resentation of �oorie �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e 
�areǤ �hrou�h �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ǡ �hi�� �rote�tion �o�i�ies an� 
�ra�ti�e are un�er�oin� �riti�a� re�ie�Ǥ A�� the sta�eho��ers 
in�o��e� in the �as�for�e ha�e reƪe�te� on ho� the� �an 
�ontri�ute to i��ro�in� the �ir�u�stan�es of �oorie �hi��ren in 
outǦofǦho�e �areǤ 

� than� the �an� �hi�� �rote�tion �ra�titionersǡ �ana�ersǡ 
�o��unit� ser�i�e or�anisations an� �o�ern�ent 
re�resentati�es �ho ha�e �ontri�ute� to the �as�for�e o�er 
the �ast �earǤ �n�oura�in��� �hi�� �rote�tion staff ha�e to�� 
�e that the �as�for�e has tau�ht the� a �ot a�out ser�i�es an� 
net�or�s that the� �i� not �re�ious�� �onne�t �ithǡ an� that the 
o��ortunit� to reƪe�t on their o�n �ra�ti�e an� �e�e�o� �u�tura� 
�no��e��e has �een �er� �a�ua��eǤ 

��er� �a� the �as�for�e area �ane�s hear �h� �hi��ren ha�e �een 
re�o�e� fro� their fa�i�iesǤ �e hear a�out the e��erien�es 
the� ha�e en�ure� an� the hurt the� suffere� in their fa�i�� 
ho�eǤ �e hear a�out the hurt that the� �ontinue to e��erien�e 
�hen the� are re�o�e�ǡ an� the hurt that fo��o�s the� �hen 
the� �ea�e �areǤ 

�t �istresses �e to �no� that these �hi��ren �i�� �ontinue to 
�arr� this hurt an� trau�a for the rest of their �i�esǤ �e �no� 
that e�otiona� hurt fro� fa�i�� �io�en�eǡ �hi�h a �ast �a�orit� 
of these �hi��ren �itnesse� an� �ere �i�ti�s ofǡ �i�� �ontinue to 
si��er for �e�a�esǤ 

�he �as�for�e i�entiƤes o��ortunities to i��ro�e �ra�ti�e for 
in�i�i�ua� �hi��ren as �e�� as s�ste�i� refor�Ǥ �t is i��erati�e 
that those �ho �no� a�out a �hi��ǡ that �hi�� as �art of their 
fa�i�� an� �o��unit� are �art of �e�isionǦ�a�in� for the �hi��Ǥ 
� a� �isa��ointe� that su��essi�e �o�ern�ents ha�e fai�e� to 
respond to the recommendations from the Victoria’s Vulnerable 
Children Inquiry calling for urgent action regarding the Children’s 
�ourt ��ini� �hi�h �a�es re�o��en�ations re�ar�in� the 
�e���ein� of �oorie �hi��ren to the �ourtǤ �e�isions are �est 
�a�e �ith �o�a� �no��e��e an� ta�in� into a��ount the a��i�e 
of practitioners with long associations with the child and a 
�ee� un�erstan�in� of the �hi��ǯs fa�i�� an� �o��unit�Ǥ � 
ur�e the �urrent �o�ern�ent to re�ie� the �n�uir�ǯs ur�ent 
re�o��en�ations an� a�t u�on the�Ǥ 

� �ou�� �i�e to see a �oori �ourt in the 	a�i�� �i�ision of the 
�hi��renǯs �ourt that �ui��s u� �no��e��e of A�ori�ina� in��usion 
�ith s�e�iƤ� trainin� for �a�istrates an� �ourt �or�ers a�out 
A�ori�ina� frien��� an� �u�tura��� safe �ro�e�uresǤ 

Our vulnerable children
�he sa� fa�ts are thatǡ in the �ear to ͛͘ 
une ͚͙͘͜ǡ there �as a ͚͜ 
per cent growth in the number of Aboriginal children in out-of-
ho�e �are an� the �ri�ar� fa�tors �ea�in� to their re�o�a� �ere 
fa�i�� �io�en�eǡ �arenta� a��oho� an� su�stan�e a�useǡ ne��e�t 
an� �enta� i��nessǤ 

�he sho��in� situation that �an� of our �hi��ren en�ure is not 
ne�Ǥ Man� in�i�ators of hea�th an� �e���ein� are not i��ro�in�Ǥ 
There is a type of industrial deafness to the data which for many 
is no �on�er sho��in� �ut so�e�hat e��e�te�Ǥ A�thou�h � see 
good intentions and I remain optimistic for the future, I do not 
see enou�h si�niƤ�ant �han�es to �on�in�e �e that this �ro�th 
in the re�o�a� of �oorie �hi��ren fro� their fa�i�ies �i�� not 
�ontinueǤ �e �ust �o��it e�er� a�ai�a��e resour�e to re�ersin� 
this tren�Ǥ 

�here is si�niƤ�ant �o�er �hen a �o��unit� �o�es to�ether 
for a sin��e �auseǡ �o��inin� our �o��e�ti�e �no��e��e an� 
inƪuen�e to �ri�e �han�e an� �reate inno�ationǤ �his �ear � ha�e 
been fortunate to witness community-led change and be part of 
su�h �o��a�orationsǤ

From the Commissioner for Aboriginal Children  
and Young People (continued)
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Aboriginal leadership
�n ��to�er ͚͙͘͜ � �as �rou� to sit �ith �ea�ers fro� A�ori�ina� 
community controlled organisations, the Koorie Youth Council, 
�o��unit� ser�i�e or�anisations an� the �entre for ���e��en�e 
in 	a�i�� an� �hi�� �e�fareǤ �e assiste� the� to u��ate a 
su��ission to �o�ern�entǡ Koorie Kids: Strong in their Culture, 
�hi�h out�ine� �riorities an� strate�ies to re�u�e the o�erǦ
re�resentation of �oorie �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ 

� �as thri��e� �hen in 
une ͚͙͘͝ǡ �ust ei�ht �onths after it 
�as �resente� to �o�ern�entǡ the �onǤ 
enn� Mi�a�os M��ǡ 
Minister for 	a�i�ies an� �hi��renǡ a�ree� �ith the Ƥrst of 
ei�ht �riorities fro� the su��issionǤ �he esta��ish�ent of 
an A�ori�ina� �hi��renǯs 	oru� �rin�s to�ether �o�ern�ent 
an� �o��unit� to �e�e�o� a �artnershi� a�ree�ent to 
�ro�i�e �o�i�� �ire�tion an� �onitor the i���e�entation an� 
accountability of outcomes for Koorie children and young 
�eo��e in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �he su��ission i�entiƤe� other �e� 
�rioritiesǡ �hi�h are in��u�e� in this annua� re�ortǤ �here is �u�h 
�or� the 	oru� nee�s to �oǤ 

The Commission’s inquiry into Compliance with the Intent of the 
Aboriginal Child Placement Principle should be completed by 
the en� of ͚͙͘͝ an� �ro�i�e� to the �o�ern�ent in ear�� ͚͙͘͞Ǥ 
�he ne�t in�uir� is a�out an in�i�i�ua� �hi��ǯs e��erien�e in Youth 

usti�e as a �hi�� �rote�tion ��ientǤ �his re�ort �i�� �e �ro�i�e� 
to the Minister in �onƤ�en�e an� �i�� hi�h�i�ht s�ste�i� issuesǤ 
Man� �eo��e ha�e s�o�en to us an� �ontri�ute� to these three 
in�uiries or �ro�i�e� su��issionsǤ � than� a�� of the� for their 
fran�ness an� share� �no��e��eǤ

Youth Justice
As �o��issionerǡ � ha�e a �arti�u�ar fo�us on �u�nera��e �hi��ren 
an� that in��u�es �hi��ren in the Youth 
usti�e s�ste�Ǥ �here 
are hi�h rates of �oorie �hi��ren on �aro�eǤ �his �earǡ �hen �e 
�isite� Youth 
usti�e �re�in�tsǡ �oorie �hi��ren �a�e u� ͚͘ �er 
�ent or �ore of �hi��ren in �usto�ia� ser�i�esǤ 

�e �i�� �ontinue to �ro�ote �onstant i��ro�e�ent in �oorie 
�hi��renǯs �onta�t �ith �o�i�eǡ �ourts an� the Youth 
usti�e 
s�ste�Ǥ �e �i�� �ontinue to a��o�ate for an in�rease in the 
minimum age of criminal responsibility from 10 to at least 14 
years of age, to bring Victoria in line with international standards 
an� in�rease �o��unit�Ǧ�ase� �i�ersionar� o�tions for �oorie 
�hi��renǤ � �i�� in�rease �� fo�us on inno�ation an� �etter 
out�o�es for �oorie �hi��ren in Youth 
usti�eǤ 

Pride in our young people  
and hope for their future
�oorie �outh are �a�in� the�se��es �ore �isi��e an� � �e�ie�e 
that the future is in �oo� han�sǤ �here are �an� e�a���es of 
youth who are standing proud in their culture, such as the 140 
�oun� �eo��e �ho ta���e� to�i�s su�h as fa�i�� �io�en�e at the 
�oorie Youth �u��it an� the ins�irationa� Mr an� Miss �A����Ǥ 

�n Mar�h � �as thri��e� to �e in�ite� �� the �i�torian A�ori�ina� 
Education Association to celebrate a record number of Koorie 
Year ͙͚ �ra�uatesǤ �n ͚͙͘͜ǡ ͙͚͝ A�ori�ina� stu�ents �ra�uate�ǡ 
�hi�h �as a hu�e in�rease fro� ͛͘͠ in ͚͙͛͘Ǥ �t �as a �er� �rou� 
moment for their families and community members and a 
strong reminder of the young and growing Koorie population  
in �i�toriaǤ 

�here is no �arrier or �oor that �eǡ as �oorie �eo��e �ho ha�e 
fa�e� a��ersit� o�er hun�re�s of �earsǡ �annot �a�� throu�h 
if our �o�ern�ent an� the �hi��ǡ �outh an� fa�i�� se�tor �a�� 
�esi�e usǤ �he �o��unit� is �i��in� an� rea�� to ta�e this �a�� 
to ensure that the ͙͛͘͘ �oorie �a�ies �ho are �orn e�er� �ear 
�i�� �no� a safeǡ �o�in� �ife in �hi�h the� �an thri�e in a �u�ture 
that is res�e�te�Ǥ 

�he �ast �ear has �een a fu�� oneǤ � �ant to than� a�� the �eo��e 
�ho ha�e �ontri�ute� to i��ro�in� the out�o�es for �oorie 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in �i�toriaǤ

Andrew Jackomos PSM 
Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People
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Vision

�i�torian �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǣ seen an� hear� Ȃ safe an� �e��

Mission

���ro�in� �oun� �i�es

Values

�istenin� an� a��o�atin� Ȃ in�e�en�ent an� a��ounta��e
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Legislation
The Commission for Children and Young People Act 2012  
ȋa�ai�a��e at ���Ǥ�e�is�ationǤ�i�Ǥ�o�ǤauȌ �ro�i�es the �e�is�ati�e 
�an�ate of the �o��ission for �hi��ren an� Youn� �eo��eǤ

The functions of the Commission set out in the Act include:

■■ �ro�i�in� a��i�e to �inistersǡ �o�ern�ent �e�art�entsǡ 
hea�th ser�i�es an� hu�an ser�i�es re�atin� to the safet� 
an� �e���ein� of �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e

■■ �ro�otin� the interests of �u�nera��e �i�torian �hi��ren an� 
young people

■■ �on�u�tin� in�uiries into ser�i�e �ro�ision or o�ission in 
regard to:

 Ȃ �hi��ren �ho ha�e �ie� an� �ere �no�n to �hi�� 
�rote�tion at the ti�e of their �eath or ͙͚ �onths  
before their death

 Ȃ the safet� an� �e���ein� of an in�i�i�ua� or �rou�  
of �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e

 Ȃ �o��unit� ser�i�esǡ hea�th ser�i�esǡ hu�an ser�i�esǡ 
s�hoo�sǡ �hi�� �rote�tion ser�i�es or Youth 
usti�e ser�i�es 
where there are persistent or recurring systemic concerns

■■ monitoring Victoria’s out-of-home care system and 
�ro�otin� �hi��Ǧin��usi�e �e�ision �a�in�

■■ monitoring and reporting on the implementation and 
effe�ti�eness of strate�ies re�e�ant to the safet� an� 
�e���ein� of �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e

■■ promoting child-friendly and child-safe policies and 
practices in Victoria

■■ �ro�i�in� a��i�e to the Minister a�out �hi�� safet�ǡ  
as requested

■■ re�ie�in� an� re�ortin� on the a��inistration of the 
Working with Children Act 2005 and educating and informing 
the community about that Act

■■ an� other fun�tions �i�en to the �o��ission �� the A�t or 
an� other A�tǤ

A �e� feature of the A�t an� the ro�e of the �o��ission is a fo�us 
on Ǯ�u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǯǤ �he �eƤnition of 
Ǯ�u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǯ in the A�t en�o��assesǣ

■■ those �ho are or ha�e �een ��ients of �hi�� �rote�tion

■■ those �ho are in�o��e� in the Youth 
usti�e ser�i�e s�ste�

■■ those �ho ha�e the�se��es re�ei�e� or �hose �ri�ar� 
�arer is re�ei�in� or has re�ei�e� ser�i�es fro� �ertain 
re�istere� �o��unit� ser�i�es

■■ �oun� �eo��e un�er the a�e of ͚͙ �ho ha�e �eft the �are 
of the �e�retar� to the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�es to �i�e in�e�en�ent��Ǥ

�he �eƤnition a�so in��u�es �hi��ren �ho �ie fro� a�use 
or ne��e�tǡ in��u�in� those �ho �ere ne�er �no�n to �hi�� 
�rote�tion ser�i�esǤ

�he A�t a�so re�o�nises that a�� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e ha�e 
a �e�ree of �u�nera�i�it�ǡ an� �ro�i�es that the �o��ission �i�� 
�ro�ote �ontinuous i��ro�e�ent an� inno�ation in �o�i�ies an� 
practices relating to the safety and wellbeing of all children and 
�oun� �eo��e in �i�toriaǤ

About the Commission for Children and Young People (continued)
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Strategic Plan 2014–16
The Strategic Plan 2014–16 arti�u�ates our o��e�ti�esǡ �e� 
out�o�es an� strate�i� �rioritiesǤ �he ��an re�o�nises that 
a�� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e ha�e a �e�ree of �u�nera�i�it� 
resu�tin� fro� their a�e an� �e�e�o��enta� sta�eǤ �he ter� 
Ǯ�u�nera�i�it�ǯ �o�ers a �i�e ran�e of fa�tors that �an in�rease 
the �u�nera�i�it� of a �hi�� or �oun� �ersonǤ �he ��an is a�ai�a��e 
on our �e�siteǤ

Objective
�o �ro�ote �ontinuous i��ro�e�ent an� inno�ation in �o�i�ies 
an� �ra�ti�es re�atin� to the safet� an� �e���ein� of �u�nera��e 
children and young people, and children and young people 
�enera���ǡ an� in the �ro�ision of outǦofǦho�e �are ser�i�es for 
�hi��renǤ

Key outcomes
■■ �i�toriaǯs �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �enefit fro� i��ro�e� 

an� inno�ati�e �o�i�ies an� �ra�ti�esǤ

■■ The Victorian community is engaged in the safety and 
�e���ein� of a�� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ

■■ �he �o��ission �on�u�ts its a�ti�ities in the �est interests 
of �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ

Strategic priorities
�his annua� re�ort �es�ri�es the �or� un�erta�en in re�ation to 
the si� strate�i� �riorities i�entiƤe� in the Strategic Plan:

■■ a�ti�e�� en�a�in� �ith �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e 
throughout Victoria to ensure their safety and wellbeing 
concerns are addressed

■■ �ro�otin� �ontinuous i��ro�e�ent an� inno�ation in 
�o�i�� an� �ra�ti�e a��roa�hes re�e�ant to i��ro�in� the 
�i�es of a�� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e throu�h en�a�e�ent 
�ith the �o��unit�ǡ �o�ern�ent �e�art�ents an� 
community sector organisations

■■ a�hie�in� i��ro�e� safet� an� �e���ein� out�o�es for 
Aboriginal children and young people

■■ �ro�i�in� in�e�en�ent o�ersi�ht of the i���e�entation 
of Victoria’s Vulnerable Children: Our Shared Responsibility 
Strategy 2013–2022 ȋ�i�toriaǯs �u�nera��e �hi��ren �trate��Ȍ

■■ �ro�i�in� in�e�en�ent o�ersi�ht of �i�toriaǯs �rote�tion 
arran�e�ents for �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e

■■ �a�i�isin� our o�eratin� effe�ti�eness throu�h the �est 
use of our resour�e �a�a�i�ities to ensure the a�hie�e�ent 
of our statutor� o��i�ations an� strate�i� �rioritiesǤ
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We are proud to have carried out the following activities  
in 2014–15. 

Engaging with children and 
young people
■■ �oǦhostin� the ͚͙͘͜ �e�utante �a�� for �oun� �eo��e in 

out-of-home care 

■■ �on�u�tin� an in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra� at the �ar��i��e 
Youth 
usti�e �re�in�t an� the Ma��s�ur� Youth 
usti�e 
Centre

■■ �e�e�o�in� an� �o��en�in� �i�ot in�e�en�ent �isitor 
�ro�ra�s in se�ure �e�fare ser�i�es an� resi�entia� �are 
ser�i�es

■■ Supporting the Community Integration Program 

■■ Engaging with Aboriginal youth through a range of forums 
in��u�in� �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ǡ �oorie Youth �oun�i�ǡ �oorie 
Youth �u��itǡ ���A�� 	oun�ationǡ �estern �u���o�s 
�a��eiǦ
errin� �ro�ra�ǡ A	� ��orts�ea�� an� �A���� 
e�ents an� �o��unit� �atherin�s

■■ Meetin� �ith �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e 
throughout Victoria to listen to and learn from them

Promoting continuous 
improvement and innovation
■■ �ontri�utin� to si�nifi�ant �o�i�� an� �a� refor� �� �i�in� 

e�i�en�e at in�uiries an� �arti�i�atin� in �onsu�tations 
as �e�� as �ro�i�in� �ritten su��issionsǡ in��u�in� those 
to the Royal Commission into Institutional Responses to 
Child Sexual Abuse, the Royal Commission into Family 
Violence and the Australian Senate Standing Committee on 
Community Affairs’ inquiry into out-of-home care

■■ �resentin� at �ore than ͘͟ �o��unit� e�ents an� 
professional forums 

■■ �artnerin� �ith �o�ern�ent �e�art�ents in the �on�u�t of 
�onsu�tations on the �e�e�o��ent of �hi��Ǧsafe stan�ar�s 
as recommended in Betrayal of Trust 

■■ Championing reforms to laws, policies and practices to 
bring them into line with the Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities Act 2006 and internationally recognised 
hu�an ri�hts �on�entionsǡ �arti�u�ar�� in re�ation to 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in�o��e� �ith the �ri�ina� �usti�e 
s�ste� an� those �i�in� in outǦofǦho�e �are

■■ �ontri�utin� to �onsu�tations re�ar�in� the �e�e�o��ent 
of the third action plan for the National Framework for 
Protecting Australia’s Children 2009–2020 

■■ �o���etin� the annua� re�ie� of the a��inistration of the 
�or�in� �ith �hi��ren �he��

■■ �istri�utin� �ore than ͙͞ǡ͘͘͘ �o��ission resour�es a�out 
child safety and wellbeing

■■ Responding to more than 630 calls, emails and letters from 
the �o��unit� see�in� infor�ation an� assistan�eǡ �ost 
of which related to concerns about Child Protection or out-
ofǦho�e �are ser�i�es

■■ �or�in� �ith sta�eho��ers on the �e�e�o��ent of a �e�ia 
campaign to highlight issues of child neglect

Significant achievements 
of 2014–15
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Enhancing the safety and 
wellbeing of Aboriginal  
children and young people
■■ �o���etin� �is�ussions throu�h �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ �ith ten 

�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es areas to �riti�a��� 
ana��se the e��erien�e of �ore than ͘͘͝ A�ori�ina� �hi��ren 
in out-of-home care 

■■ �es�on�in� to �ore than ͚͘͜ �hone an� fa�eǦtoǦfa�e 
in�uiries re�atin� to �u�nera��e A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� 
young people

■■ A��o�atin� for refor�s to the �outh �usti�e s�ste� an� its 
�is�ro�ortionate�� ne�ati�e i��a�t on A�ori�ina� �hi��ren 
and young people

■■ A��o�atin� for a rene�e� a��roa�h to �u�tura� su��ort 
planning for Aboriginal children in out-of-home care

Providing independent oversight
■■ �or�in� on �ore than ͘͝ �hi�� �eath in�uiriesǡ fro� �hi�h 

the �o��ission �e�ie� �o��ittee �onsi�ere� ͛͜ re�orts 
an� en�orse� ͙͘ re�o��en�ations �esi�ne� to i��ro�e 
ser�i�es to �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e

■■ �n�erta�in� a s�ste�i� in�uir� into the �ro�ision of ser�i�es 
to �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �ho ha�e �een su��e�te� 
to sexual exploitation or sexual abuse while residing in 
residential care

■■ �o��en�in� resear�hǡ �or�sho�s an� the su��ission 
phase of a systemic inquiry into compliance with the intent 
of the Aboriginal Child Placement Principle

■■ �o��en�in� a s�ste�i� in�uir� into ser�i�es �ro�i�e� to 
Aboriginal children and young people in out-of-home care 
in �i�toria to �o���e�ent �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘

■■ Commencing an inquiry into the circumstances of a 
�u�nera��e A�ori�ina� �hi�� in re�ation to the ser�i�es 
�ro�i�e�ǡ or o�itte� to �e �ro�i�e�ǡ to hi� 

Monitoring strategy and  
out-of-home care services
■■ Ana��sin� an� re�ortin� on �ate�or� �ne ��ient in�i�ent 

re�orts re�ei�e� �� the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�es in re�ation to �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �i�in� in 
out-of-home care

■■ Partnering with the Ethnic Communities Council of Victoria 
to �ea� the �A�� �trate�i� �artnershi� A��isor� �o��ittee 

■■ �or�in� �ith A�ori�ina� �o��unit� �ontro��e� 
organisations in the family and child sector, the Koorie 
Youth �oun�i� an� �o��unit� ser�i�e or�anisations to 
i�entif� �riorities for their u��ate� �oint su��ission to the 
�i�torian 
o�ern�entǡ Koorie Kids: Growing Strong in their 
Culture

■■ A��o�atin� for a �artnershi� a��roa�h �et�een the 
A�ori�ina� �o��unit� an� �o�ern�ent to i��ro�e 
outcomes for Aboriginal children in out-of-home care, 
resulting in the Minister’s announcement of the Aboriginal 
Children’s Forum, which will commence with a summit in 
Au�ust ͚͙͘͝
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We continue to place a high priority on 
listening to children and young people, 
particularly those who are most vulnerable. 

�ur in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra�sǡ �isits to outǦofǦho�e �are 
ser�i�esǡ �on�ersations �ith foster an� �inshi� �arers an� 
atten�an�e at a �i�e ran�e of �o��unit� foru�s �i�e us 
opportunities to hear from children and young people and their 
fa�i�ies an� �arersǤ 

�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e ha�e share� their �ersona� stories 
�ith usǤ �he� ha�e to�� us �hat �a�es the� fee� safe an� ho� 
ser�i�es �an �e i��ro�e�Ǥ A�on� �ith the �ri�i�e�e of �ein� 
trusted with people’s stories, concerns and ideas, comes the 
res�onsi�i�it� to a�t on �hat �e hearǤ �e �on�e� �hat �e �earn 
to �o�ern�ent �inistersǡ �e�art�enta� se�retariesǡ senior �o�i�� 
�a�ersǡ ser�i�e �ro�i�ers an� the �i�er �o��unit�Ǥ 

In his recent appearance before the Victorian Parliament’s 
�tan�in� �o��ittee on �e�a� an� �o�ia� �ssuesǡ �ernie 
ear�ǡ 
our Principal Commissioner, described how basic support 
ser�i�es �an �a�e a �rofoun� �ifferen�e to the �i�es of �hi��renǣ 

 I had a meal with a kinship care couple in their 70s who are 
caring for three children. Grandma just said, ‘Look, I would 
just like somebody to come three times a week to help me 
with shopping, or to ask if they could take the kids to school, 
or just to talk about current day parenting issues’. That is the 
sort of support that people need. If we supported people in 
the community in that way – and it is simple – we would have 
fewer children in residential care.

�his testi�on� is �ust one e�a���e of the �an� �a�s that �e 
share �hat �e �earn �ith �eo��e in �ositions of authorit�Ǥ 

2014 Debutante Ball for young 
people in out-of-home care 
�he �ost �o�erfu� intera�tions ha��en �hen �u�nera��e 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e ha�e the o��ortunit� to s�ea� 
for the�se��es an� on their o�n ter�sǤ �n Au�ust ͚͙͘͜ǡ the 
�e�utante �a�� �ro�i�e� �ust su�h an o��ortunit�Ǥ

The Commission and the Centre for Excellence in Child and 
	a�i�� �e�fare �oǦhoste� the fourth �e�utante �a�� for �oun� 
�eo��e �ho ha� e��erien�e� outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �ear�� ͘͘͝ 
�eo��e atten�e� the Me��ourne �o�n �a�� to share in the 
�e�e�ration as ͚͙ �e�utantes an� their �artners �ere �resente� 
to the then Minister for �o��unit� �er�i�esǡ the �onǤ Mar� 
�oo��ri��e M�ǡ an� the then Minister for �i�uor an� 
a�in� 
Regulation, Minister for Corrections and Minister for Crime 
�re�entionǡ the �onǤ ���ar� �ǯ�onohue M��Ǥ

	or ͙͘ �ee�s �efore the �a��ǡ the �e�utantes tra�e��e� fro� a�� 
o�er Me��ourne to ta�e �an�in� �essonsǤ Man� ha�e s�ent �u�h 
of their �ife in fosterǡ resi�entia� or �inshi� �areǤ �hese �ere �ears 
that �ere �ar�e� �� transien�eǡ �isru�tion an� in�o���ete 
s�hoo�in�Ǥ �he �e�utante �a�� �a�e the� the o��ortunit� to 
�an�e in a �eautifu� �enueǡ share their stories an� as�irations 
for the futureǡ �eet �o�ern�ent �inisters an� other �e��ers 
of the community and celebrate this milestone with the most 
i��ortant �eo��e in their �i�esǡ their fa�i�ies an� frien�sǤ 

�e are �ratefu� to the �e�utantes an� those �ho su��orte� 
the�Ǥ �e than� the staff fro� the �entre for ���e��en�e in �hi�� 
an� 	a�i�� �e�fare �ho un�ertoo� �u�h of the ��annin� an� 
�oor�ination for this e�entǤ �e a��re�iate the su��ort �ro�i�e� 
�� the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǡ the ���A�� 
Foundation, out-of-home care agencies including Anglicare, 
�ho �ro�i�e� a �outh �or�erǡ an� the �usinesses that �onate� 
�enerous�� to ensure the �e�utantes ha� a �e�ora��e ni�htǤ 

Engaging with children 
and young people
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Comments made by the debutantes reflect  
their pride in their achievement: 
	 This	was	the	first	thing	I	could	invite	my	mum	to	.	.	.	 

and have her be proud of me.

 It’s all about me, me, me . . . look, I am a princess! 

 This was the best night ever. No, really, you don’t 
understand – I don’t think I will ever be so happy again.

 It’s so beautiful. I look like . . . well, not even like me!

 I never knew it would be this good. Thank you.

 I made the best friends. At the start I didn’t know anyone . . . 
now look [dancing in a group].

 If I can dance in these heels, I can do anything.

 

�e�utante �a�� ͚͙͘͜
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Independent visitor programs
�e �urrent�� o�erate in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra�s in t�o �outh 
�usti�e �entresǡ ͙͛ resi�entia� �are houses an� t�o se�ure �e�fare 
ser�i�esǤ �n�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra�s �ut the �o��unit�ǯs 
commitment to protecting the fundamental human rights of 
�hi��ren into a�tionǤ �hese �ro�ra�s �ro�i�eǣ

■■ an in�e�en�ent foru� throu�h �hi�h the �oi�es of 
�u�nera��e �hi��ren �an �e hear� an� a�tions �an �e ta�en 
to address their concerns

■■ important information to managers about the quality of 
their ser�i�e an� o��ortunities for i��ro�e�ent

■■ an opportunity for members of the community to assess 
�hether the �ua�it� of �are of these ser�i�es �eet 
�o��unit� stan�ar�s an� e��e�tationsǤ 

�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in �outh �usti�e �entresǡ se�ure 
�e�fare ser�i�es an� resi�entia� �are ser�i�es are hi�h�� 
dependent on the people who care for them, and are often 
�is�onne�te� fro� their fa�i�� an� �o��unit�Ǥ �he Interim 
Report of the Royal Commission into Institutional Responses 
to Child Sexual Abuse released in 
une ͚͙͘͜ hi�h�i�hte� ho� 
�hi��ren in institutiona� �are �an �ose their �oi�eǤ �he re�ort 
emphasised the importance of external scrutiny and included 
powerful illustrations of the impact on children when they felt 
�oi�e�essǤ 

 Who’s going to listen to me? I didn’t think I had rights.  
Don’t forget my parents didn’t want me, so what right  
have I got to stand up and say anything? (vol. 2, p. 33)

 Institutions that operate without accountability, or with 
accountability	only	to	themselves,	present	significant	 
risks to the children they work with. This can be because  
they are disconnected from the wider community or 
government agencies, and hence from regular external 
scrutiny. (vol. 1, p. 140) 

�e are stron��� �o��itte� to the use of in�e�en�ent �isitors 
in �outh �usti�e �entresǡ resi�entia� �are an� se�ure �e�fare 
ser�i�esǤ

Independent visitor program  
for youth justice centres
�he in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra� for �outh �usti�e �entres 
starte� at the �ar��i��e Youth 
usti�e �re�in�t in ͚͙͚͘ an� at the 
Ma��s�ur� Youth 
usti�e �entre in ͚͙͛͘Ǥ �he �ar��i��e �re�in�t 
is a �usto�ia� settin� in Me��ourne for �o�s a�e� ͙͘Ȃ͙͠ �ears 
an� �ir�s a�e� ͙͘Ȃ͚͘ �earsǤ �he Ma��s�ur� �entreǡ �o�ate� 
a��ro�i�ate�� ͙͘͘ �i�o�etres north of Me��ourneǡ is a �usto�ia� 
settin� for �oun� �en a�e� ͙͠Ȃ͚͙Ǥ

�e re�ruitǡ s�reenǡ train an� su��ort the in�e�en�ent �isitorsǤ 
�his �earǡ ͚͝ �eo��e �arti�i�ate� as �isitors to �outh �usti�e 
�entresǤ �he� are a �i�erse �rou� of �en an� �o�en �ith 
�ifferent �ife e��erien�es an� �areersǤ �e are �ratefu� to the� 
for their commitment and the high quality of their engagement 
�ith the �oun� �eo��eǤ

�n re�o�nition of the o�erǦre�resentation of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren 
an� �oun� �eo��e in �outh �usti�e �entres an� their s�e�iƤ� 
cultural needs, the Commission recruited three Aboriginal 
�isitorsǤ 

�ur in�e�en�ent �isitors ha�e �o��ente� on the �u�nera�i�it� 
of the �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in the �entresǤ Man� of the 
�oun� �eo��e �etaine� on senten�e or re�an� ha�e �eenǡ or 
are �urrent��ǡ ��ients of �hi�� �rote�tionǤ Man� �i�e in outǦofǦ
ho�e �areǡ ha�e �een the �i�ti�s of a�useǡ trau�a or ne��e�t 
or ha�e e��erien�e� �enta� i��nessǤ A nu��er of the� ha�e an 
inte��e�tua� �isa�i�it�Ǥ 

�isits ha��en on a �onth�� �asisǤ �hrou�h the in�e�en�ent 
�isitor �ro�ra�ǡ �e hear the �oi�e of �oun� �eo��e in �usto��ǡ 
su��ort the� to ha�e issues a��resse�ǡ an� i�entif� �a�s to 
i��ro�e their e��erien�es of �ein� in �usto��Ǥ 

�he �isitors a�so ho�� e�it inter�ie�s �ith the �oun� �eo��e 
�efore the� are re�ease� fro� �usto��Ǥ �hese inter�ie�s �ro�i�e 
information on the young people’s experiences of being in the 
�entreǤ

�n ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝ǡ our in�e�en�ent �isitors �on�u�te� ͚͜ �isits to 
�outh �usti�e �entresǤ �urin� these �isitsǡ ͙͜͝ issues �ere 
raise� �ith the �isitors in re�ation to �ar��i��e an� ͙͚͟ in re�ation 
to Ma��s�ur�Ǥ �he� a�so �on�u�te� ͚͟͞ e�it inter�ie�sǤ �he 
�o��ission a��re�iates the su��ort an� assistan�e fro� staff 
an� �ana�e�ent at the �entresǤ 

Some issues raised by the young people, and the responses to 
the�ǡ are �es�ri�e� as fo��o�sǤ

Engaging with children and young people (continued)
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Access to health care
Young people are concerned about their ability to access 
�e�i�a� an� other hea�th �rofessiona�s in a ti�e�� �annerǤ 
�n the Ƥrst �uarter of ͚͙͘͝ǡ ha�f of the �o���aints raise� �ith 
our in�e�en�ent �isitors �ere a�out the �a�� of res�onse to 
referra� re�uestsǤ �hen hea�th issues are raise� throu�h the 
in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra�ǡ �oun� �eo��e �o �et a res�onse to 
their �on�ernsǤ  

Quality of the physical environment 
Young people raised concerns about the cleanliness and 
a��earan�e of the �entresǤ Ma��s�ur� an� �ar��i��e 
�ana�e�ent an� staff ha�e �or�e� ��ose�� �ith us to a��ress 
these issuesǤ Man� �han�es ha�e no� �een �a�e to the 
fa�i�itiesǡ �ith a �ar�e nu��er of �aintenan�e a�ti�ities an� an 
u��ra�e of Ƥttin�sǡ su�h as ne� �ar�et a�ross the �outh �usti�e 
�entresǤ 

Quality of food 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �ontinue to ta�� a�out the �ua�it� of 
the foo� in the �entresǤ �hen the� �ere as�e� �hat the� �ou�� 
�i�e to �han�e a�out the fa�i�it�ǡ the �ost �o��on res�onses 
�ere a�out hea�thierǡ tastier an� �ar�er ser�es of foo�Ǥ

Support for Aboriginal children  
and young people
Aboriginal young people raised concerns with the independent 
�isitors a�out ha�in� �i�ite� a��ess to A�ori�ina� �u�tura� 
su��ort �or�ersǤ �he �o��issioner for A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� 
Youn� �eo��e a��roa�he� the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�es a�out thisǡ an� the �e�art�ent has no� a��ointe� an 
a��itiona� A�ori�ina� �u�tura� su��ort �or�erǤ

Isolation
�i�ht �on�erns raise� �ith the �isitors �ertaine� to the use of 
iso�ationǤ 

For example, a young person raised concerns about the length 
of time he had spent in isolation and the conditions of that type 
of �usto��Ǥ �he �o��issioner for A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� Youn� 
�eo��e �isite� the �oun� �erson an� �e�an an in�uir� into his 
e��erien�es in �oth Youth 
usti�e an� �hi�� �rote�tionǤ 

�he i��a�t of the in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra� is �urrent�� �ein� 
e�terna��� e�a�uate�Ǥ �he e�a�uation �i�� in��u�e �onsu�tations 
�ith �oun� �eo��eǡ staff an� �ana�e�ent at the �outh �usti�e 
�entresǤ �he e�a�uation an� Ƥn�in�s shou�� �e �o���ete� �� 
�e�e��er ͚͙͘͝Ǥ

Pilot independent visitor 
program for residential care 
�he �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es fun�s an� 
re�u�ates the �ro�ision of resi�entia� �are ��a�e�ents in �i�toriaǤ 
�esi�entia� �are unitsǡ �hi�h are staffe� an� o�erate� �� 
�o��unit� ser�i�e or�anisationsǡ �ro�i�e housin� an� �are to 
a��ro�i�ate�� ͘͘͝ �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �ho are ��ients of 
�hi�� �rote�tionǤ

�ur �or�ǡ a�on� �ith re�orts an� in�uiries �� other �o�iesǡ has 
i�entiƤe� �an� �ha��en�es in the �ro�ision of resi�entia� �are in 
�i�toriaǤ

�n 	e�ruar� ͚͙͘͝ǡ after e�tensi�e �onsu�tations �ith the 
�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǡ �o��unit� ser�i�e 
organisations and young people, our pilot residential care 
in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra� starte�Ǥ �he �i�ot �ro�ra� �o�ers 
͙͛ resi�entia� �are houses o�erate� �� si� �o��unit� ser�i�e 
organisations in both metropolitan and rural areas within the 
southern �i�ision of the �e�art�entǤ 

�e a��re�iate the interest an� su��ort for the �i�ot �ro�ra� 
fro� the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es an� the 
a�en�ies that �ro�i�e resi�entia� �areǤ 	ifteen �o�unteersǡ 
�arefu��� se�e�te� an� su��orte� �� the �o��issionǡ �a�e 
�onth�� �isits to the housesǤ �n re�o�nition of the hi�h nu��ers 
of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren �i�in� in resi�entia� �are housesǡ �e 
un�ertoo� a tar�ete� re�ruit�ent �a��ai�n for t�o A�ori�ina� 
�o�unteersǤ 

�urin� the �isitsǡ the �isitors s�ea� to the �hi��ren an� �oun� 
�eo��e a�out their e�er��a� e��erien�es an� an� issues the 
�oun� �eo��e �ish to raiseǤ �n�a�in� these �oun� �eo��e in 
�on�ersation ta�es ti�e an� a hi�h �e�e� of trustǤ �he trau�a an� 
a�use �an� of the �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e ha�e e��erien�e� 
at the han�s of a�u�ts in their �i�es �a�es it har� for the� to 
for� trustin� re�ationshi�sǤ �isitors ha�e �erse�ere� an� foun� 
�reati�e �a�s to �onne�t �ith the�ǡ so�eti�es �oo�in� �ith 
the� or ��a�in� �a�esǤ �isitors a�so s�ea� to the staff �ho �or� 
in the housesǤ 

�et�een 	e�ruar� ͚͙͘͝ an� ͛͘ 
une ͚͙͘͝ǡ there �ere ͞͝ �isitsǤ 
�urin� this ti�e the �oun� �eo��e raise� ͙͙͙ issuesǡ the staff 
raise� ͚͠ issues an� the �isitors i�entiƤe� another ͝͞ issuesǤ 

19



�hese resi�entia� �are units are ho�es for these �oun� �eo��eǤ 
�hat ho�e an� the ser�i�es the� re�ei�e shou�� �e �onsistent 
�ith the �harter for �hi��ren in �utǦofǦ�o�e �areǤ �he �harter 
includes the following rights:

■■ To have a home that feels like a home 
The young people raised a number of concerns about  
the �h�si�a� en�iron�ent of the houses in �hi�h the�  
�ere �i�in�Ǥ 

■■ To keep in contact with my family, friends and people  
and places that matter to me 
The young people raised concerns about their capacity  
to ha�e a��ess to frien�sǤ 

■■ To have fun and do activities that I enjoy 
�e�uests in��u�e� si���e thin�s �i�e the re�air of a �ar�en 
hose an� so�e see��in�s for so�eone �ho �as a �een 
�ar�enerǡ or ha�in� enou�h �one� to �o to the �o�iesǤ 
Young people also expressed concerns about not being able 
to affor� to ta�e �u��i� trans�ort an� the �i�ite� a�ai�a�i�it� 
of staff an� �arsǤ 

■■ To have a worker who is there for me 
�hen the �oun� �eo��e raise� issues a�out staffǡ the� 
�ere ref�e�ti�e �o��ents a�out �antin� to Ǯ�ust ha�e fun 
�or�ers �ith a sense of hu�our that �areǯǤ

An e�terna� re�ie� of the �i�ot resi�entia� �are �isitor �ro�ra� 
�i�� �e un�erta�en to �eter�ine its effe�ti�eness an� i�entif� 
o��ortunities for i��ro�e�entǤ �n the �ears ahea�ǡ �e �ou�� 
�i�e to see the resi�entia� �are �ro�ra� fun�e� on an on�oin� 
�asis an� e�ten�e� to a�� resi�entia� �are ho�esǤ

Pilot independent visitor 
program for secure welfare 
services
�he �hi��renǡ Youth an� 	a�i�ies A�t �ro�i�es the �e�is�ati�e 
�an�ate for the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es to 
operate secure welfare facilities where children and young 
�eo��e �an �e �etaine� for �i�ite� �erio�s of ti�eǤ �he A�t 
a��o�s the use of fris� an� un��othe� sear�hes as �e�� as the use 
of restri�ti�e �ra�ti�es on the �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e ��a�e� 
in se�ure �e�fareǤ 
i�en the hi�h�� restri�ti�e nature of these 
ser�i�esǡ the �e�is�ation �ro�i�es stri�t �i�its on their useǤ 

Victoria has two 10-bed secure welfare facilities for boys and 
�ir�sǡ �here stri�t�� ti�eǦ�i�ite� ��a�e�ents are �a�eǤ �e�ure 
�e�fare ser�i�es are not �usto�ia� ser�i�esǢ ��a�e�ents to se�ure 
�e�fare are �ase� on the nee� to �rote�t the �hi�� fro� se�ere 
an� i��e�iate ris�s to their safet�Ǥ �e�ure �e�fare �ro�i�es an 
o��ortunit� to re�ie� the �ir�u�stan�es of �are �rior to the �hi�� 
returnin� to �are in the �o��unit�Ǥ

�n ��to�er ͚͙͘͜ �e �e�an a �i�ot �o�e� of the in�e�en�ent 
�isitors �ro�ra� in se�ure �e�fare ser�i�esǤ �ur staff �isit the 
se�ure �e�fare fa�i�ities on a fortni�ht�� �asisǤ Youn� �eo��e �ho 
�ish to �o so �eet �ith our staff an� raise an� issues of �on�ernǤ 
�e a��no��e��e the interest an� su��ort re�ei�e� for this �i�ot 
�ro�ra� fro� staff an� �ana�e�ent at the se�ure �e�fare 
ser�i�esǤ

�hrou�h this �ro�ra�ǡ �e ha�e i�entiƤe� an� �ro�i�e� 
infor�ation to the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es on a 
range of issues including:

■■ access to health and mental health supports, and case 
��annin� �e�isions �a�e �� the �e�art�ent

■■ concerns raised by the young people about the physical 
en�iron�ent of the fa�i�ities

■■ concerns about the use of restraints and conduct of room 
searches in a manner that was seen as disrespectful to the 
young person

■■ quality of the food

Engaging with children and young people (continued)
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■■ �i�itations on a��ess to �eisure a�ti�itiesǡ a safet� issue �ith 
the trampoline and requests for access to music and more 
s�ortin� e�ui��entǤ

�e note� a nu��er of i��ro�e�ents to the se�ure �e�fare 
ser�i�esǤ �hese in��u�e i��ro�e�ents to the �h�si�a� 
en�iron�ent an� the e���o��ent of a �hef throu�h �ar��i��e 
�o��e�e �ho not on�� �oo�s for the �oun� �eo��e �ut a�so assists 
the� to ��an an� �oo� their o�n �ea�sǤ 

�he �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es has a��ise� that 
the� �ou�� �i�e a�� �oun� �eo��e �ea�in� se�ure �e�fare ser�i�es 
to ha�e an e�it inter�ie� �ith an in�e�en�ent �ersonǤ ��it 
inter�ie�s �ro�i�e �oun� �eo��e �ith the o��ortunit� to �ro�i�e 
anon��ous fee��a�� a�out the ser�i�es an� �are the� re�ei�e� 
�urin� their sta� in se�ure �e�fare ser�i�esǤ 

�he in�e�en�ent �isitors �urrent�� �on�u�t e�it inter�ie�s 
�urin� their �isitsǤ �enior se�ure �e�fare staff �on�u�t the 
re�ainin� e�it inter�ie�s �ith �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �ho 
�ea�e at other ti�esǤ �he �a�a�it� of in�e�en�ent �isitors to 
inter�ie� a�� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �ea�in� se�ure �e�fare 
ser�i�es �i�� �e �onsi�ere� an� �is�usse� fo��o�in� the out�o�e 
of the �ro�ra� e�a�uationǤ 

An e�terna� e�a�uation of the in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra� 
to se�ure �e�fare ser�i�es �i�� �e un�erta�enǤ �he e�a�uation 
�i�� e�a�ine the �ossi�i�it� an� eƥ�a�� of usin� traine� an� 
su��orte� in�i�i�ua� �o��unit� �o�unteers in the futureǤ

Community Integration Program 
The Community Integration Program recruits community-
�ase� �o�unteers �ho su��ort �oun� �eo��e in resi�entia� �are 
to create opportunities for community connections outside 
their �are en�iron�entǤ �e o�ersee the �ro�ra� an� �or� in 
�artnershi� �ith �hite�ion �n�Ǥǡ �hi�h e���o�s an� �ana�es 
three �o��unit� �nte�ration �ea�ers �ho re�ruitǡ train an� 
su��ort the �o�unteersǤ 

	o��o�in� an e�a�uation of the �i�ot sta�e in ͚͙͘͜ǡ �e reƤne� the 
�ro�ra� an� e�ten�e� it unti� �e�e��er ͚͙͘͞Ǥ �ne �e� �han�e 
has been the recruitment of a Koori Community Integration 
�ea�er to su��ort the o��e�ti�e of in�reasin� the nu��er of 
A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �o�unteers �arti�i�atin� in the �ro�ra�Ǥ 

�ther �e�e�o��ents in the �ro�ra� in��u�eǣ

■■ re�e�e�o��ent of trainin� for �o�unteers

■■ testin� a �ariation of the �ro�ra� �o�e� that is �ore suite� 
to the needs of specific houses or areas, such as a small 
�rou� of �o�unteers Ǯ�efrien�in�ǯ a house throu�h re�u�ar 
�isits unti� �in�s are for�e� �et�een the �oun� �eo��e an� 
the �o�unteersǤ 

�he �o��unit� �nte�ration �ea�ers �eet on�e a �onth to �or� 
to�ether on �ro�e�tsǡ share �ha��en�esǡ su��esses an� �is�uss 
�a�s to i��ro�e ho� the� �or� �ith �o�unteersǡ �oun� �eo��e 
an� resi�entia� �are staffǤ �he fo��o�in� �ase e�a���es i��ustrate 
the �a� in �hi�h the �ro�ra� o�eratesǤ

Case example: ‘Felix’ 
Felix is 14 and used to spend most of his time in his room 
��a�in� on his �o��uterǤ �e ha� �iƥ�u�ties so�ia�isin� �ith his 
�eer �rou� an� e��erien�e� so�ia� iso�ationǤ �he �o��unit� 
�nte�ration �ea�er �et �ith 	e�i� for a nu��er of �ee�s an� 
then intro�u�e� a �o�unteer �ho �et re�u�ar�� �ith 	e�i� to 
e���ore his interestsǤ �he re�ationshi� �ith the �o�unteer he��e� 
to �ui�� 	e�i�ǯs �onƤ�en�e to �ea�e the house an� tr� a nu��er of 
a�ti�itiesǤ �he �o�unteer �a�i�ate� 	e�i�ǯs interest in �a�in� an� 
he��e� hi� to �oin a �a�es �e�e�o��ent �rou�Ǥ �his i��ro�e� 
	e�i�ǯs so�ia� �onta�t an� his �onƤ�en�e in hi�se�fǡ as �e�� as 
�ui��in� on his stren�ths in �o��uter �a�in�Ǥ 
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Case example: ‘Alan’ 
A�an is ͙͜ an� is �i�in� in a thera�euti� resi�entia� �are ho�e as a 
resu�t of trau�aǡ a�use an� ne��e�tǤ A�an is intereste� in �o��in� 
an� �o��s �ith a �rou� on�e a �ee�Ǥ �nitia��� he sta�e� ��ose 
to the �o�unteer or a staff �e��er �ut �ra�ua���ǡ �ith �ro�in� 
familiarity, he started to communicate with other young people 
in the �rou�Ǥ �his �as a hu�e ste� for�ar� for A�anǡ �ho has 
ne�er �efore �arti�i�ate� in a �o��unit� �rou� or a�ti�it� for 
an� �en�th of ti�eǤ 	o��o�in� a fourǦ�ee� Ǯ�earnin� to �o��ǯ 
��ini�ǡ A�an �o�e� into a �ea�ue �rou�Ǥ  �he �o�unteer �ontinues 
to su��ort A�an an� there is sti�� �or� to �o to �a�e A�an fee� 
completely comfortable, but the community group has been 
�er� su��orti�e of A�anǤ 

Volunteer week celebration 2015
�urin� �ationa� �o�unteer �ee� ȋ͙͙Ȃ͙͟ Ma� ͚͙͘͝Ȍǡ our staff 
hoste� a �e�e�ration for the �o�unteers �ho su��ort the 
in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra� for �outh �usti�e �entresǡ an� the 
�i�ot �ro�e�t in resi�entia� �areǡ the A�ori�ina� Youth �eferen�e 

rou� an� the �o��unit� �nte�ration �ro�ra�Ǥ �n the ni�htǡ 
our �o�unteers �es�ri�e� their e��erien�esǤ

�he �est thin� that has ha��ene� �hi�e � ha�e �een �o�unteerin� 
in the program is:

	 ‘feeling	that	I	might	be	making	a	difference	even	if	I	cannot	
see it’

 ‘creating change in the environment or home of young 
person – which hopefully then can feel more like a home’

 ‘hearing from young people that something or someone in 
their	life	has	made	a	difference’.

�hat � Ƥn� �ost �ha��en�in� isǣ

 ‘when you see a young person return to custody; it’s also sad 
to see our young people have very low self esteem’ 

 ‘trying to engage teenage boys in conversation! Having had 
three	of	my	own,	I	know	it	is	always	worth	the	effort’

 ‘meeting kids who are very unwell and institutionalised. 
Being aware of the levels of violence some kids face in their 
everyday life’.

�o�unteer �ee� �e�e�ration ͚͙͘͝

Engaging with children and young people (continued)
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Modelling a Generous Community
�his �earǡ for the Ƥrst ti�eǡ a �hi�� �as the re�i�ient of the 
Mo�e��in� a 
enerous �o��unit� A�ar�Ǥ �resente� �urin� the 
�o�in ��ar� �rote�tin� �hi��ren A�ar�sǡ this a�ar� re�o�nises 
someone who has made an exceptional contribution to directly 
i��ro�e the �i�es of �hi��renǡ �oun� �eo��e an� fa�i�ies in 
�i�toriaǤ 

�he �inner �as a ͙͚Ǧ�earǦo�� �ir� �ho is a �e��er of the 
���A�� 	oun�ationǡ the �ea� �o�� re�resentin� the �oi�e of 
�hi��ren �i�in� in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �he a�ar� a��no��e��e� 
the compassion and generosity she shows as she welcomes 
new members to CREATE, and the way she supports her 
�ran��arents �ho �are for her an� her t�o si��in�sǤ 

�n �resentin� the a�ar� the �rin�i�a� �o��issionerǡ �ernie 
Geary, said:

 We all talk about hearing the voice of the children and young 
people associated with Child Protection and the care system. 
Here is a young person, with a child protection journey, 
generously demonstrating and modelling what we as adults, 
in various roles need to keep reminding ourselves to do – to 
persistently listen, and be in the shoes of children in care. 

Contacts with the Commission 
�e re�or�e� a��ro�i�ate�� ͛͘͞ for�a� �onta�ts fro� �arentsǡ 
carers, children and young people and professionals between 
͙ 
u�� ͚͙͘͜ an� ͛͘ 
une ͚͙͘͝Ǥ Most �eo��e �onta�t us on the 
phone, although some also write letters or emails or present 
�ire�t��Ǥ 

�eƪe�tin� the o�erǦre�resentation of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� 
young people in the Child Protection system, nearly 40 per cent 
of a�� �onta�ts re�ate� to A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ 
�f theseǡ a��ro�i�ate�� ͘͟ �er �ent re�ate� to �hi��ren or �oun� 
�eo��e in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ


i�en the hi�h nu��er of issues raise� �ith us that re�ate 
to outǦofǦho�e �are or �hi�� �rote�tionǡ �e ha�e an a�ree� 
�roto�o� for for�ar�in� these �on�erns to the �e�art�ent 
of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es an� see�in� their res�onseǤ �e 
a�so �ro�i�e a��itiona� assistan�e an� ��ose�� �onitor so�e 
situations to �or� to�ar� a so�ution fo�use� on the safet� 
an� �e���ein� of the �hi�� or �oun� �ersonǤ �his �oo�eration 
�et�een the �o��ission an� the �e�art�ent �i�es us a �etter 
understanding of issues as they arise and allows us to conduct 
ti�e�� re�ie�s �here ne�essar�Ǥ

�e �onitor an� ana��se �oth the infor�ation arisin� fro� these 
�onta�ts an� the res�onses fro� the �e�art�ent to infor� our 
�roa�er s�ste�i� a��i�e an� a��o�a�� �or�Ǥ 

The Commission for Children and Young People Act does not 
include explicit functions or powers for the Commission in 
relation to facilitating the resolution of complaints concerning 
the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es or other 
�o�ern�ent �o�iesǤ �e �o not ha�e �e�is�ati�e authorit�ǡ nor 
are �e fun�e� as a for�a� �o���aints reso�ution �o��Ǥ �o�e�erǡ 
as �art of our �o��it�ent to �ontinuous i��ro�e�entǡ �e are 
re�ie�in� ho� �e �urrent�� res�on� to �eo��e �ho �onta�t us 
for a��i�eǡ infor�ation or su��ortǡ an� ho� �e �an i��ro�e our 
a��o�a�� for �u�nera��e �oun� �eo��e �ho �onta�t usǤ
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In establishing the Commission, the 
government articulated a strong vision that 
the Commission would, with an independent 
voice and a focus on the best interest 
of children and young people, promote 
continuous improvement and innovation 
in the delivery of government and non-
government services to children and young 
people, with a particular focus on services to 
those who are most vulnerable. 

This broad mandate allows us to examine policy and legislation 
an� �onitor the �ro�ision of s�e�iƤ� ser�i�es an� their 
interaction with one another and with the broader community, 
to promote the safety and wellbeing of children and young 
�eo��eǤ �o en�oura�e �ositi�e �han�eǡ �e share �hat �e �earn 
throu�h these a�ti�ities an� en�a�e �ith other or�anisations 
that are �oo�in� for inno�ati�e ans�ers to �o���e� �ha��en�esǤ 
�e referen�e hu�an ri�hts fra�e�or�s that �ro�i�e a 
stron� foun�ation for e�a�uatin� �a�sǡ ser�i�es an� �o�i�ies 
an� i�entif�in� o��ortunities for inno�ation an� �ontinuous 
i��ro�e�entǤ

Victorian Royal Commission  
into Family Violence
 I welcome the State Government’s Royal Commission into 

Family Violence, as this is a major driver for the reporting 
of babies and children to Child Protection. But we are still 
challenged	to	find	the	best	responses	and	solution.	Far	too	
often for Koorie children, we are seeing their subsequent 
removal from their families. 

 Andrew Jackomos,  
Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People, 

anuar� ͚͙͘͝

�e �ro�i�e� a �ritten su��ission to the in�uir� an� the 
Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People was 
as�e� to �ro�i�e a �itness state�ent an� �resent to the �o�a� 
�o��ission as �art of its for�a� �u��i� hearin�s s�e�iƤ�a��� 
�onsi�erin� �hi��ren an� the i��a�t of fa�i�� �io�en�e for 
A�ori�ina� �eo��eǤ

�ur �ritten su��ission e��hasise� the �rofoun� i��a�t of 
fa�i�� �io�en�e on �hi��renǤ �ra�in� on �oth resear�h an� 
the �no��e��e �aine� throu�h in�uiriesǡ �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ an� 
other �ro�e�ts �e ha�e un�erta�enǡ �e note� the i��a�ts of 
fa�i�� �io�en�e o�er the �ife of a �hi�� an� �a�e a nu��er of 
re�o��en�ations to i��ro�e the �e�a� an� ser�i�e s�ste�sǤ 

Promoting continuous  
improvement and  
innovation  

24



CCYP ANNUAL REPORT 2014-2015

�hi��ren �ho �itness fa�i�� �io�en�e are �i�ti�s of fa�i�� 
�io�en�eǤ �i�in� �ith fa�i�� �io�en�e �auses har� to �hi��renǯs 
�e�e�o��ent an� their e�otiona�ǡ �s��ho�o�i�a� an� �h�si�a� 
�e���ein�Ǥ �o�en e��erien�in� fa�i�� �io�en�eǡ �oth �rior to 
an� �urin� �re�nan��ǡ are at ris� of �u�ti��e �oor �aterna� 
an� infant hea�th out�o�esǤ �e i�entiƤe� o��ortunities to 
i��ro�e the ser�i�e s�ste�ǡ �arti�u�ar�� the �a�a�it� of hea�th 
�ra�titioners �or�in� �ith �re�nant �o�en to i�entif� an� 
res�on� to �o�en e��erien�in� fa�i�� �io�en�eǤ 

�he trau�a �ause� �� fa�i�� �io�en�e �an �a�a�e a �hi��ǯs �rain 
�e�e�o��ent an� re�u�e their �a�a�it� to se�fǦre�u�ateǡ �ea�in� 
the �hi�� in an e�e�ate� arousa� state or shut �o�nǤ �hi��ren 
�earn a�a�ti�e res�onses to trau�a thatǡ o�er ti�eǡ �an �e�o�e 
reinfor�e� �atterns of �eha�iourǡ in��u�in� s�e�iƤ� i��a�ts on 
arousa�ǡ attentionǡ �e�or�ǡ i�entit� an� re�ationshi�sǤ

�e e��hasise� the �en�ere� nature of fa�i�� �io�en�e in our 
so�iet� an� that fa�i�� �io�en�e is a stron� �ri�er for fa�i�ies 
�o�in� to the attention of �hi�� �rote�tionǤ 

�e ar�ue� that res�onses to fa�i�� �io�en�e �ust �e tai�ore� 
to meet the needs of all members of our community, including 
fa�i�ies �here �arents or �hi��ren ha�e a �isa�i�it�ǡ fa�i�ies �ho 
�i�e in rura� an� re�ote �o��unities an� fa�i�ies fro� �u�tura��� 
an� �in�uisti�a��� �i�erse �a���roun�sǤ  

The Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People 
prepared a witness statement for his attendance at the Royal 
�o��ission ear�� in 
u�� ͚͙͘͝Ǥ �he �o��issioner reiterate� that 
the A�ori�ina� �o��unit� a��e�ts a �roa�er �eƤnition of fa�i�� 
�io�en�eǣ

 encompassing a wide range of physical, emotional, sexual, 
social, spiritual, cultural, psychological and economic 
abuses that may be perpetrated within families, intimate 
relationships, extended families, kinship networks and 
communities.

�e �onƤr�e� thatǡ throu�h his �or� on �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ǡ he 
has seen that �a�eǦ�er�etrate� �io�en�e a�ainst �o�en an� 
�hi��ren has �een the hi�hest �ri�er of u� to ͘͡ �er �ent of 
Aboriginal children into out-of-home care, often coexisting with 
a��oho� an� �ru� �isuseǤ 

�he �o��issioner �a��e� for �ro�ra�s to �e �ro�i�e� to 
Aboriginal children in care about respectful relationships and 
for the state to ensure there are opportunities for Aboriginal 
children to be immersed in their culture with other Aboriginal 
�hi��ren an� stron� A�ori�ina� ro�e �o�e�sǤ �ren�s seen in 
�as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ reaƥr� the Ƥn�in�s of the Aboriginal Deaths 
in Custody and Bringing them home re�ortsǤ �hese e��hasise� 
that fa�i�ies ha�e �een re�o�e�ǡ �eneration after �enerationǡ 
throu�h the �to�en 
enerations an� �hi�� �rote�tionǤ �here 
is profound intergenerational trauma and harm that must be 
hea�e�Ǥ �esour�es �ust �e in�e�te� into hea�in� an� re�ui��in� 
fa�i�ies an� �o��unities to �re�ent the in�reasin� nu��ers of 
A�ori�ina� �hi��ren �ein� ��a�e� in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ

�n his o�enin� re�ar�s to the �o�a� �o��issionǡ the 
Commissioner noted:

 I am not in favour of initiatives that promote a renaissance 
of young warriors and male alter egos. However I am in 
favour of growing young and respectful men who are 
good boyfriends, good partners, good fathers and good 
grandfathers.
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Australian Senate Standing 
Committee on Community Affairs’ 
inquiry into out-of-home care
�n 
u�� ͚͙͘͜ǡ the �enate referre� an in�uir� on outǦofǦho�e �are 
to the �o��unit� Affairs �eferen�es �o��itteeǤ �e �ro�i�e� 
a �etai�e� �ritten su��ission to the in�uir� as �e�� as �ro�i�in� 
e�i�en�e at its hearin� in Me��ourne in Mar�h ͚͙͘͝Ǥ At the 
inquiry, the Principal Commissioner noted:

 We witness all too often the state not acting as a good 
parent and it concerns me greatly when acting in loco 
parentis that the state, which is able to draw on its extensive 
capacity and resources to ensure all children and young 
people thrive in its care at times, fails to do so and as a result 
the outcomes for children and young people in out-of-home-
care are not in line with what we the community would 
expect for our own children.

�hi�e the �ro�ision of outǦofǦho�e �are ser�i�es is �ri�ari�� a 
state responsibility, the Commonwealth can and should exert 
its inƪuen�e to ensure the �est interests of �hi��ren an� �oun� 
�eo��e in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �t �an �o this ��ǣ

■■ ensuring the principles and promises of the National 
Standards for Out-of-Home Care are addressed, measured 
and met

■■ i��ro�in� su��ort to �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �are an� 
those who care for them, in those areas for which the 
�o��on�ea�th �o�ern�ent has �ore �ire�t o�ersi�ht 
and fiscal responsibility, including income support, health 
�enefits an� �o� su��ortǤ

Royal Commission into 
Institutional Responses  
to Child Sexual Abuse 
�earin�s into the �o�a� �o��ission into �nstitutiona� �es�onses 
to �hi�� �e�ua� A�useǯs �ase �tu�� ͚͜ǣ �utǦofǦ�o�e �are �e�an 
in ear�� ͚͙͘͝Ǥ �he �u��i� hearin�s ai�e� to in�uire into the 
incidence of child sexual abuse in contemporary out-of-home 
care settings and the processes for recruiting carers, monitoring 
ser�i�es an� res�on�in� to a��e�ationsǤ

�ui��in� on the �ritten su��ission �e ha� �ro�i�e� �re�ious��ǡ 
�e �o��ate� infor�ation an� e�i�en�e to su��ort our atten�an�e 
at the hearin�s in ear�� 
u�� ͚͙͘͝Ǥ 

In response to a request from the Royal Commission to the 
Australian Children’s Commissioners and Guardians, we 
�ro�i�e� a �ritten su��ission a�out a nationa� a��roa�h to 
�or�in� �ith �hi��ren �he��sǤ �e out�ine� the �e� �rin�i��es 
that should underpin such an approach and what we see as the 
�e� �ha��en�es to thisǤ �ur su��ission a��resse� a ran�e of 
issues in��u�in� the �eneƤts of nationa��� �onsistent stan�ar�sǡ 
infor�ation e��han�e �et�een �uris�i�tionsǡ �ho shou�� ha�e 
�an�ator� �or�in� �ith �hi��ren �he��s an� the t��es of 
clearances that could be included in a nationally consistent 
s�he�eǤ

�hi�e there are �ha��en�es to �reatin� a nationa��� �onsistent 
approach, the timely sharing of criminal history information 
�et�een �uris�i�tions �ust �ontinue to �e a hi�h �riorit� for a�� 
�uris�i�tionsǤ
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Inquiry into the Children,  
Youth and Families Amendment 
(Restrictions on the Making of 
Protection Orders) Bill 2015 
�he �o��issioners �resente� to the �e�a� an� �o�ia� �ssues 
�o��ittee on ͙͘ 
une ͚͙͘͝ǡ a��isin� that �e su��orte� the �i��Ǥ 
The Commissioners noted that the retention of the requirement 
that the �hi��renǯs �ourt �ust �e satisƤe� that Ǯa�� reasona��e 
ste�s ha�e �een ta�en �� the �e�retar� to �ro�i�e the ser�i�es 
necessary to enable the child to remain in the care of their 
�arentsǯ �as a fair an� reasona��e re�uire�entǤ 

The Principal Commissioner noted that:

	 Retaining	the	requirement	that	the	court	must	be	satisfied	
that all reasonable steps have been taken by the secretary 
to provide the services necessary to enable the child to 
remain in the care of their parents is a fair and reasonable 
requirement. I believe this requirement will improve 
transparency and accountability and better ensure that 
services	reasonably	required	are	offered	to	parents	and	that	
parents are encouraged and supported to access them. The 
amendment	will	enhance	public	confidence	in	the	system.

The Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People 
emphasised that:

 It is only by knowing a child’s Aboriginal identity that the 
Aboriginal child placement principle, fundamental in the 
Act, can be enacted. I want a check and balance to know 
that	absolutely	every	effort	and	every	avenue	has	been	
fully explored more than once for Aboriginal kin to place 
Aboriginal children with their kin and kinship carers and they 
are	generally	supported	to	fulfil	this	role.	I	want	to	be	assured	
that,	for	permanent	care	orders,	the	child	has	been	identified,	
been	kept	connected	with	their	kin	and	that	every	effort	has	
been made to support families with multiple and complex 
needs before a decision on permanent care rather than 
reunification	is	made.	I	want	to	know	that	the	family,	through	
Aboriginal family-led decision-making conferences, have been 
involved in an ongoing way, not just at a critical time.

Betrayal of Trust 
�he �i�torian �ar�ia�entar� �n�uir� into the �an��in� of �hi�� 
A�use �� �e�i�ious an� �ther �r�anisations �e�i�ere� its Ƥna� 
report, Betrayal of Trustǡ in �o�e��er ͚͙͛͘Ǥ �he Ƥna� re�ort 
in��u�es ͙͝ re�o��en�ations �o�erin� Ƥ�e �roa� areasǣ

■■ reforming criminal law

■■ a��essin� �i�i� �iti�ation

■■ �reatin� an in�e�en�entǡ a�ternati�e a�enue for �usti�e

■■ monitoring responses by organisations to criminal  
child abuse

■■ �re�entin� �ri�ina� �hi�� a�use in or�anisationsǤ

�he then �i�torian 
o�ern�ent ta��e� its res�onse on  
͠ Ma� ͚͙͘͜ �i�in� su��ort or inǦ�rin�i��e su��ort to a�� of the 
re�o��en�ationsǤ �he �urrent �o�ern�ent has �o��itte�  
to i���e�entin� a�� of the outstan�in� re�o��en�ationsǤ

Reforms to the criminal law include the creation of a new 
�roo�in� offen�eǡ a ne� fai�ure to �is��ose offen�e an� a ne� 
fai�ure to �rote�t offen�eǤ 

The Limitation of Actions Amendment (Child Abuse) Act 2015 
su�stantia��� enhan�es a��ess to �usti�e for �i�ti�s an� sur�i�ors 
of �hi�� a�use �� re�o�in� the �i�itation �erio� for a�� re�e�ant 
child abuse claims, regardless of the time or context of the 
a��e�e� a�useǤ 

The Education and Training Reform Amendment (Child Safe 
Schools) Act 2015 e��o�ers the Minister for ��u�ation to �a�e 
a �inisteria� or�er s�e�if�in� the a�tions that s�hoo�s �ust ta�e 
to �reate a �hi��Ǧsafe en�iron�entǤ �n his se�on� rea�in� s�ee�hǡ 
the �onǤ 
a�es Mer�inoǡ Minister for ��u�ationǡ a��ise� that the 
ne� �e�is�ation �i�� Ǯ�ut in ��a�e the ne�essar� arran�e�ents to 
ensure that re�istere� s�hoo�s �etter �ana�e the ris� of �hi�� 
a�useǡ in��u�in� res�on�in� to a��e�ations of �hi�� a�useǯǤ

It is expected that the new standards to apply in the education 
sector will closely align with the broader child safe standards 
�urrent�� �ein� �e�e�o�e� �� the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ 
�u�an �er�i�esǤ As �is�usse� �e�o�ǡ �e ha�e �een a�ti�e�� 
en�a�e� in e�tensi�e �onsu�tations a�out these stan�ar�sǤ

�hi�e si�niƤ�ant �ro�ress has �een �a�e in i���e�entin� 
the recommendations included in Betrayal of Trust, much 
sti�� re�ains to �e �oneǤ �ear�� t�o �ears ha�e e�a�se� sin�e 
the re�ort �as ta��e�Ǥ �t is no� ti�e to ensure the re�ainin� 
re�o��en�ations are i���e�ente� as a �atter of �riorit�Ǥ
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Child safe standards
The Betrayal of Trust report includes recommendations 
�esi�ne� to enhan�e the �a�a�it� of or�anisations to �re�ent 
an� res�on� effe�ti�e�� to �hi�� a�useǤ �or� to i���e�ent 
these recommendations began with consultations on the 
�e�e�o��ent of �hi�� safe stan�ar�sǤ 

	ro� Au�ust ͚͙͘͜ǡ the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǡ 
the �e�art�ent of ��u�ation an� �rainin� an� the �o��ission 
he�� e�tensi�e �onsu�tations �ith a �i�e ran�e of or�anisations 
and the broader community about the potential application 
an� �ontent of the stan�ar�sǤ �o�ether �e e���ore� four �roa� 
questions:

■■ �hat �ini�u� �hi�� safe stan�ar�s shou�� or�anisations 
be expected to meet?

■■ �hi�h or�anisations shou�� �e re�uire� to �o���� �ith the 
standards?

■■ �o� shou�� �o���ian�e �e �onitore�ǫ

■■ �o� �an or�anisations �e su��orte� to �eet the stan�ar�sǫ

�e i�entiƤe� these �e� featuresǣ

■■ A �i�e ran�e of or�anisationsǡ in��u�in� hea�th ser�i�esǡ 
shou�� �e �an�ate� to i���e�ent �hi�� safe stan�ar�sǤ

■■ �here shou�� �e an o�erar�hin� stan�ar� re�e�ant to the 
�reation of a �u�ture of �hi�� safet�Ǥ

■■ �here shou�� �e a s�e�ifi� stan�ar� re�e�ant to the safet� 
of Aboriginal children and young people, underpinned by 
a fo�us on �u�tura� safet�Ǥ �his nee�s to �e �o���e�ente� 
by embedding the cultural safety of Aboriginal children and 
�oun� �eo��e into the a���i�ation of ea�h stan�ar�Ǥ 

■■ �here shou�� �e a s�e�ifi� stan�ar� re�e�ant to the �u�tura� 
safety of children and young people from culturally and 
�in�uisti�a��� �i�erse �rou�sǤ �his shou�� a�so �e e��e��e� 
in the a���i�ation of stan�ar�sǤ

■■ �esour�es an� su��orts shou�� �e �ro�i�e� to �ui�� 
�a�a�it� �ithin or�anisations �o�ere� �� the stan�ar�sǤ

■■ The assessment of compliance with standards should 
in��u�e �ra�ti�e o�ser�ationǡ �o�i�� re�ie�s an� �is�ussions 
�ith �ra�titioners an� �ea�ersǤ

Following the conclusion of the consultation process, the 
�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es has res�onsi�i�it� 
for �ro�ressin� the ne�t ste�s to�ar�s �e�e�o��ent an� 
i���e�entation of the stan�ar�sǤ

Policy and law reform 
submissions
�e �ontri�ute� to �o�i�� an� �a� refor� throu�h the 
�re�aration of a ran�e of su��issionsǤ

Education and Training Reform Amendment Act 
The Education and Training Reform Amendment Act responds 
to the Betrayal of Trust report and establishes mechanisms to 
�reate safer s�hoo� en�iron�ents for �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ 
�e stron��� su��ort the o��e�ti�es of the A�t �ut �e ha�e 
e��resse� our �on�erns a�out the �a� in �hi�h it �eƤnes �hi�� 
a�useǤ �e �e�ie�e this �eƤnition shou�� �e re�ise�ǡ in �arti�u�ar 
to �a�e e���i�it that Ǯ�h�si�a� �io�en�eǯ �ire�te� a�ainst a �hi�� 
at s�hoo� �an ne�er �e �onsi�ere� Ǯreasona��e �is�i��ineǯǤ �e 
�oo� for�ar� to the o��ortunit� to �e in��u�e� in �onsu�tations 
on the Ministeria� �r�er to �e �e�e�o�e� un�er this ne� A�tǤ 

Family Law Council terms of reference 
�he 	a�i�� �a� �oun�i� sou�ht su��issions on the �o���e� 
issues that can arise when the family law and child protection 
s�ste�s o�er�a�Ǥ �n our res�onseǡ �e hi�h�i�hte� the nee� 
for a��essi��e an� affor�a��e �e�a� �ro�essesǡ �o��rehensi�e 
s�reenin� an� assess�ent re�ar�in� fa�i�� �io�en�eǡ enhan�e� 
capacity to share information, access to independent children’s 
�a��ers �hene�er re�uire� an� ensurin� a �u�tura��� in��usi�e 
approach is in place for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
�hi��ren an� their fa�i�iesǤ

Charter of Human Rights and  
Responsibilities review
�his ei�htǦ�ear re�ie� of the �harter sou�ht to i�entif� �a�s to 
i��ro�e the effe�ti�eness of the �harter an� its o�erationǤ �e 
su��itte� that the i��a�t of the �harter �ou�� �e i��ro�e� 
by an enhanced community culture of human rights where 
�o�ern�ent is a��ounta��eǤ Attention �ust �e �ai� to �a�in� 
the �harter re�e�antǡ a��essi��e an� un�erstoo�Ǥ 

�hi��ren in our �o��unit� re�uire s�e�iƤ� an� s�e�ia� 
�rote�tionǤ �o a�hie�e this o��e�ti�eǡ the ri�hts �es�ri�e� in the 
�nite� �ations �on�ention of the �i�hts of the �hi�� shou�� �e 
�onsi�ere� for in��usion into the �i�torian �harterǤ 

�n re�o�nition of �i�toriaǯs 	irst �eo��e �isa��anta�e an� the 
o�erǦre�resentation in statutor� �hi�� �rote�tion an� Youth 

usti�e s�ste�sǡ the �nite� �ations �e��aration on the �i�hts of 
�n�i�enous �eo��es shou�� a�so �e in��u�e� in the �harterǤ 

Promoting continuous improvement and innovation (continued)
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Productivity Commission inquiry into  
childcare and early childhood learning
�e �ro�i�e� a �ritten su��ission that e��hasise� the 
i��ortan�e of �ua�it� ear�� �hi��hoo� �ro�ra�s for �u�nera��e 
�hi��ren an� their fa�i�iesǤ �he uni�ersa� ear�� �hi��hoo� 
e�u�ation an� �are se�tor is �ita� to the �e���ein� of �u�nera��e 
�hi��ren an� their fa�i�iesǤ �er�i�e �ro�ision an� �ua�it� a�ross 
this �er� �ar�e se�tor is �aria��e an� in�onsistentǤ �t is therefore 
�riti�a� to �aintain an� stren�then the �ationa� �ua�it� 
	ra�e�or�Ǥ 

Australian Senate Standing Committee  
on Environment and Communications
�e �ro�i�e� a �ritten su��ission to the �o��ittee a�out 
the �nhan�in� �n�ine �afet� for �hi��ren �i�� ͚͙͘͜ǡ su��ortin� 
the �o��on�ea�th 
o�ern�entǯs �o��it�ent to enhan�e 
the safety and wellbeing of children and young people in their 
on�ine intera�tionsǤ �e ar�ue� the �i�� �ou�� �e stren�thene� 
by including additional functions for the e-Safety Commissioner, 
reƤne�ents to the �eƤnition of �arent or �uar�ian an� the 
in��usion of an e���i�it �ro�ision a�out the nee� to �onsu�t �ith 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ

Children, Youth and Families Amendment Act 
The Children, Youth and Families Amendment (Permanent Care 
and Other Matters) Act 2014, introduced in parliament in August 
͚͙͘͜ �� the then Minister for �o��unit� �er�i�esǡ �ro�i�es 
the �e�is�ati�e fra�e�or� for fun�a�enta� �han�es to the �hi�� 
�rote�tion s�ste�Ǥ 
i�en the si�niƤ�an�e of the �han�es an� 
the complexity of the amendments, it is disappointing that a 
formal community consultation process on the draft legislation 
�i� not o��urǤ �he �ro�isions of the A�t �i�� �o�e into effe�t no 
�ater than Mar�h ͚͙͘͞Ǥ

�e su��ort the a�en��entsǡ �hi�h �ro�i�e for an e��ansion of 
�u�tura� su��ort ��ans �ein� �e�e�o�e� for a�� A�ori�ina� �hi��ren 
an� �oun� �eo��e in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �his e��an�s the �ohort 
that is �urrent�� un�er this �ro�isionǡ �hi�h is �i�ite� to those 
�hi��ren un�er the �uar�ianshi� of the �e�retar�Ǥ A�on� �ith this 
ne� �ro�isionǡ the a�en��ents a�so �ro�i�e that a�� as�e�ts 
of a case plan for an Aboriginal child must consider the child’s 
�u�ture as a foun�ation to a��roa�hes an� �e�isionsǤ 

�o turn this �e�is�ati�e rhetori� into �eanin�fu� refor� �i�� 
re�uire si�niƤ�ant �han�e in �ra�ti�e an� resour�in�Ǥ �ur 
e��erien�e has �een that e�en �hen �u�tura� ��ans are 
�o���ete�ǡ the� are often ina�e�uateǤ �o �e effe�ti�eǡ the ��ans 
�ust ensure that A�ori�ina� �hi��ren ha�e �u�tura� e��erien�es 
as �e�� as o��ortunities to �e�e�o� an� �aintain re�ationshi�s 
�ith �inǡ �o��unit� an� other A�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ 

�he �e�art�ent has initiate� a �ro�e�t to �onsi�er the ne� 
a��roa�h an� in�ite� us to �e re�resente� on this �ro�e�t 
a��isor� �rou�Ǥ 	or effe�ti�e �u�tura� ��annin� to o��urǡ 
A�ori�ina� �eo��e �ust �e en�a�e� at e�er� �hase of �hi�� 
�rote�tion inter�ention fro� assess�ent an� inta�e to 
reuniƤ�ation or �er�anent �areǤ �here is a si�niƤ�ant shift 
in policy and practice required to get this right for Aboriginal 
�hi��renǤ

�as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ has raise� so�e re� ƪa�s in re�ation to 
permanency planning that must be managed before the 
i���e�entation of the ne� ti�e�inesǤ ��er� effort �ust �e 
�a�e for reuniƤ�ationǤ �here shou�� �eǣ

■■ documented support programs for parents 

■■ ti�e�� a��o�ation of �ases an� effe�ti�e �ase �ana�e�entǡ 
as the �as�for�e has i�entifie� a si�nifi�ant nu��er of 
�hi��ren not �ein� effe�ti�e�� �ase �ana�e�

■■ i��ro�e� �ra�ti�e to ena��e the i�entifi�ation of A�ori�ina� 
children, including a requirement that questions designed 
to �eter�ine if a �hi�� is A�ori�ina� �e as�e� on �ore than 
one occasion 

■■ compliance with the Aboriginal Child Placement Principle, 
which states that if a child cannot be placed with Aboriginal 
�in the� �ust �e �e�� �onne�te� to �inǡ �o��unit� an� 
�ountr�Ǥ 
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Supporting young children’s 
rights: Statement of Intent 
(2015–2018)
�he �ationa� �hi��renǯs �o��issionerǡ Me�an Mit�he��ǡ an� the 
�hief e�e�uti�e oƥ�er of �ar�� �hi��hoo� Austra�iaǡ �a�antha 
�a�eǡ �aun�he� the �tate�ent of �ntent in Mar�h ͚͙͘͝Ǥ

�e �arti�i�ate� on the �ationa� A��isor� �o��itteeǡ 
esta��ishe� �� �ar�� �hi��hoo� Austra�ia in �on�un�tion �ith the 
Austra�ian �u�an �i�hts �o��issionǡ �hi�h un�ertoo� this 
�or�Ǥ

A�thou�h Austra�ia ratiƤe� the �nite� �ations �on�ention 
on the �i�hts of the �hi�� in ͙͘͡͡ǡ the �on�ention is not 
in�or�orate� as a �ho�e into Austra�ian nationa� an� state �a�sǤ 
�ts �rin�i��esǡ ho�e�erǡ infor� an� �ui�e �o��onents of �arious 
�e�is�ationǡ �o�i��ǡ ser�i�e �ro�ision an� �ra�ti�eǤ As a nationa� 
�e�is�ati�e fra�e�or� an� �o�i�� �o�u�entǡ the Education 
and Care National Law Act 2010 an� the �ar�� Years �earnin� 
	ra�e�or� ȋ͚͘͘͡Ȍ e���i�it�� in�or�orate the �on�ention an� 
hi�h�i�ht the �entra� ro�e of �hi��renǯs ri�hts in the �ro�ision of 
�ua�it� tea�hin�ǡ �earnin� an� �ainstrea� ser�i�e �e�i�er�Ǥ

�he �tate�ent of intent �ro�i�es hi�hǦ�e�e� �rin�i��es an� areas 
for �o��e�ti�e �or�ǡ a��o�a�� an� a�tion �� �ar�� �hi��hoo� 
Austra�iaǡ its �e��ers an� the �ationa� �hi��renǯs �o��issioner 
in relation to the rights of young children from birth to primary 
s�hoo� a�eǡ o�er the ne�t three �earsǤ 

Advocating for reform to the 
youth justice system
�e ha�e in�rease� our fo�us on �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �ho 
are �urrent��ǡ or at ris� of �e�o�in�ǡ in�o��e� in the �outh �usti�e 
s�ste�Ǥ �hrou�h our in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra�sǡ in�uiries 
an� �onsu�tations �ith a ran�e of �e� sta�eho��ersǡ �e ha�e 
i�entiƤe� �ee��� �on�ernin� �ra�ti�esǤ �e ha�e a��o�ate� 
for a ran�e of �han�es to �a�sǡ �o�i�ies an� �ra�ti�es an� ha�e 
hi�h�i�hte� the o�erǦre�resentation an� �arti�u�ar �u�nera�i�it� 
of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ 

�o a��o� us to �etter un�erstan� an� a��ise on the e��erien�es 
of �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in the �outh �usti�e 
s�ste�ǡ �e ha�e as�e� the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�es to �ro�i�e us �ith �ate�or� �ne ��ient in�i�ent 
reports relating to children and young people detained in youth 
�usti�e �entres an� �outh resi�entia� �entresǤ �e are a�aitin� 
a res�onse fro� the �e�art�entǤ �n �a�in� the re�uestǡ �e 
note� that the �e�art�ent �urrent�� �ro�i�es us �ith �ate�or� 
�ne re�orts in re�ation to �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in outǦofǦ
ho�e �areǤ �ur ana��sis of the infor�ation in these re�orts is 
�es�ri�e� in �ore �etai� �ater in this re�ortǤ

�n a��o�atin� for refor� to the �ri�ina� �usti�e s�ste�ǡ �e 
reference the rights articulated in the Victorian Charter of 
�u�an �i�hts an� �es�onsi�i�itiesǡ in��u�in�ǣ 

Rights in criminal proceedings 
A �hi�� �har�e� �ith a �ri�ina� offen�e has the ri�ht to 
a �ro�e�ure that ta�es a��ount of his or her a�e an� the 
�esira�i�it� of �ro�otin� the �hi��ǯs reha�i�itationǤ ȋsǤ ͚͝ȋ͛ȌȌ

Children in the criminal process 
͙Ǥ An accused child who is detained or a child  

detained without charge must be segregated from  
a�� �etaine� a�u�tsǤ

͚Ǥ An a��use� �hi�� �ust �e �rou�ht to tria� as �ui����  
as �ossi��eǤ

͛Ǥ A �hi�� �ho has �een �on�i�te� of an offen�e �ust  
�e treate� in a �a� that is a��ro�riate for his or her a�eǤ 
ȋsǤ ͚͛Ȍ

�n a��ition to these ri�htsǡ �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e ha�e 
the same rights as all people under the Charter to be treated 
�ith hu�anit� an� �i�nit� ȋsǤ ͚͚ȋ͙ȌȌ an� to �e �rote�te� fro� 
torture an� �rue�ǡ inhu�an or �e�ra�in� treat�ent ȋsǤ ͙͘ȌǤ 

Promoting continuous improvement and innovation (continued)
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Aboriginal youth justice
�e are �er� �on�erne� a�out �oth the o�erǦre�resentation 
an� �oun�er a�e �roƤ�e of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren in the �outh 
�usti�e s�ste�Ǥ �he �o��issioner for A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� 
Young People fears that the experience of those incarcerated 
�hi��ren is �uniti�e rather than reha�i�itatin�ǡ an� that it further 
�is�onne�ts �hi��ren fro� their �u�ture an� �o��unit�Ǥ

Intergenerational trauma and poverty
�n�ar�eration is �ar�e�� a �onse�uen�e of �o�ert� an� 
�isa��anta�eǡ a�on� �ith the ����i�a� nature of �io�en�eǡ a�use 
an� trau�aǤ 

�u�u�ati�e har� for A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e is 
built upon a foundation of historical dispossession, separation 
of �hi��ren fro� fa�i�ies an� �is�onne�tion fro� �u�tureǤ �he 
passage of trauma from generation to generation and the 
�e�astatin� i��a�t this �an ha�e on our A�ori�ina� �o��unities 
has �een �e�� �o�u�ente�Ǥ 

Over-representation
More than two decades ago the Royal Commission into 
A�ori�ina� �eaths in �usto�� re�ease� ͛͛͡ re�o��en�ationsǡ 
�an� of �hi�h s�e�iƤ�a��� re�ate� to A�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ As is 
�e�� �no�nǡ the �o�a� �o��ission foun� that the reason for 
the hi�h nu��er of �eaths in �usto�� �as the �rasti� o�erǦ
re�resentation of A�ori�ina� �eo��e in Austra�iaǯs �rison s�ste�Ǥ 

�he rate of o�erǦre�resentation of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren in 
detention in Victoria is substantially lower than the national rate 
ȋ͙͛ ti�es �o��are� �ith ͚͜ ti�esȌ an� this rate has �e��ine� 
stea�i�� fro� ͚͘͘͡ to ͚͙͘͜Ǥ �he nu��er of �hi��ren �o��e� u� 
in the stateǯs �outh �usti�e �usto�ia� �re�in�ts on an� �i�en �a� 
is s�a��Ǥ �utǡ as it shou�� �eǡ our so�iet� is �u��e� �� ho� �e�� it 
�rote�ts an� �i�es a �oi�e to those �ho are �ost �u�nera��e an� 
in nee� of �areǤ 

�e �o��en� the �oo� �or� of those �ho are �o��itte� 
to i��ro�in� the e��erien�es of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren �ho are 
in�ar�erate�Ǥ �n �arti�u�arǡ �e �e�e�rate the A�ori�ina� �u�tura� 
�ro�ra�s i���e�ente� at the �outh �usti�e �usto�ia� �re�in�ts 
o�er the �ast �ear an� the tire�ess �or� of the A�ori�ina� �u�tura� 
su��ort �or�ers an� in�e�en�ent �isitorsǤ 

�es�ite this �oo� �or�ǡ A�ori�ina� �hi��ren are sti�� �ross�� o�erǦ
re�resente� in �oth �outh �etention an� �outh su�er�isionǤ �he 
Youth 
usti�e 	a�t �heets �u��ishe� �� the Austra�ian �nstitute of 
�ea�th an� �e�fare in ͚͙͘͝ re�orte� that in �i�toria in ͚͙͛͘Ȃ͙͜ǣ

■■ although only two per cent of the state’s population of 10 to 
17 year olds are Aboriginal, 16 per cent of the young people 
un�er Youth 
usti�e su�er�ision �ere A�ori�ina�

■■ A�ori�ina� �oun� �eo��e �ere ͙͚ ti�es �ore �i�e�� as 
non-Aboriginal young people to be in community-based 
su�er�ision an� ͙͛ ti�es �ore �i�e�� to �e in �etentionǤ

�ur in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra� �ro�i�es a uni�ue �in�o� 
into �urrent �outh �usti�e tren�sǤ �na�shot �ata on the �a�s of 
the in�e�en�ent �isits at �ar��i��e an� Ma��s�ur� Youth 
usti�e 
�usto�ia� �re�in�ts �urin� the Ƥrst �uarter of ͚͙͘͝ re�ea�e� 
that the proportion of Aboriginal children and young people at 
�oth �re�in�ts �as �onsistent�� ��ose to or a�o�e ͚͘ �er �entǤ At 
Ma��s�ur� in 	e�ruar� ͚͙͘͝ǡ this rea�he� a hi�h of ͚͝ �er �entǤ
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Minimum age of criminal 
responsibility
 Our minimum age for criminal responsibility is ten years of 

age, which is about four years below the international norm. 
It is a hangover from an earlier age and attracts surprise and 
criticism	from	many	other	countries.	I	find	it	incredible	that	
we still regard it as appropriate to place very young children 
on	trial	and	I	find	it	an	attitude	that	does	not	sit	well	with	
any claim to be a civilised western democracy. We should be 
embarrassed about the continuation of this practice.

 The Hon. Alastair Nicholson,  
�he �hir� �inston �Ǥ �i��ar�s Me�oria� �rationǡ  
Au�ust ͚͙͚͘

It surprises many people to learn that in Victoria today a child 
as �oun� as ͙͘ �an �e arreste� �� the �o�i�eǡ Ƥn�er�rinte� an� 
he�� in a �o��e� �e�� of a �a�ette� �o�i�e �ao�Ǥ Youn� �hi��ren �an 
�e su��e�t to �rose�ution in the �ost forei�n an� inti�i�atin� 
of en�iron�entsǡ ai�e� �� a �e�a� re�resentati�e that the� �a� 
ha�e ne�er �etǤ 	urther �o��oun�in� this trau�a for �hi��ren 
in outǦofǦho�e �areǡ their �hi�� �rote�tion �or�er �a� not 
ne�essari�� e�en a��o��an� the� to �ro�i�e �ui�an�e an� 
assistance, nor be able to assure the magistrate that suitable 
a��o��o�ation is a�ai�a��e for the �hi�� if he or she is not �i�en 
a �usto�ia� senten�eǤ 

The Committee on the Rights of the Child General Comment 
�o ͙͘ ȋ͚͘͘͟Ȍ state� Ǯit �an �e �on��u�e� that a �ini�u� a�e of 
�ri�ina� res�onsi�i�it� �e�o� the a�e of ͙͚ �ears is �onsi�ere� �� 
the �o��ittee not to �e internationa��� a��e�ta��eǯǤ Austra�ian 
states are encouraged to increase the minimum age of criminal 
res�onsi�i�it� to ͙͚ as Ǯthe a�so�ute �ini�u� an� to �ontinue to 
in�rease it to a hi�her a�e �e�e�ǯǤ

�here is si�niƤ�ant su��ort to raise this the �ini�u� a�e of 
�ri�ina� res�onsi�i�it� in �i�toriaǤ �he resear�h re�ortǡ �hin�in� 
�utsi�eǣ A�ternati�es to re�an� for �hi��renǡ �u��ishe� �� 
esuit 
�o�ia� �er�i�es in ͚͙͛͘ in��u�es a re�o��en�ation that �i�toriaǣ

 raise the age of criminal responsibility to 12 years of age, 
with intensive service responses for children younger than 12 
who engage in anti-social behaviour to be provided through 
the child welfare system.

�e su��ort this re�o��en�ationǤ 

A low minimum age for criminal responsibility has a particularly 
a��erse i��a�t on A�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ A�ori�ina� �hi��ren 
and young people are represented younger at all stages of the 
�i�torian �outh �usti�e s�ste� �o��are� to nonǦA�ori�ina� 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ �he �oun�er �hi��ren are �hen the� 
Ƥrst �o�e into �onta�t �ith Youth 
usti�eǡ the �ore �ui���� the� 
�o�e �a�� into �onta�tǤ 

�he Austra�ian �nstitute of �ea�th an� �e�fareǯs ͚͙͘͝ re�ortǡ 
Young people returning to sentenced youth justice supervision, 
note� that ͘͝ �er �ent of �oun� �eo��e a�e� �et�een ͙͘Ȃ͙͞ 
�ears �ho �ere re�ease� fro� senten�e� �etention in ͚͙͚͘Ȃ͙͛ 
returne� �ithin si� �onthsǡ an� ͟͞ �er �ent returne� �ithin ͙͚ 
�onthsǤ �r�ent a�tion is re�uire� to �i�ert �hi��ren fro� this 
Ƥrst �onta�tǤ

The Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People has 
raised the issue of the minimum age of criminal responsibility 
�ire�t�� �ith the �re�ious Minister for �o��unit� �er�i�es 
an� at the Youth 
usti�e Ministeria� �oun�ta��eǤ �e has �a��e� 
for action by Attorney-General, who was in attendance at 
the A�ori�ina� 
usti�e 	oru�Ǥ �he A�ori�ina� 
usti�e 	oru� 
is a �artnershi� �et�een the �i�torian 
o�ern�ent an� the 
A�ori�ina� �o��unit� ai�e� at a�hie�in� i��ro�e� �usti�e 
out�o�es for the A�ori�ina� �o��unit�Ǥ 
u��e �eter �ou�ensǡ 
then President of the Children’s Court, supported raising the 
�ini�u� a�e of �ri�ina� res�onsi�i�it� an� stron��� a��o�ate� 
for the need to reform the Bail Act 1977Ǥ �he Attorne�Ǧ
enera� 
has a��no��e��e� the issues re�ar�in� the a�e of �ri�ina� 
res�onsi�i�it�Ǥ

Promoting continuous improvement and innovation (continued)
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Trajectory from Child  
Protection to Youth Justice
There is a strong correlation between children cared for, or 
�no�n toǡ �hi�� �rote�tion an� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e 
�ho �e�o�e ��ients of Youth 
usti�eǤ �he Youth Parole Board 
and Youth Residential Board Victoria’s 2013–14 Annual Report 
reported that 41 per cent of all children and young people on 
senten�e an� re�an� in �i�toria ha� �re�ious �hi�� �rote�tion 
in�o��e�ent an� ͛͠ �er �ent of a�� those senten�e� to a �usto�ia� 
or�er �ere �urrent�� �ua� ��ients of Youth 
usti�e an� �hi�� 
�rote�tionǤ �n its ͚͙͚͘ re�ortǡ Children and young people at risk 
of social exclusion: links between homelessness, child protection 
and juvenile justiceǡ the Austra�ian �nstitute of �ea�th an� �e�fare 
�onƤr�e� that A�ori�ina� �oun� �eo��e un�er �u�eni�e �usti�e 
su�er�ision in �i�toria �ere �ore �i�e�� to ha�e one or �ore 
�hi�� �rote�tion notiƤ�ations than nonǦA�ori�ina� �oun� �eo��eǤ

�here nee�s to �e a �on�erte� effort �a�e to re�u�e the o�erǦ
�o�i�in� of �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �ur o�ser�ations of 
the resi�entia� �are s�ste� in�i�ate that �o�i�e in�o��e�ent in 
re�ati�e�� �inor in�i�ents �an �ea� to the ear�� esta��ish�ent 
of �o�i�e �roƤ�es an� an a��e�erate� �ath�a� into �ri�ina� 
�rose�ution an� in�ar�erationǤ

Better diversionary options 
�e ha�e a��o�ate� for

■■ �etter �i�ersionar� o�tions for �hi��renǡ in��u�in� �u�tura��� 
appropriate and community-run program options for 
Aboriginal children and young people

■■ the strengthening of trauma informed responses and 
support for children and young people who come into 
�onta�t �ith the �outh �usti�e s�ste�ǡ �arti�u�ar�� throu�h 
the resi�entia� �are s�ste�Ǥ

�i�toria �rasti�a��� �a��s �i�ersionar� o�tions for �hi��ren an� 
�oun� �eo��eǤ �t is �on�ernin� that the A�ori�ina� �o��unit� 
�ontro��e� �i�ersion �ro�ra�s that �o e�ist are not �etter 
resour�e� an� su��orte� �ith a �on�erǦter� �ers�e�ti�eǤ �his 
has a si�niƤ�ant i��a�t on A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ 
�he Minister for Youth Affairs an� Minister for 	a�i�ies an� 
�hi��renǡ the �onǤ 
enn� Mi�a�os M��ǡ �a�e a �o��it�ent 
to in�e�t ͆͛͘͘ǡ͘͘͘ a �ear o�er four �ears to fun� a �ro�ra� 
to �i�ert A�ori�ina� �hi��ren fro� Youth 
usti�e throu�h 
partnerships with mainstream organisations, but more is 
nee�e� to a��ress the un�er��in� �auses an� �i�ert the� fro� 
enterin� the s�ste� in the Ƥrst ��a�eǤ

�o�e �ases that ha�e �o�e to our attention in��u�e �hi��ren 
being required to appear before the Koori Court for the theft 
of ite�s �a�ue� at �ust ͆͞Ǥ �n one �aseǡ an A�ori�ina� �hi�� �as 
�efore the �ourt for stea�in� a ͆͛ �ho�o�ate �arǡ e�en thou�h it 
�as his Ƥrst offen�eǤ 

�e su��ort a��o�a�� throu�h our �e��ershi� of the �ationa� 

usti�e �oa�ition an� its Change the Record �a��ai�nǤ �e 
are a�so a �e��er of the ��art 
usti�e for Youn� �eo��e 
�oa�ition �e� �� Youth �a�ǡ �hi�h �e�an�s a �reater fo�us on 
initiati�es that �i�� �i�ert A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e 
fro� enterin� the �outh �usti�e s�ste� or fro� �an�erous�� 
�ro�ressin� further into itǤ 

�e �ere ��ease� to see the �o��en�e�ent of a �reǦ�ourt 
�i�ersion �i�ot �ro�ra� in the �hi��renǯs �ourt in 
une ͚͙͘͝ an� 
�e �i�� ta�e an a�ti�e interest in its �ro�ressǡ �ith �arti�u�ar 
interest in the a��essi�i�it� an� u�ta�e �� A�ori�ina� �hi��ren 
an� �oun� �eo��eǤ �e su��ort refor� to enshrine a state�i�e 
�i�ersionar� �ro�ra� in �e�is�ationǤ 
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High numbers of children  
and young people on remand
	ee��a�� fro� the in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra� has a�erte� 
us to a si�niƤ�ant in�rease in the nu��er of �oun� �eo��e 
on re�an� at the �ar��i��e Youth 
usti�e �re�in�tǤ �hese are 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �ho ha�e �een �har�e� �ith an 
offen�e an� are �aitin� for their �atter to �e hear� in �ourt  
or for senten�in�Ǥ

�e ha�e e��resse� our �on�erns to �o�ern�ent an� other 
sta�eho��ers a�out the hi�h nu��er of �oun� �eo��e �ein� 
re�an�e�Ǥ �e are �arti�u�ar�� �on�erne� a�out the o�erǦ
representation of Aboriginal children and young people in 
re�an�Ǥ �ata �resente� �� the �e�art�ent of 
usti�e Ƭ 
�e�u�ation at the A�ori�ina� 
usti�e 	oru� in ͚͙͘͝ sho�e� that 
the number of Aboriginal youth admitted to remand increased 
fro� ͙͚ in the se�on� �uarter of ͚͙͛͘Ȃ͙͜ to ͚͛ in the se�on� 
�uarter of ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝Ǥ

�ur other �on�erns in��u�eǣ

■■ the o�erǦre�resentation of �oun� �eo��e fro� resi�entia� 
care on remand

■■ the length of time spent in custody on remand

■■ the �a�� of a��ess to reha�i�itati�e �ro�ra�s 

■■ the impact of these high numbers on other areas of  
the �entreǤ 

The inconsistent use of police cautioning and lower rates of 
cautioning for Aboriginal children and young people is also 
�orr�in�Ǥ �e ha�e a��o�ate� for a rene�e� an� rein�i�orate� 
A�ori�ina� �autionin� �ro�ra�Ǥ 

Amendments to the Bail Act 
�e ha�e a��ise� �o�ern�ent of our �on�erns a�out the 
i��a�t of �han�es to the �ai� A�tǤ �f �arti�u�ar �on�ern is the 
increase in the number of young people being held on remand 
for �ontra�enin� �on�itions of their �ai�Ǥ �ata �resente� to the 
Ministeria� �oun�ta��e on Youth 
usti�e �� the �e�art�ent of 
�ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es sho�e� that the nu��er of �oun� 
�eo��e re�an�e� on �har�es in��u�in� �ontra�enin� �ai� 
in�rease� fro� ͙͜ in the se�on� �uarter of ͚͙͛͘Ȃ͙͜ to ͙͛͟  
in the se�on� �uarter of ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝Ǥ 

�e ha�e a��o�ate� forǣ

■■ a�en��ents to the A�t to �ro�i�e thatǡ for �hi��renǡ  
a breach of bail is not a criminal offence and to include 
child-specific criteria in the bail assessment hearing process

■■ i��ro�e� trainin� of �ai� �usti�es 

■■ more assistance for young people applying for bail so they 
�an �e re�ease� �ore �ui����ǡ if a��ro�riate

■■ au�io or �i�eo re�or�in� of outǦofǦsession �ai� hearin�s

■■ resour�es for a Youth 
usti�e intensi�e �ai� su�er�ision 
�ro�ra�Ǥ

�n a��itionǡ �e �e�ie�e that �ore resour�es shou�� �e �ire�te� 
to �ro�i�in� intensi�e �ai� su��ort to �oun� �eo��eǡ in��u�in� 
s�e�ia�ist su��ort for A�ori�ina� �oun� �eo��eǤ �i�niƤ�ant 
resour�es are re�uire� to enhan�e the intensi�e su��ort 
�ro�ra� �ithin Youth 
usti�eǤ �hese resour�es �ou�� �i�e �oun� 
�eo��e an a�ternati�e to re�an�ǡ as �e�� as intensi�e su��ort 
an� su�er�ision fro� s�e�ia�ist �outh �usti�e �or�ersǤ As �an� 
�oun� �eo��e �ein� re�an�e� �o not re�ei�e a senten�e of 
�etentionǡ re�an� shou�� on�� �e �onsi�ere� as a �ast resortǤ 

�e are �aitin� for a res�onse to a nu��er of �on�erns 
�e raise� at the Youth 
usti�e Ministeria� �oun�ta��eǤ �he 
Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People has 
a�so raise� �on�erns a�out the �ai� A�t at the A�ori�ina� 
usti�e 
	oru�Ǥ �he Attorne� 
enera�ǡ the �onǤ Martin �a�u�a M�ǡ has 
a��no��e��e� these �on�erns an� the nee� for the� to �e 
a��resse�Ǥ

Promoting continuous improvement and innovation (continued)
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Incarcerating children  
in police cells
�e a��o�ate� for the e�i�ination of the �ra�ti�e of in�ar�eratin� 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in �o�i�e �e��sǤ �he a�ar�in� issue of 
�etainin� �hi��ren in �o�i�e �o��u�s �as the su��e�t of se�era� 
recommendations by the Royal Commission into Aboriginal 
�eaths in �usto��Ǥ �ne re�o��en�ation �as that that a 
refusa� of �ai� �� a �o�i�e oƥ�er or a 
usti�e of the �ea�e shou�� 
i��e�iate�� �e referre� to a �a�istrate or other �ua�iƤe� 
�erson so that �ai� �an �e re�onsi�ere�Ǥ 

The incarceration of Aboriginal children in regional police  
�e��s an� the �a�� of a��ro�riate assess�ents �� suita��� 
�ua�iƤe� �e�i�a� �ra�titioners for �hi��ren �ith �enta� hea�th 
issues and histories of attempted suicide highlight the urgent 
nee� for refor�Ǥ

Use of restrictive practices 
�e are �on�erne� a�out �ra�ti�es su�h as routine stri� sear�hesǡ 
isolation, and the use of physical and mechanical restraints in 
the stateǯs Youth 
usti�e �usto�ia� �re�in�tsǤ �hese �ra�ti�es 
require greater scrutiny and urgent measures must be pursued 
to e�i�inate Ȃ or at �east �ini�ise Ȃ the use of these ar�hai� 
an� �ehu�anisin� �ra�ti�esǤ �e �i�� �e see�in� to in�rease our 
ro�e in �onitorin� the use of these �ra�ti�es in Youth 
usti�e 
�usto�ia� �re�in�ts an� se�ure �e�fare �entresǤ  

Metro Authorised Officers and 
Protective Services Officers
�ast �ear �e �es�ri�e� our �or� �ith Metro �rains Me��ourneǤ 
�e �arti�i�ate�ǡ in �on�un�tion �ith the Youth �u��ort ή 
A��o�a�� �er�i�eǡ in the �e�e�o��ent of a trainin� �ro�ra� 
for Metro Authorise� �ƥ�ers �ho intera�t �ith �hi��ren an� 
�oun� �eo��e �ho ha�e �ha��en�in� or hi�hǦris� �eha�ioursǤ 
�e un�erstan� this trainin� has no� �een in��u�e� in refresher 
trainin� an� trainin� for ne� staffǤ

�hi�e this is a �ositi�e �e�e�o��entǡ �e are �er� �on�erne� 
about a transport-related incident reported in the media 
in 	e�ruar� ͚͙͘͝Ǥ �he �hi��renǯs �ourt �rante� the �e�ia 
permission to publish CCTV footage that showed two teenage 
boys being repeatedly sprayed with capsicum foam by Victoria 
�o�i�e �rote�ti�e �er�i�es �ƥ�ersǤ �n the A��ǯs 7.30 program, 
the Principal Commissioner said:

 Anybody who’s watching this who has got 17-year-old, 
16-year-old children who are out on the streets for whatever 
purpose should be really concerned . . . I would’ve thought 
that capsicum spray is life or death. And in this video, 
obviously these children are a threat to nobody. In fact, they 
look to me as though they are acting in a fairly benign way.

�i�toria �o�i�e a��ise� that a re�ie� of the in�i�ent �ou�� �e 
un�erta�enǤ
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Media and website 
communication 
�e �ontinue to res�on� to re�uests fro� �o�a�ǡ state an� 
nationa� �e�ia for a��i�e an� �o��ent fro� the �o��issionersǤ 
�n a��itionǡ �e en�a�e �ith sta�eho��ers an� the �roa�er 
�o��unit� throu�h a ran�e of so�ia� �e�ia an� our �e�siteǤ

�n re�o�nition of the i��ortan�e of this �o��uni�ation a�ti�it� 
to our current functions, and to ensure we are well placed to 
meet any new demands arising from the promotion of child safe 
standards, this year we:

■■ created a dedicated staff position for media and 
communications

■■ identified a need to enhance our social media profile and 
implemented a range of strategies 

■■ �o��en�e� �e�e�o��ent of a ne� �e�site �esi�ne� to 
enhan�e our en�a�e�ent �ith sta�eho��ersǡ in �arti�u�ar 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ

�here has �een an in�rease of ͞͝ �er �ent in our o�era�� so�ia� 
�e�ia a�ti�it� an� �resen�e this �earǡ an� this annua� re�ort 
reƪe�ts our ne� �oo� an� �ran�Ǥ

Education campaign to  
improve responses to isolation 
and neglect 
�n the �re�ious �ear �e un�ertoo� an in�uir� a�out a �hroni�a��� 
ne��e�te� �hi�� �ho �ie� in a ho�e en�iron�ent of e�tre�e 
s�ua�orǤ �he in�uir� foun� that �hi��ren �an �e hi�h�� iso�ate� 
�ithin their fa�i�� an� �o��unit� an� �e �i�in� Ǯun�er the ra�arǯ 
in se�ere�� �e�ri�e� �ir�u�stan�esǤ �hen �arents �e�i�erate�� 
a�oi� ser�i�e in�o��e�ent �ith their �hi��ren it is �iƥ�u�t for 
professionals to identify and act on the existence of chronic 
ne��e�t an� e�tre�e �o�esti� s�ua�orǤ 

The inquiry made six recommendations, including:

■■ i��ro�in� the �ro�esses for �irth re�istration

■■ tra��in� ser�i�e en�a�e�ent throu�h a uni�ue i�entifier

■■ assistin� �o�a� �o�ern�ent en�iron�enta� staff to i�entif� 
�u�nera��e �hi��ren 

■■ the �e�i�er� of a �u��i� an� �rofessiona� a�areness 
�a��ai�n a�out ne��e�tǤ 

As part of implementing the recommendations, we established 
a �or�in� �rou� of sta�eho��ersǡ in��u�in� the �e�art�ent of 
�ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǡ to a��ise on an effe�ti�e �u��i� an� 
�rofessiona� e�u�ation �a��ai�nǤ  

Promoting continuous improvement and innovation (continued)

�ernie
ear�An�re�
a��o�os
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Publications 
�e ha�e a ran�e of free resour�es for �arentsǡ �arersǡ 
�rofessiona�s an� or�anisationsǤ �esour�es �an �e or�ere� 
fro� us or �o�n�oa�e� fro� our �e�siteǤ �urin� ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝ǡ �e 
re�ei�e� re�uests for ͚͟ �ifferent �u��i�ations an� �istri�ute� 
o�er ͙͞ǡ͘͘͘ �rinte� resour�esǤ �he �ast �a�orit� ȋ͡͝ �er �entȌ of 
re�uests �ere re�ei�e� fro� �eo��e an� ser�i�es �ithin �i�toriaǤ 
�i�h �e�an� �ontinuesǡ �arti�u�ar�� for resour�es on the 
impact of trauma and how school communities can best support 
children and young people who experience out-of-home care, 
infor�ation for �arents on �hoosin� �hi��Ǧsafe a�ti�ities an� 
�arers an� infor�ation for �inshi� �arersǤ 

�e are re�ie�in� our �u��i�ations to ensure the resour�es are 
�urrent an� �est �eet the nee�s of the �o��unit�Ǥ 

Figure 1: Resources distributed by the Commission

Presentations, articles,  
research partnerships and 
participation on committees 
�o �ro�ote the interests of �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� 
people and child-friendly and child-safe policies and practices, 
�e s�ea� to a �i�erse ran�e of �rou�s an� �re�are arti��es for 
a ran�e of �u��i�ations an� �ourna�sǤ A��en�i� ͙ �etai�s so�e 
of this �or� an� the e�tra�ts �e�o� i��ustrate so�e of the �e� 
the�es our �o��issioners e��hasiseǤ 

�hen ta��in� to A�ori�ina� 	a�i��Ǧ�e� �e�isionǦMa�in� staff 
fro� the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǯ �est 
�i�ision an� the A�ori�ina� ser�i�e se�torǡ the �o��issioner for 
Aboriginal Children and Young People said:

 The work that you do, the work of keeping our children 
connected to our families and our communities is so 
critical to ensuring we do not have a further generation 
disconnected, of a further community not lost.

 Our children must grow up with a sense of belonging, 
knowing who they are and how they relate to me, and you, 
and you. It is a fundamental cultural and survival instinct 
to keep our children in our blood, and in our clans as it has 
been for countless generations since time immemorial. It is a 
practice, a norm that has evolved I believe over thousands of 
generations. It is a right thing to do. It is a responsible thing 
to do. It is the only thing to do.

�n an arti��e a��earin� in the �i�torian �oun�i� of �o�ia� �er�i�e 
publication Insight entit�e� ǮA�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� Youn� 
�eo��eǤ �een an� hear� Ȃ safe an� �e��ǯǡ the �o��issioner for 
Aboriginal Children and Young People commented:

 I want Aboriginal children and young people to enjoy 
culturally rich and vibrant home environments; grow up in 
homes with parents and families who are healthy, happy 
and	confident	in	their	parenting	abilities,	as	well	as	strong	
in their culture; have every chance to succeed in school and 
be supported to become active, valued young adults who 
can take advantage of employment, further education or 
training opportunities; have equitable health outcomes and 
to have access to Aboriginal services.

Supporting children and young people who experience 
out-of-home care resources 
Calmer Classrooms, Caring Classrooms and From Isolation to 
Connection, Charter for Children in Out-of-home Care, Residential 
Care Matters, Great Expectations – Supporting children and young 
people in out-of-home care to achieve at school

Child-safe activities and carer resources 
Wise Choices Safe Children, Proper Care when You’re Not There, 
Information for Parents: Things to look at when selecting child-safe 
activities or services for your child

Kinship carer support resources 
Financial support for grandparents and other relative carers, 
Parenting for grandparents and other relative carers, Statutory
Declaration for informal relative carers

Other resources  
Child Death Group Analysis: Tackling SIDS (book and CD), 
�hi�� �eath 
rou� Ana��sisǣ �ffe�ti�e res�onses to �hroni� 
neglect (book and CD), Commission for Children and Young 
People Annual Report

37



�urin� the �i�th �inston �Ǥ �i��ar�s Me�oria� �rationǡ the 
Principal Commissioner said:

 A concerning theme arising at the Inquiry [Royal Commission 
into Institutional Responses to Child Sexual Abuse], picked 
up this week in the media describes professional parties, like 
caseworkers and others becoming so ‘proceduralised’, little 
attention is being given to frequently meeting with children 
and getting to really know how they are going and how they 
are developing.

��ea�in� at a s�hoo�ǡ the �rin�i�a� �o��issioner e���aine�ǣ

 ... probably the biggest and most silent gap in how we 
effectively	respond	and	help	to	give	these	children	a	more	
even	chance	at	having	happy	and	fulfilling	lives,	is	trying	to	
engage good, ordinary community members, like yourselves, 
to stand up and demand that these children and young 
people from such profound disadvantage get just that – the 
best	that	our	community	has	to	offer.	Good,	generous	and	
informed people like you need to unequivocally demand the 
best for these highly vulnerable children. 

A��ressin� the �ar�� �hi��hoo� Austra�ia �ationa� �oun�i�ǡ the 
�rin�i�a� �o��issioner s�o�e a�out the i��ortan�e of ear�� 
inter�entionǣ

 We know that vulnerable children and young people 
experience poorer learning and developmental outcomes 
from the early years, during schooling and in higher 
education	–	this	often	manifests	in	difficulties	in	multiple	
areas – poor health, educational disengagement or getting 
into	trouble	with	police.		This	has	a	flow-on	effect	to	life	
outcomes. Prevention, early intervention and access to 
effective	support	are	all	essential	to	improving	outcomes	 
for vulnerable children and young people.

Research partnerships
�e en�a�e in a nu��er of resear�h �artnershi�sǡ �hi�h in�o��e 
a for�a�ise� �o��a�orati�e re�ationshi� �ith one or �ore e�terna� 
a�en�ies to e���ore a s�e�iƤ� or a series of resear�h �uestionsǤ

A resear�h a��isor� �rou� �i�� �e esta��ishe� to �ui�e our 
thin�in� on future �artnershi� �rioritiesǡ �a�s an� strate�i� 
a�i�n�ent an� en�a�e�ent o��ortunitiesǤ Me��ershi� �i�� �e 
�ra�n fro� e�terna� resear�h e��ertsǤ 

A��en�i� ͙ in��u�es an o�er�ie� of so�e of the resear�h 
�artnershi�s �e ha�e �een in�o��e� inǤ

Participation on committees
As �e�� as oneǦoff ta��s an� �resentationsǡ �e en�a�e in on�oin� 
�ia�o�ue �ith �e� sta�eho��ers throu�h �ontri�utions to a �i�e 
range of committees and reference groups, including those 
�iste� in A��en�i� ͙Ǥ �his on�oin� �ia�o�ue is one �a� that 
�e fu�Ƥ� our fun�tion to �ro�i�e a��i�e to �o�ern�ent on the 
safety and wellbeing of children and young people, as well as 
�onitorin� an� re�ortin� on the effe�ti�eness of strate�iesǤ 

Reviewing the administration of 
the Working with Children Check 
�he �or�in� �ith �hi��ren �he�� is a��inistere� �� the 
�e�art�ent of 
usti�e Ƭ �e�u�ationǤ �he �he�� he��s to �rote�t 
children from physical and sexual harm by screening criminal 
histor� re�or�s an� �rofessiona� �on�u�t an� �re�entin� �eo��e 
�ho �ose an un�ustiƤa��e ris� to �hi��ren fro� �or�in� �ith or 
�arin� for the�Ǥ

�he �or�in� �ith �hi��ren �he�� e�a�ines re�e�ant infor�ation 
from national criminal records and, in some cases, reports by 
professional bodies such as the Victorian Institute of Teaching, 
the �uita�i�it� �ane� an� re�e�ant �eter�inations �� the 
�i�torian �i�i� an� A��inistrati�e �ri�una� un�er �urrent an� 
histori�a� hea�th �ra�titioner �e�is�ationǤ

�he �he�� �oes not assess a �ersonǯs suita�i�it� to �or� �ith 
or �are for �hi��ren in a �arti�u�ar ro�eǤ �t is the res�onsi�i�it� 
of ea�h or�anisation to assess if a �otentia� �or�er is suita��e 
to �or� �ith �hi��ren an� to �onitor their �eha�iour aroun� 
�hi��renǤ

�he �he�� �oes not re��a�e the nee� for thorou�h re�ruit�ent 
�ra�ti�esǡ referen�e an� �a���roun� �he��sǡ to�ether �ith 
soun�ǡ on�oin� su�er�ision �ra�ti�esǤ 

Promoting continuous improvement and innovation (continued)
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An� �erson �ho �or�sǡ or inten�s to �or�ǡ �ithin the s�e�iƤe� 
areas of �hi��Ǧre�ate� �or� an� �ho �oes not �ua�if� for an 
e�e��tion �ust a���� for a �or�in� �ith �hi��ren �he��Ǥ 

�r�anisations are re�uire� toǣ

■■ �eter�ine �hi�h �ai� an� �o�unteer �or�ers re�uire a 
�he��

■■ ensure �or�ers ha�e a �a�i� �he��

■■ ensure ne� �or�ers a���� for a �he�� �efore �o��en�in� 
�hi��Ǧre�ate� �or�Ǥ

In accordance with the Commission for Children and Young 
�eo��e A�t ȋsǤ ͚͝Ȍǡ the �o��ission un�erta�es an annua� re�ie� 
of the a��inistration of the �or�in� �ith �hi��ren A�t �� the 
�e�art�ent of 
usti�e Ƭ �e�u�ationǤ �he o��e�ti�es of the 
annua� re�ie�s are toǣ

■■ �eter�ine if the �e�art�ent of 
usti�e Ƭ �e�u�ation is 
a��inisterin� the �or�in� �ith �hi��ren A�t in a��or�an�e 
�ith the �ro�isions an� intent of the A�t

■■ �eter�ine the �e�e� of �o���ian�e �ith the A�t in res�e�t to 
the integrity, appropriateness and adequacy of the systems, 
�ro�esses an� �ontro�s that ha�e �een �esi�ne� an� 
implemented to support administration of the Act

■■ i�entif� o��ortunities for i��ro�e�ent in the �ua�it�ǡ 
effi�ien�� an� effe�ti�eness of the �or� �ra�ti�es an� 
�ro�esses i���e�ente�Ǥ

�e �o���ete� a re�ort on the ͚͙͘͜ re�ie� of the a��inistration 
of the �or�in� �ith �hi��ren A�t an� �ro�i�e� it to the Minister 
for �o��unit� �er�i�esǡ the Attorne�Ǧ
enera� an� the 
�e�retar� to the �e�art�ent of 
usti�e Ƭ �e�u�ationǡ as re�uire� 
�� �e�is�ationǤ �or� has no� �o��en�e� on the ͚͙͘͝ re�ie�Ǥ

Table 1: Working with Children Check data 2014–15

30 June 2015

�u��er of �or�in� �ith �hi��ren �he�� 
cardholders

͟͟͡ǡ͙͡͝

�u��er of ne�ati�e noti�es issue� ͚ǡ͚͛͡

�u��er of �or�in� �ith �hi��ren �he�� 
�ar�s issue� after re�ie� �� �i�torian �i�i� 
an� A��inistrati�e �ri�una� 

͡͡

National Operators Forum 
�n ��to�er ͚͙͘͜ǡ �e �oint�� hoste� the annua� �ationa� 
��erators 	oru� �ith the �or�in� �ith �hi��ren �he�� �nit of 
the �e�art�ent of 
usti�e Ƭ �e�u�ationǤ 

A�� Austra�ian �uris�i�tions �ere re�resente� at the foru�ǡ 
ena��in� �ita� �is�ussion an� infor�ation sharin� on �e� 
�e�e�o��ents at �oth the �uris�i�tiona� an� nationa� �e�e� on 
�or�in� �ith �hi��ren s�reenin� �ro�essesǤ 

�e �ou�� �i�e to than� the �or�in� �ith �hi��ren �he�� �nit for 
their �artnershi� in hostin� the �ationa� ��erators 	oru� for 
the se�on� �ear in su��essionǤ A nu��er of a�tions arose fro� 
the ͚͙͘͜ �eetin� that the �o��ission an� the �e�art�ent �i�� 
refer to the �e� �outh �a�es �ƥ�e of the �hi��renǯs 
uar�ianǡ 
�ho �i�� host the ͚͙͘͝ �ationa� ��erators 	oru�Ǥ 

Australian Children’s 
Commissioners and Guardians 
�urin� ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝ the �rin�i�a� �o��issioner �as the �ationa� 
�on�enor of the Austra�ian �hi��renǯs �o��issioners an� 

uar�iansǤ �n that ro�eǡ the �o��issioner su��orte� the 
�re�aration of �oint �o�i�� a��i�e to �o�ern�ents in��u�in�ǣ

■■ recommending to the Prime Minister that the processes 
for e��atriate a�o�tions �e re�ie�e� as �art of the 
establishment of the new national approach to intercountry 
adoption

■■ e��ressin� su��ort for a nationa� re�ie� of Austra�iaǯs 
approach to surrogacy

■■ a��isin� the Minister for ���i�ration an� �or�er �rote�tion 
about the complexities associated with obtaining passports 
for �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �are �ho ha�e �een re�o�e� 
from the care of their parents

■■ a��isin� the Minister for �o�ia� �er�i�es of �on�erns a�out 
the �ransition to �n�e�en�ent �i�in� A��o�an�e an� �a��in� 
for the eligibility of young people in informal care to be 
reinstated and for the application process to be simplified

■■ �ro�i�in� a su��ission to the Austra�ian �u�an �i�hts 
�o��ission in re�ation to �hi��ren in �etentionǤ

�he Austra�ian �hi��renǯs �o��issioners an� 
uar�ians ha�e 
also collaborated on a model charter of rights for children 
an� �oun� �eo��e �etaine� in �outh �usti�e fa�i�itiesǡ for ea�h 
�uris�i�tion to �onsi�er in re�ation to their state or territor�Ǥ 
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Enhancing the safety and 
wellbeing of Aboriginal 
children and young people     

All our work is inclusive of a focus on 
Aboriginal children and young people. 

A��ro�i�ate�� ͜͟ǡ͘͘͘ A�ori�ina� �eo��e �i�e in �i�toriaǤ  
�his re�resents ͘Ǥ͡ �er �ent of the tota� �o�u�ation of the stateǤ 
�he �i�torian A�ori�ina� �o�u�ation is �oun� an� it is �ro�in�Ǥ 

■■ More than half of the Aboriginal population are under  
͚͝ �ears of a�e ȋA�� ͚͙͚͘ȌǤ

■■ �hi��ren a�e� ͘Ȃ͙͜ �a�e u� ͛͞ �er �ent of the tota� 
Aboriginal population, compared with 18 per cent of the 
nonǦA�ori�ina� �o�u�ation ȋA�� ͚͙͚͘ȌǤ 

■■ A��ro�i�ate�� ͙͛͘͘ A�ori�ina� �a�ies are �orn e�er� �earǡ 
re�resentin� ͙Ǥ͞ �er �ent of a�� �i�torian �irths ȋ�i�torian 
�nfant Morta�it� �tu��ǡ �ni�ersit� of Me��ourne ͚͙͘͜ȌǤ 

�he �reat �a�orit� of A�ori�ina� fa�i�ies are stron� in their 
�u�ture an� are raisin� �hi��ren �ho are thri�in� an� a�hie�in�Ǥ 

Yet some continuing trends of inequality and poor outcomes 
persist for Aboriginal babies, children and youth, which increase 
their ris� an� �u�nera�i�it�Ǥ  �u��essi�e �o�ern�ents ha�e 
fai�e� to a�e�uate�� res�on� to these �ha��en�esǤ 
o�ern�ents 
will continue to fail unless responses come from a deep 
understanding of culture, human rights and self-determination 
an� are ho�isti� in their a��roa�hǤ 

The appointment of Australia’s only Commissioner for  
A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� Youn� �eo��e is e�i�en�e of a  
rene�e� fo�us in �i�toria on the �e�e�o��ent of inno�ati�e  
an� effe�ti�e res�onses to �u�nera��e A�ori�ina� �a�iesǡ  
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ 

�he o�erǦre�resentation of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� 
�eo��e in outǦofǦho�e �are an� Youth 
usti�e un�ers�ore the 
i��ortan�e of the �o��issionerǯs �or� in this areaǤ �e �ea�s 
our �or� in �onitorin�ǡ ana��sin�ǡ a��isin� an� re�ortin� on  
the �a� in �hi�h these ser�i�e s�ste�s res�on� to the nee�s  
of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e an� their fa�i�iesǤ 
�u�an ri�hts fra�e�or�sǡ �u�ture an� se�fǦ�eter�ination 
un�er�in this �or�Ǥ 

Human rights of Aboriginal 
children and young people
 Human rights have a special importance for the Aboriginal 
people	of	Victoria,	as	descendants	of	Australia’s	first	people,	
with their diverse spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
relationship with their traditional lands and waters. 

 Preamble, Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

�e a���� a hu�an ri�hts �ens to our a��o�a�� an� �o�i�� �or�Ǥ 
�e re�in� those e�er�isin� �u��i� fun�tions of their o��i�ations 
un�er the �harter of �u�an �i�hts an� �es�onsi�i�itiesǤ �n 
addition, we draw upon and reference other human rights 
instru�ents in��u�in� the �nite� �ations �on�ention on 
the �i�hts of the �hi�� an� the �e��aration on the �i�hts of 
�n�i�enous �eo��esǤ

Man� �oi�es s�ea� �ou�er than oneǤ �e ha�e fostere� an� 
so�i�iƤe� re�ationshi�s �ith �i�eǦ�in�e� or�anisations 
throu�hout the �earǡ su�h as the �i�torian ��ua� ���ortunit� 
an� �u�an �i�hts �o��issionǡ the �i�torian A�ori�ina� �e�a� 
�er�i�eǡ the A�ori�ina� 	a�i�� �io�en�e an� �re�ention �e�a� 
�er�i�eǡ the �i�torian A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� Youn� �ersons 
A��ian�eǡ the �u�an �i�hts �a� �entreǡ A�nest� �nternationa� 
an� the �ri��e of �o�e 	oun�ationǤ 

�e ha�e a�so �een for�in� an� nurturin� re�ationshi�s �ith 
or�anisations an� in�i�i�ua�s throu�hout the �e�a� se�torǡ �ourts 
an� the �u�i�iar� in or�er to �ontri�ute to �roa�er �a� refor� 
an� hu�an ri�hts a��o�a�� to �ositi�e�� i��a�t on the ser�i�es 
�ro�i�e� to A�ori�ina� �hi��ren in �i�toriaǤ
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Connection to culture  
and cultural identity
�u�tura� ri�htsǡ in��u�in� �onne�tions to fa�i��ǡ �in an� 
community, are rights that are interrelated to, and impact upon, 
the en�o��ent of a�� hu�an ri�htsǤ  

�e�tion ͙͡ of the �harter of �u�an �i�hts an� �es�onsi�i�ities 
�ro�i�esǡ a�on� other thin�sǡ that A�ori�ina� �eo��e ho�� 
�istin�t ri�hts an� �ust not �e �enie� the ri�ht to en�o� 
their i�entit� an� �u�tureǡ to �aintain their �inshi� ties an� 
to �aintain their �istin�ti�e s�iritua�ǡ �ateria� an� e�ono�i� 
re�ationshi� �ith the �an� an� �aters �ith �hi�h the� ha�e 
�onne�tion un�er tra�itiona� �a�s an� �usto�sǤ  

A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �i�in� in outǦofǦho�e �are 
ha�e a fun�a�enta� ri�ht to �reser�e their A�ori�ina� i�entit�Ǥ 
Maintaining identity is about remaining connected to family, 
extended family, local Aboriginal community, wider community 
an� �u�tureǤ �t is a�out re�ationshi�s an� ri�h e��erien�esǤ 

�he �hi��ren Youth an� 	a�i�ies A�t in��u�es a nu��er of s�e�iƤ� 
�ro�isions in re�ation to A�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ �hese in��u�eǣ

■■ a requirement in the best interest principle to consider the 
nee� to �rote�t an� �ro�ote the �hi��ǯs ǮA�ori�ina� �u�tura� 
an� s�iritua� i�entit� an� �e�e�o��ent ��ǡ �here�er 
possible, maintaining and building their connections to their 
Aboriginal family and community’ 

■■ a��itiona� �e�isionǦ�a�in� �rin�i��es for A�ori�ina� 
children

■■ the Aboriginal Child Placement Principle

■■ the preparation of a cultural plan for each Aboriginal child 
placed in out-of-home care under the guardianship of the 
�e�retar�Ǥ

�n a��ition to these �e�is�ati�e �ro�isionsǡ �roto�o�s an� 
�ui�e�ines ha�e �een �e�e�o�e� to i��ro�e �ra�ti�e in re�ation 
to Aboriginal children and families, including the use of 
A�ori�ina� 	a�i��Ǧ�e� �e�isionǦMa�in� �onferen�esǤ

In our direct contact with young people, carers and professionals, 
our �on�u�t of in�uiries an� our �arti�i�ation in �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ǡ 
�e ha�e too often seen that the �ro�ise enshrine� in these 
�ro�isions �oes not �onsistent�� �at�h �ra�ti�eǤ 	or e�a���eǡ 
�hat has �e�o�e o��ious throu�h �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ is that 
Aboriginal children in out-of-home care are often disconnected 
fro� their si��in�sǡ A�ori�ina� fa�i�� an� �o��unit�Ǥ 

As a �onse�uen�eǡ �e ha�e a��o�ate�ǡ an� �ontinue to 
a��o�ateǡ throu�h �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ an� �ith the �e�art�ent of 
�ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es �ire�t�� to stren�then the a��roa�h to 
these statutor� o��i�ations an� �rin�i��esǤ 

�e ha�e ar�ue� that the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�es shou�� �o �ore to �reate o��ortunities for A�ori�ina� 
�hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �are to �eet an� �e�e�o� re�ationshi�s 
�ith other A�ori�ina� �hi��ren in �areǤ �his �ou�� �e �one 
throu�h �a��sǡ ho�e�or� �rou�sǡ s�ortsǡ artsǡ �u�tura� 
�or�sho�s an� e��ursionsǤ �he ai� is to �e�e�o� re�ationshi�s 
an� stren�then �u�tureǤ �o �e effe�ti�eǡ �u�tura� ��ans �ust 
i��erse a �hi�� in their �u�ture �ith their �eo��eǤ �he �u�tura� 
�a��s for �hi��ren �ro�i�e� �� the �i�torian A�ori�ina� �hi�� 
�are A�en�� ha�e �ro�en to �e su��essfu� an� �ro�i�e a �oo� 
�o�e�Ǥ 

The Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People has 
promoted greater understanding of the importance of cultural 
ri�hts to those �ho �ro�i�e ser�i�esǡ as �e�� as to the �roa�er 
�o��unit�Ǥ 
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At the in�itation of the Mornin�ton �eninsu�a �u�an �i�hts 

rou�ǡ the �o��issioner �e�i�ere� an �nternationa� �u�an 
�i�hts �a� oration in �e�e��er ͚͙͘͜ tit�e� Ǯ�in�in� our �ast 
�ith our futureǣ �o� �u�tura� ri�hts �an he�� sha�e i�entit� an� 
�ui�� resi�ien�e in A�ori�ina� �i�sǯǤ �he Indigenous Law Bulletin 
�u��ishe� an e�ite� �ersion of his s�ee�hǤ �n �is�ussin� the often 
a�sent or to�enisti� �u�tura� su��ort ��ans �reate� for A�ori�ina� 
children, he explained:

 culture is not a ‘perk’ for an Aboriginal child—it is a lifeline . . . 
For Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, Indigenous 
peoples, First Nations peoples, for Aboriginals, this human 
right is crucial to our wellbeing, it is crucial to our sense of 
pride, to our sense of belonging. Culture is the most resilient 
factor protecting our children. Culture links us to our past so 
we can navigate our future.

�e ha�e �een �o��a�oratin� �ith an� �ro�i�in� su��ort to the 
�i�torian ��ua� ���ortunit� an� �u�an �i�hts �o��ission 
in re�ation to the �e�e�o��ent of ne� resour�es to in�rease 
awareness, understanding and use of Aboriginal cultural rights 
un�er the �harterǤ �his is a �ita� an� �roun�Ǧ�rea�in� �ie�e 
of �or�Ǥ �e ho�e that the resour�es �i�� he�� those �a�in� 
�e�isions for our �ost �u�nera��e A�ori�ina� �hi��ren to �ain a 
better appreciation of the need to continually foster, build and 
nurture fa�i��ǡ �u�tura� an� �o��unit� �onne�tionsǤ 

Infant and child health  
– early risk
 As our understanding of developmental science improves, 

it becomes clearer and clearer that adverse events that 
happen to children and babies lead to structural changes 
in brain development that have life long and societal 
ramifications.	We	now	also	know	these	ramifications	are	
intergenerational. 

 �a�in� a �o��� o� �iffe�en�eǣ ��e ǮFi��� ͙ǡ͘͘͘ �ay�ǯǡ 
University of Melbourne symposium, April 2015

�e are re�uire� to �onitor an� re�ort on the effe�ti�eness of 
strate�ies re�e�ant to the safet� an� �e���ein� of �hi��ren an� 
�ro�ote �oo� �ra�ti�esǤ

�he �oun�i� of Austra�ian 
o�ern�ents ��ose the 
a� �a��ai�n 
�o��itte� to ha��in� the �a� on �hi�� �orta�it� �� ͚͙͘͠Ǥ �he 
�i�torian A�ori�ina� Affairs 	ra�e�or� ͚͙͛͘Ȃ͙͠ res�on�e� �ith 
targets to close both the gap in perinatal mortality and low birth 
�ei�ht ȋ�e�o� ͚͘͘͝ �ra�sȌ �a�ies �� ͚͚͛͘Ǥ 

�he �i�torian 
o�ern�ent �easures �irth �ei�ht �e�ause it is 
an indicator of the general health of infants and is a determinant 
of a �a��ǯs sur�i�a�ǡ hea�thǡ �e�e�o��ent an� �e���ein�Ǥ �he 
data in the Victorian Government Aboriginal Affairs Report 2013 
shows that the proportion of low birth weight babies born to 
Aboriginal mothers in Victoria is approximately twice that of 
nonǦA�ori�ina� �a�ies ȋ͙͚Ǥ͙ �er ͙͘͘͘ �o��are� to ͞Ǥ͠ �er ͙͘͘͘ȌǤ

Mu�h re�ains to �e �one if these tar�ets are to �e a�hie�e� 
an� A�ori�ina� �hi�� �orta�it� re�u�e�Ǥ �he Victorian Aboriginal 
Child Mortality Study �u��ishe� �� the �ni�ersit� of Me��ourne in 
͚͙͘͜ �onsi�ere� a �e�a�e of un�u��ishe� �ata fro� ͙͡͡͡Ȃ͚͘͘͠ 
that foun� thatǡ a�thou�h A�ori�ina� �a�ies on�� �a�e u� ͙Ǥ͞ 
�er �ent of a�� �i�torian �irthsǡ the� re�resent ͛Ǥ͙ �er �ent of a�� 
infant �eathsǤ 

The Close the Gap – Progress and priorities report 2015 noted 
that A�ori�ina� an� �orres �trait �s�an�er �hi��ren un�er Ƥ�e 
�ears of a�e a��ounte� for ͙͞͝ �er ͙͘͘ǡ͘͘͘ �eaths �hi�e nonǦ
A�ori�ina� �hi��ren a��ounte� for ͟͟ �eaths �er ͙͘͘ǡ͘͘͘Ǥ �he 
�oun�i� of Austra�ian 
o�ern�ents refor� �oun�i� note� a ran�e 
of issues in re�ation to �ata an� i�entiƤe� �i�toria as one of the 
�uris�i�tions �ith �oor �ua�it� �ataǤ 

�ata is an i��ortant too� to effe�t �han�eǤ �rans�aren�� 
through the sharing of both raw data and analysis enables 
�o�ern�entǡ �o��unit�ǡ ser�i�e �ro�i�ers an� resear�hers 
to ea�h �or� to�ar� the sa�e �oa� an� to �or� to�ether for 
i��ro�e� out�o�es for A�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ �er�i�e �ata �an 
�e �er� effe�ti�e on a �o�a� �e�e� for tar�ete� res�onsesǤ �he 
�o��ination of ser�i�e �ataǡ resear�h an� hea�th �ata �an 
�reate �etter assu��tionsǡ �hi�h �ea� to ear�� an� inno�ati�e 
strate�iesǤ 

�e ha�e a �een interest in �ro�ra�s an� foru�s that fo�us on 
the hea�th an� �e���ein� of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �e a��o�ate 
for �o��unit�Ǧ�e� initiati�es �ase� on stron� e�i�en�eǤ �o�e 
e�a���es o�er the �ast �ear are �es�ri�e� �e�o�Ǥ

Enhancing the safety and wellbeing of  
Aboriginal children and young people (continued)
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Aboriginal child health 
roundtable
The concept of a roundtable focused on Indigenous child health 
arose fro� �is�ussions �et�een A�ori�ina� ��ini�a� ser�i�es at 
the �o�a� �hi��renǯs �os�ita� ȋ�a��a A�ori�ina� 	a�i�� ��a�eȌ 
an� the �ni�ersit� of Me��ourne ȋ�e�art�ent of �ae�iatri�sȌǤ 
�hree roun�ta��e �is�ussions o��urre� �et�een �e�te��er ͚͙͘͜ 
an� 	e�ruar� ͚͙͘͝Ǥ �here �ere a �roa� ran�e of sta�eho��ersǡ 
including the Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young 
�eo��eǡ �e� staff of the �a��a �nit of the �o�a� �hi��renǯs 
�os�ita�ǡ �i�torian A�ori�ina� �o��unit� �ontro��e� �ea�th 
�r�anisationǡ �ne��a �i��ea�th �oori �ea�th 
rou� ȋ�ni�ersit� 
of Me��ourneȌǡ �i�torian A�ori�ina� �ea�th �er�i�esǡ �i�torian 
Aboriginal Education Association Incorporated, Victorian 
Aboriginal Child Care Agency, Victorian Aboriginal Children 
an� Youn� �ersonǯs A��ian�eǡ �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�esǡ �i�toria �ni�ersit� an� other �e� �rofessiona�s an� 
or�anisationsǤ 

�he roun�ta��e fo�use� on i��ro�in� the hea�th an� �e���ein� 
of Aboriginal children and young people through information 
sharin� an� �ia�o�ueǡ �in�in� ser�i�e �e�i�er� �ith e�a�uation 
an� resear�h e��ertiseǡ i��ro�in� the e�i�en�e �ase of ser�i�e 
�e�i�er� an� �or�for�e �e�e�o��ent an� �o��ine� a��o�a��Ǥ 

Fetal Alcohol Syndrome 
Disorders
�u��a�ara A�ori�ina� �oo�erati�e in �he��artonǡ in �artnershi� 
�ith �err� �treet �a�e ��oǡ has �e�un so�e i��ortant 
�on�ersations �on�ernin� 	eta� A��oho� ��n�ro�e �isor�ers 
ȋ	A��ȌǤ 

 FASD may present with an assortment of impairments 
in development, learning and behaviour as well as facial 
anomalies. 

 Addressing fetal alcohol spectrum disorder in Australia, 
National Indigenous Drug and Alcohol Committee, 2012

 FASD is entirely preventable and with early and accurate 
diagnosis	outcomes	and	quality	of	life	for	those	affected	can	
be greatly improved.

 Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: strategies to address 
information gaps, Australian Institute of Health and 
Welfare, 2014

�he Austra�ian �nstitute of �ea�th an� �e�fare note� that 
�i�torian �ata is not �oo�Ǥ �o�e�erǡ the� esti�ate that in 
�i�toria �et�een ͘Ǥ͙͘Ȃ͘Ǥ͛͘ �er ͙͘͘͘ A�ori�ina� �hi��ren ha�e 
	A��Ǥ �his is t�o to three ti�es hi�her than the rate for nonǦ
A�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ

The Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People 
s�o�e a�out 	A�� at a re�iona� �or�sho�ǣ

 We can all be part of the change in the understanding and 
prevention of FASD. Health professionals can routinely 
speak to women about their alcohol use and capture data on 
alcohol consumption during pregnancy; we can talk to our 
youth and parents about the impact of alcohol on unborn 
and newborn babies and health professionals can notice 
potential FASD and related disorders.

�tu�ies a�ross Austra�iaǡ �ana�a an� �orth A�eri�a esti�ate 
that ͘͞Ȃ͘͠ �er �ent of �hi��ren �ith 	A�� are �ein� raise� �� 
�eo��e other than their �io�o�i�a� �arentsǤ �his su��ests that 
there are potentially a large number of children in out-of-home 
�are �ith 	A��Ǥ 

�as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ �onƤr�e� that fa�i�� �io�en�e �oe�istin� �ith 
�arenta� a��oho� an� other �ru� �isuse are �e� �ri�ers to outǦofǦ
ho�e �areǤ �t is �riti�a� that the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�es �onsi�ers this �i�e�ihoo� in hea�th �he��s of �a�ies an� 
children who are entering care to ensure early diagnosis and 
inter�entionǤ 

The Commissioner in his summation noted that:

 we all have a role to keep the conversation about FASD 
going and be keen to be part of that for Aboriginal children.
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Bumps to Babes and Beyond
�n �e�e��er ͚͙͘͜ the �ueen ��i�a�eth �entre an� Ma��ee 
�istri�t A�ori�ina� �er�i�es re�ease� an e�a�uation of the 
�u��s to �a�es an� �e�on� �ro�ra�Ǥ �his t�oǦ�ear �arentin� 
�ro�ra�ǡ a�a�te� fro� the �ueen ��i�a�eth �entreǯs �u��ies 
to �o���ers �ro�ra�ǡ ai�s to �eet the s�e�iƤ� nee�s of the 
A�ori�ina� �o��unit� in Mi��uraǤ �� en�a�in� �u�nera��e 
women and their families during the antenatal period, they aim 
to strengthen the bond between parents and children during 
�re�nan�� an� the Ƥrst ͙͠ �onths of the �hi��ǯs �ifeǤ �arents 
re�ei�e su��ortǡ a��ess e�u�ation an� �in�s to ser�i�es �reatin� a 
transition into the �o��unit�Ǥ

The program is built on theories of child attachment, cultural 
an� trau�aǦinfor�e� �ra�ti�e an� fa�i�� �artnershi�Ǥ 
�ut�o�es in��u�e�ǣ

■■ children remaining in the care of their mothers 

■■ 86 per cent of mothers breastfeeding their babies on 
discharge from hospital

■■ all antenatal appointments being attended 

■■ children being up to date with immunisation 

■■ a significant increase in community supports in the six 
�onths after �irthǤ

�e su��ort an� �ro�ote this a��roa�h to �ro�i�in� the �est 
start to life for Aboriginal babies and reducing the cycle of 
inter�enerationa� trau�aǤ �n �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ǡ the �o��issioner 
has o�ser�e� the inter�enerationa� i��a�t of trau�a an� 
the si�niƤ�ant nu��ers of �hi��ren in �are �hose �arents 
e��erien�e� outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �u��ort for ear�� inter�ention 
an� �re�ention �ro�ra�s �i�� �ontri�ute to a re�u�tion of 
A�ori�ina� �hi��ren enterin� �areǤ

Breaking the cycle of trauma: 
Koori parenting – what works  
for us 
The Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People 
�aun�he� a resour�e �a��a�e �u��ishe� �� the �i�torian 
A�ori�ina� �ea�th �er�i�e in ��to�er ͚͙͘͜Ǥ �he resour�es in��u�e 
�e� �essa�es an� strate�ies infor�e� �� �on�ersations �ith 
A�ori�ina� �arents �ho ha�e e��erien�e� trau�aǡ ta��in� a�out 
�hat �or�s �est for the� as �arentsǤ

At the launch the Commissioner said:

 You cannot talk about Aboriginal children without talking 
about their families and community. I am thrilled to be 
part of this day launching a set of important resources – 
resources that recognise intergenerational trauma and the 
impact of this as well as acknowledging the need to heal to 
enable families to move forward and keep strong.

�he �o��on e�e�ents of these an� other su��essfu� initiati�es 
for Aboriginal children are that they:

■■ inter�ene ear��

■■ ta�e a ho�isti� a��roa�h

■■ are �o��unit� initiate� an� �ri�en 

■■ are �u�tura��� an� thera�euti�a��� fo�use�Ǥ

Enhancing the safety and wellbeing of  
Aboriginal children and young people (continued)
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Children with a disability 
�urin� �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ǡ an� throu�h �is�ussions �ith �arersǡ 
hea�th �rofessiona�s an� �isa�i�it� a��o�atesǡ it �e�a�e ��ear 
that �hi��ren �ith a �isa�i�it� �urrent�� �i�in� inǡ or at ris� of 
enterin�ǡ outǦofǦho�e �are �ere not hi�h�� �isi��eǤ 

�n 	e�ruar� ͚͙͘͝ the �o��issioner for A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� 
�oun� �eo��e atten�e� the �aun�h of a �hi��renǯs �i�ture �oo�ǡ 
Djarmbi – The Different Kookaburra, a collaboration between 
�ositi�e �artnershi�s an� �u��a�ara A�ori�ina� �or�orationǤ 
�he stor� is a�out the a��entures of the 
ones fa�i�� an� ho� 
ea�h fa�i�� �e��erǯs ta�ents �ontri�ute to the fa�i��ǯs su��essǤ 
�he i�ea for the �oo� �re� fro� the �or� of the �u��a�ara 
Autis� �u��ort �rou�Ǥ At the �aun�h the �o��issioner 
applauded the leadership shown by the community in this area 
and noted:

 whilst the book talks about Rumba, the Moira lakes and 
Barmah, the messages are universal.

�e ha�e a�erte� the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es to 
issues about Aboriginal children with a disability in out-of-home 
�areǤ �hese issues in��u�e the nee� for foster �arers or �inshi� 
carers who care for children with a disability, or children who are 
�et to �e for�a��� �ia�nose�ǡ to ha�e trainin� an� su��ort in the 
disability of the child and the disability sector as well as timely 
a��ess to ear�� inter�ention an� in�i�i�ua� su��ort �a��a�esǤ

Community members with disabilities, carers, Elders and 
�o��unit� a��o�ates are �on�erne� a�out the �u�tura� safet� 
and wellbeing of Aboriginal children and young people with a 
�isa�i�it� �ho are �i�in� in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ 

Out-of-home care data for 
Aboriginal children
An important function of the Commission is to monitor and 
re�ort on the effe�ti�eness of strate�ies re�atin� to the 
�e���ein� of �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǡ in��u�in� 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in outǦofǦho�eǤ �harin� �ata 
and trends is an important consideration in measuring this 
effe�ti�enessǤ

	or �e�a�esǡ re�ortsǡ in�esti�ations an� ��ans ha�e �a�e 
recommendations to reduce the rate of Aboriginal children and 
�oun� �eo��e in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �es�ite thisǡ the rate is sti�� 
�ro�in� an� the �a� is �i�enin�Ǥ �e ha�e to as� �h� Ȃ an� �e 
ha�e to a�t �ifferent��Ǥ

A�ori�ina� �hi��ren are �ross�� o�erǦre�resente� in �hi�� 
�rote�tion ser�i�es in �i�toria an� the situation is �ettin� �orseǤ 

The rate of placement of Aboriginal children in out-of-home care 
in �i�toria is ͚͞Ǥ͟ �er ͙͘͘͘ǡ �o��are� to ͝Ǥ͙ �er ͙͘͘͘ for nonǦ
A�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ �his �a� is a�ar�in�Ǥ 

�he Austra�ian �nstitute of �ea�th an� �e�fareǯs Child protection 
Australia report 2013–2014 data shows that of 7710 children 
in outǦofǦho�e �are in �i�toriaǡ ͙͛͘͠ are A�ori�ina�Ǥ �he 
�ro�u�ti�it� �o��issionǯs ͚͙͘͝ Report on Government Services 
hi�h�i�hte� ra�i� �ro�th of ͚͜ �er �ent in ͚͙͛͘Ȃ͙͜ǡ �hen the 
number of Aboriginal children in out-of-home care increased to 
͙͛͘͠ fro� ͚͚͡ in the �re�ious �earǤ 

�he �i�torian 
o�ern�ent uses su�stantiation rates to �easure 
i��ro�e�ents for A�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ �e�orts to �hi�� 
Protection are substantiated when there is reasonable cause to 
�ee� that a �hi�� has �eenǡ is �ein�ǡ or is �i�e�� to �e a�use� or 
ne��e�te� or other�ise har�e�Ǥ �n ͚͙͛͘Ȃ͙͜ A�ori�ina� �hi��ren 
�ere se�en ti�es �ore �i�e�� than nonǦA�ori�ina� �hi��ren to 
ha�e a �hi�� �rote�tion �on�ern su�stantiate�Ǥ �n ͚͙͛͘Ȃ͙͜ there 
�ere ͘͞Ǥ͛ �er ͙͘͘͘ su�stantiations for A�ori�ina� �hi��ren in 
�i�toriaǡ �o��are� to ͠Ǥ͙ �er ͙͘͘͘ for nonǦA�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ 

�here is no fa�oura��e �a� to �resent this sho��in� �ataǤ �e 
ha�e an o��i�ation to the A�ori�ina� �hi��ren �urrent�� �i�in� in 
outǦofǦho�e �areǡ an� those at ris� of enterin� the s�ste�ǡ to �o 
�etterǤ �e nee� to un�erstan� the reasons the� enter �areǡ an� 
�h� their out�o�es are �i�e�� to �e �oorer than those of nonǦ
A�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ 

45



�here has not �een a �i�torian 
o�ern�ent A�ori�ina� Affairs 
re�ort on the �ro�ress of �e� in�i�ators in the �i�torian 
A�ori�ina� Affairs 	ra�e�or� sin�e ͚͙͛͘Ǥ �here �annot �e 
effe�ti�e �artnershi�s �ith the A�ori�ina� �o��unit�ǡ nor se�fǦ
�eter�ination for the A�ori�ina� �o��unit�ǡ if the �o�ern�ent 
�ontinues to �ithho�� �riti�a� infor�ationǤ �urrent �ata 
regarding Aboriginal children should be supplied in an accessible 
for� to the A�ori�ina� �o��unit�Ǥ

�o �e�e�o� an effe�ti�e res�onseǡ �hi�� �rote�tion �ata �ust 
not �e �ie�e� in iso�ationǤ �here is an o��ortunit� to uti�ise area 
�ata to ana��se �hi�� �rote�tion an� other �e� �ataǡ in��u�in� 
fa�i�� �io�en�eǡ a��oho� an� other �ru�sǡ ho�e�essnessǡ 
e�u�ation an� �usti�e infor�ation to �reate a �o��rehensi�e 
un�erstan�in� of the �e� �ri�ers of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren into the 
�hi�� �rote�tion s�ste�Ǥ

The Commissioner for Aboriginal children and young people is 
�o��itte� to su��ortin� the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�es to �o thisǡ area �� areaǡ �hi�� �� �hi��Ǥ 

Taskforce 1000
�n �artnershi� �ith the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǡ 
�e �o��itte� to �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ in 
une ͚͙͛͘ an� �o��en�e� 
the �ro�e�t in 
u�� ͚͙͘͜Ǥ

�he na�e of the �as�for�e �a�e fro� the nu��er of A�ori�ina� 
�hi��ren �ho �ere then in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ A�thou�h 
�e a��no��e��e� that this nu��er �as too hi�hǡ �e a�so 
re�o�nise� that it �as s�a�� enou�h that �e �ou�� �is�o�er the 
�ir�u�stan�es of ea�h an� e�er� �hi��Ǥ

�ith the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǡ �e a�ree� to 
re�ie� e�er� �hi��ǯs e��erien�e in or�er to i�entif� an� a�t u�on 
practice, policy and system issues that impact on Aboriginal 
children’s care, cultural connectedness, education, health and 
�e���ein�Ǥ �� 
une ͚͙͘͝ǡ �e ha�e �is�usse� o�er ͘͘͝ �hi��ren 
in ͙͘ �e�art�enta� areasǤ �he re�ainin� se�en areas �i�� �e 
�o���ete� �� �e�e��er ͚͙͘͝Ǥ

�as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ o�erates in three �ain �hasesǣ infor�ation 
�atherin�ǡ �riti�a� ana��sis an� s�ste�i� �han�eǤ

Gathering baseline information
�sin� a sur�e� �oint�� �e�e�o�e� �� the �o��ission an� the 
�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǡ �hi�� �rote�tion 
staff �ather res�onses fro� ea�h �hi��ǯs �ase ��an an� Ƥ�e 
notes related to placement, reason they are in care, culture and 
i�entit�ǡ hea�thǡ e�u�ation an� �e���ein�Ǥ 

Child Protection case managers tell children that the 
Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People is 
a�ai�a��e for the� to s�ea� �ithǤ �n a��ition to these oneǦonǦ
one �on�ersationsǡ �e re�ei�e �hone �a��s an� the �o��issioner 
hosts community yarns that are open to any Aboriginal person, 
or �arer for an A�ori�ina� �hi�� �ho �ants to ta�� a�out their 
e��erien�e in outǦofǦho�e �are or the ser�i�e s�ste� as a �ho�eǤ

Area panel discussions
Area �ane�s are �a�e u� of a ran�e of �o�a� re�resentati�es 
fro� �hi�� �rote�tionǡ housin�ǡ �usti�eǡ e�u�ationǡ �i�toria 
�o�i�eǡ hea�th ser�i�esǡ fa�i�� an� �hi�� ser�i�es an� A�ori�ina� 
�o��unit� �ontro��e� or�anisationsǤ �he �o��issioner an� the 
re�e�ant Area �ire�tor �hair the �ane�sǤ

�hi�� �rote�tion staff �resent a nonǦi�entif�in� su��ar� of 
ea�h �hi�� or si��in� �rou� to the �ane�Ǥ �he �ane� �e��ers 
�is�uss an� �riti�a��� reƪe�t on the �hi��ǯs e��erien�eǤ �he �ane� 
�e��ers �a� i�entif� i��e�iate a�tions to �e un�erta�en 
�� the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es or other 
sta�eho��ers at the ta��e in re�ation to an in�i�i�ua� �hi��Ǥ At 
the end of each panel, members discuss and identify area-wide 
s�ste�s to �e in��u�e� in a �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ area ��anǤ

A statewide focus
�he �o��issioner an� the �e�retar� to the �e�art�ent of 
�ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es �oǦ�hair �uarter�� �eetin�s of the 
�as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ �teerin� �o��itteeǤ �he �o��ittee in��u�es 
the �hief e�e�uti�e oƥ�ers of A�ori�ina� �o��unit� �ontro��e� 
or�anisations an� �o��unit� ser�i�e or�anisationsǡ se�retaries 
of �i�torian �o�ern�ent �e�art�ents an� senior oƥ�ers of 
the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǤ �he �o��ittee 
�onsi�ers the �ro�ress of the �as�for�e an� e�er�in� the�es 
an� issuesǤ 

�e anti�i�ate that o��ortunities for �roa� s�ste�i� �han�e �i�� 
be drawn from area panels as well as from our inquiry into out-
ofǦho�e �are �is�usse� �ater in this re�ortǤ

Enhancing the safety and wellbeing of  
Aboriginal children and young people (continued)
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A collaborative effort
Man� �eo��e ha�e �ontri�ute� to the �or� of �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ 
an� shou�� �e than�e� for their �o��it�entǤ

�hi�� �rote�tion staff ha�e s�ent ͙͛͘͠ hours re�ie�in� �hi��renǯs 
Ƥ�es an� ha�e �resente� su��aries of �ore than ͘͘͝ �hi��ren 
to area �ane�sǤ

�o��itte� staff an� �ea�ers fro� A�ori�ina� �o��unit� 
�ontro��e� or�anisationsǡ �o��unit� ser�i�e or�anisationsǡ 
�o�ern�ent re�resentati�es fro� �usti�eǡ e�u�ationǡ hea�th an� 
hu�an ser�i�es an� �i�toria �o�i�e ha�e �ontri�ute� u� to Ƥ�e 
�a�s of �is�ussions in their �o�a� areaǤ �he� ha�e �is�usse� issues 
re�atin� to the �are of e�er� A�ori�ina� �hi�� in their area �ho is 
�i�in� outsi�e their fa�i�� ho�e for their o�n �rote�tionǤ

�e ha�e or�anise� an� hoste� ͙͝ �o��unit� �arns an� �et 
�ith a si�niƤ�ant nu��er of �arers an� fa�i�� �e��ers in the 
�ea� u� to ea�h area �ane�Ǥ

The Commissioner has co-chaired four steering committee 
�eetin�s an� tra�e��e� ��ose to ͘͘͘͡��s to ta�e �art in area 
�ane�s a�ross ͙͘ areas of �i�toriaǤ �e has s�ent ͛͛͝ hours 
�istenin� toǡ ana��sin� an� �a�in� re�o��en�ations for o�er 
͘͘͝ A�ori�ina� �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ 

�as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ has �reate� en�urin� re�ationshi�s �et�een 
a�en�ies that �i�� �eneƤt the �hi��ren the� ser�eǤ

�hi�� �rote�tion staff in one areaǡ reƪe�tin� on the �as�for�eǡ 
�o��ente� that the �an� �ers�e�ti�es aroun� the ta��e ena��e� 
the� to see thin�s �ifferent��Ǥ �he� a�so note� that the� ha� 
starte� to ta�e �o��e�ti�e res�onsi�i�it� for effe�tin� out�o�es an� 
ha� i��e�iate�� seen �ositi�e out�o�es for their ��ientsǤ

What are we learning?
�he resu�ts of �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ �i�� infor� ��annin� for 
A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �he 
�o��issioner has note� se�era� the�es that ha�e e�er�e� 
fro� this �or�Ǥ 

�e�u�in� A�ori�ina� fa�i�� �io�en�e �i�� re�u�e the hi�h nu��er 
of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ A��ro�i�ate�� ͘͡ 
�er �ent of the �hi��ren re�ie�e� ha�e �een e��ose� to fa�i�� 
�io�en�eǤ 	a�i�� �io�en�e a�so e�er�e� as a �e� reason that 
�hi��ren �ou�� not �e returne� ho�eǤ �f �e a��e�t that �hi��ren 
are �i�ti�s ofǡ not �ere�� �itnesses toǡ fa�i�� �io�en�eǡ �e �an 
create a sound foundation for programs that aim to interrupt 
the inter�enerationa� ����e of �io�ent �eha�iour �� �ro�otin� 
hea�in� an� an un�erstan�in� of res�e�tfu� re�ationshi�sǤ

�e �ust i��ro�e res�onses fro� uni�ersa� ser�i�esǤ �here 
are in�i�ators of �hi��renǯs ris� to enterin� �are that �ro�i�e 
the o��ortunit� for ear�� �ete�tion �� uni�ersa� ser�i�esǡ ear�� 
inter�ention an� thera�euti� res�onsesǤ �ear�� ha�f of the 
�hi��ren re�ie�e� ha� �oor s�hoo� atten�an�e �efore enterin� 
�areǡ an� their �arents �resente� �ith hi�h �e�e�s of �arenta� 
a��oho� an� other �ru� �isuse an� �enta� i��nessǤ

�onne�tion to �u�ture is �ita� for a�� A�ori�ina� �hi��ren �ut for 
those in �are it is a stron� �rote�ti�e fa�torǤ A�thou�h �e�is�ation 
and practice guidelines require Child Protection and out-of-
ho�e �are ser�i�es to �rote�t an� nurture �u�tura� �onne�tionǡ 
the rea�it� is �uite �ifferentǤ 

�he �as�for�e often sa� on�� ru�i�entar� �onsi�eration of 
A�ori�ina� �in as �arersǤ �his �ontri�utes to the hi�h nu��er of 
A�ori�ina� �hi��ren ��a�e� �ith nonǦA�ori�ina� �arersǤ �oo �an� 
�hi��ren ha�e ina�e�uate �u�tura� su��ort ��ans �ith �i�ite� 
fo�us on e��erien�es an� re�ationshi�sǤ �here �as �i�ite� 
demonstration of an understanding that Aboriginal cultural 
�onne�tion is foun�e� on i�entit� Ȃ �ho �ou areǡ an� �ho �ou 
are �ithin the �onte�t of �our fa�i�� an� �our �o��unit�Ǥ 
Knowing your role and obligations within your community and 
res�e�tin� �our ���ers is i��ortantǤ �ein� �ith si��in�s an� 
other Aboriginal children and being immersed in the culture is 
nee�e� to �e�ent these �u�tura� �onne�tionsǤ �he �as�for�e 
saw many children who had been separated from their siblings 
or had such restricted access to them that they were unable to 
�e�e�o� the �on�s that are their ri�htǤ

�he �hi��renǯs �ourt ��ini� has un�erta�en assess�ents of �an� 
of the fa�i�ies an� �hi��ren �hose �ases ha�e �een re�ie�e� 
�� the �as�for�eǤ �he �as�for�e has hear� �an� �riti�is�s of 
the �a� in �hi�h the assess�ents are un�erta�en an� the 
re�o��en�ations arisin� fro� the�Ǥ �on�erns a�out the 
o�eration of the �hi��renǯs �ourt ��ini� are not ne�Ǥ �he ͚͙͚͘ 
Protecting Victoria’s Vulnerable Children Inquiry Report made 
recommendations for both immediate and medium to longer 
ter� refor�s to the �hi��renǯs �ourt ��ini�Ǥ  �he �o��ission 
is �isa��ointe� that su��essi�e �o�ern�ents ha�e fai�e� to 
implement these recommendations and has called upon the 
�o�ern�ent to ta�e ur�ent a�tionǤ

�he i��a�t of inter�enerationa� trau�a �ontinues to �e fe�tǤ �he 
�as�for�e hear� a�out �hi��ren �hose �arents ha� �een ta�en 
into �are the�se��es as �hi��ren an� �hose �ran��arents �ere 
�e��ers of the �to�en 
enerationsǤ �tories a�out �hi��ren �ho 
ha� �een a�use�ǡ e��erien�e� �u�u�ati�e trau�a an� �ho �i� 
not re�ei�e ti�e�� a��ess to hea�in� an� thera�euti� res�onses 
�ere too �o��onǤ
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�here is a �o� �e�e� of A�ori�ina� �no��e��e an� �o��eten�e in 
�hi�� �rote�tionǤ �his i��a�ts �o�i��ǡ o�ersi�htǡ ��annin� an� 
�ra�ti�eǤ �he �e�art�ent an� �o��unit� ser�i�e or�anisations 
ȋrather than A�ori�ina� �o��unit� �ontro��e� or�anisationsȌ 
ha�e res�onsi�i�it� for the �are of �ost of the A�ori�ina� 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �he �e�art�ent 
nee�s to �ui�� an A�ori�ina� �or�for�e in �hi�� �rote�tionǡ �oth 
in �ea�ershi� �ositions an� front �ine staff �ho are res�onsi��e 
for the assess�entǡ inta�eǡ ��a�e�ent an� �ase ��annin� of 
A�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ �ithout this the �a�orit� of A�ori�ina� 
children and young people will continue to be denied the 
o��ortunit� to ha�e a �u�tura��� frien��� �hi�� �rote�tion ser�i�eǤ 
�n the �on�er ter�ǡ the �e�art�ent shou�� ai� to transfer the 
funded case management of all Aboriginal children to Aboriginal 
�o��unit� �ontro��e� or�anisationsǤ

�here there �ere stron� �artnershi�s an� �o��a�oration 
�et�een the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es an� 
Aboriginal community controlled organisations, the outcomes 
for �hi��ren �ere i��ro�e�Ǥ �he in�o��e�ent of A�ori�ina� 
�eo��e in ��annin� an� �e�isionǦ�a�in� �ere �e� in�re�ientsǤ 
�here �in ��a�e�ents �ere su��orte�ǡ �hi��ren �ere sta��e 
an� their �ase �as a��o�ate� to a �or�er �ho �as a�ti�e�� an� 
re�u�ar�� en�a�e�ǡ the �hi��ren �ere �ore �i�e�� to su��ee� in 
e�u�ation an� �e stron�Ǥ   

Young Aboriginal people  
standing proud
�e are ��ease� to �e�e�rate the su��ess of �oun� A�ori�ina� 
�eo��e a�on� �ith the �i�torian �o��unit�Ǥ �n a s�ee�h to 
health professionals about inspirational young people he has 
met, the Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young 
People commented that through such people he sees the future 

Ȃ an� it is �oo�Ǥ 

NAIDOC Youth Award
Ms �a��a �arter is this �earǯs �inner of the ͚͙͘͜ Mi��ura 
�A���� Youth A�ar� s�onsore� �� the �o��issionǤ �a��a is 
un�erta�in� an A	� traineeshi� at the �est�a� �an� in Mi��ura 
an� is a �reat ro�e �o�e� for her �o��unit�Ǥ

Ricci Marks Awards
�he �i��i Mar�s A�ar�s �ere�on� is �art of the annua� �oorie 
Youth �u��itǤ �he� are na�e� after a �rou� �ot�o�a�u� �an 
�ho �a�e an outstan�in� �ontri�ution in his short �ifeǤ �his 
year’s winners were Shannon Ryan, who was instrumental in 
settin� u� �i�e �� �i�e �outh su��ortǡ an� �e�anna �oo�ǡ �ho 
�or�e� ��ose�� �ith A��u�an�e �i�toria to i��ro�e �u�tura� 
sensiti�it� an� stren�then en�a�e�ent �ith ���ersǤ �he �isin� 
�tar A�ar� �as �i�en to �a�eron �a��o��eǡ �ho has sho�n 
a passion for supporting other young people around issues of 
�u�tura� i�entit�Ǥ

Mr and Miss NAIDOC 2015 
�e �ere ��ease� to �e on the �ane� for the se�e�tion of Mr 
an� Miss �A���� ͚͙͘͝Ǥ �his a�ar� re�o�nises �oun� �eo��eǯs 
�arti�i�ation an� �ea�ershi� in their �o��unitiesǤ �he �inners 
atten� an� s�ea� at a nu��er of �A���� e�ents �urin� the 
�ee� to ins�ire other �oun� �eo��eǡ te�� their stor� an� raise 
issues a�out their �o�a� �o��unit�Ǥ ���ar� �r�antǡ a Yorta Yortaǡ 

unai �an fro� �he��arton an� Moni�a M��ona��ǡ a 
unaiǡ 

un�it��ara �o�an fro� 
i��s�an� an� �rara��onǡ re�ei�e� the 
͚͙͘͝ A�ar�sǤ

Enhancing the safety and wellbeing of  
Aboriginal children and young people (continued)

48



CCYP ANNUAL REPORT 2014-2015

The Koorie Youth Summit 
�e su��orte� the �oorie Youth �u��it in Ma� ͚͙͘͝ǡ �hi�h �as 
atten�e� �� ͙͘͜ �oun� A�ori�ina� �eo��eǤ �he su��it �ha��en�e� 
the narro� �er�e�tion of �oorie �outh �ithin �o�i�� fra�e�or� 
as �ein� either �ea�ers or Ǯat ris�ǯ in fa�our of ter�ino�o�� that 
is in��usi�e an� en�o��assin�Ǥ �ther �e� areas of fo�us �ere 
�onne�tion to �u�ture an� un�erstan�in� fa�i�� �io�en�eǤ 

Youth Leadership Introduction to  
Corporate Governance 
The Commissioner for Aboriginal Children and Young People 
�or�e� �ith �i�toria �ni�ersit� to �e�i�er the Youth �ea�ershi� 
�ntro�u�tion to �or�orate 
o�ernan�eǤ 

�he trainin�ǡ �ro�i�e� o�er three �a�sǡ e���ore� effe�ti�e 
�ea�ershi�ǡ Ƥnan�ia� �ana�e�entǡ ��annin� an� �oo� �e�ision 
�a�in�Ǥ �en A�ori�ina� �outh fro� Mi��ura an� surroun�in� 
areas �o���ete� the �or�sho� an� �ere �resente� �ith 
a �ertiƤ�ate �urin� ͚͙͘͝Ǥ A se�on� �ro�ra� �i�� �e he�� in 

i��s�an� �urin� the se�on� ha�f of ͚͙͘͝Ǥ 
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We have a mandate to monitor a range of 
government strategies including Victoria’s 
Vulnerable Children Strategy, which was 
endorsed by the former government of 
Victoria.

This year the Commissioners attended meetings of the 
�hi��renǯs �er�i�es �oor�ination �oar� to �is�uss a ran�e of 
issues related to the implementation of the strategy and other 
�ho�eǦofǦ�o�ern�ent issues �ertainin� to �u�nera��e �hi��renǤ 

�he �o��ission has on�� re�ei�e� one re�ort on the �ro�ress 
of the strate��Ǥ �e ha�e sou�ht a��i�e on the i���e�entation 
of the strategy and on the preparation of data reports that were 
to �e �ro�i�e� to usǤ �e ha�e �een a��ise� thatǡ �hi�e �ro�ress 
�ontinues to �e �a�eǡ the o�erar�hin� strate�� �i�� �e re�ie�e� 
to ensure �onsisten�� �ith the ne� �o�ern�entǯs �riorities an� 
�o��it�entsǤ 

�f �arti�u�ar i��ortan�e to us is the �e�e�o��ent of ��ear an� 
a�ree� out�o�es for �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǡ 
robust and meaningful ways to measure progress against these 
outcomes and the regular reporting of data to the Commission 
an� othersǤ

Aboriginal Children’s Forum

i�en the o�era�� �outh of the A�ori�ina� �o�u�ation an� the 
e��e�te� �o�u�ation in�rease in the �o�in� �e�a�esǡ si�niƤ�ant 
ear�� inter�ention an� �re�ention �ro�ra�s are ne�essar�Ǥ �e 
nee� these if �e are to �a�e an i��a�t on the a�ar�in� �ro�th 
an� o�erǦre�resentation of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren enterin� �areǡ 
an� on a ran�e of other ris� in�i�ators in��u�in� infant �orta�it�ǡ 
�o� �irth �ei�htǡ �ha��en�in� �eha�ioursǡ �isen�a�e�ent fro� 
s�hoo�ǡ �enta� hea�thǡ ho�e�essnessǡ fa�i�� �io�en�e an� �outh 
�usti�eǤ

�n 
une ͚͙͘͝ the �onǤ 
enn� Mi�a�os M��ǡ Minister for 	a�i�ies 
and Children, announced she will chair a regular Aboriginal 
Children’s Forum that will shape policies and practices to reduce 
the nu��er of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �he 
focus will be on the participation of Aboriginal people in the 
�e�e�o��ent of �o�i�� an� ser�i�e �e�i�er�ǡ an� �ui��in� the 
�a�a�it� of A�ori�ina� �o��unities to �ana�e an� �ri�e �han�eǤ

This announcement recognises the eight sector priorities 
outlined in Koorie Kids: Strong in their CultureǤ �e ��a�e� a �ea� 
ro�e in �rin�in� the �o��unit� to�ether an� �ro�i�e� in�ut 
into the su��issionǤ �e �i�� �ontinue to a��ise an� �onitor the 
effe�ti�eness of strate�ies that �or� to�ar�s re�u�in� the o�erǦ
re�resentation of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �o�e 
of these are �es�ri�e� �e�o�Ǥ

Establish a Victorian Aboriginal  
Children’s Forum 
The Minister for Children and Families will chair quarterly 
Aboriginal Children’s Forum meetings with the community 
�o��en�in� in Au�ust ͚͙͘͝Ǥ

Develop an approach and create a 
comprehensive outcomes framework
An out�o�es ��annin� �or�in� �rou� �as esta��ishe� �� the 
�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es an� an out�o�es 
fra�e�or� for outǦofǦho�e �are has �een �e�e�o�e�Ǥ  �he 
Victorian Aboriginal Child Care Agency is in this group and the 
A�ori�ina� �hi��renǯs 	oru� �i�� �oo� at ho� this fra�e�or� 
addresses the cultural needs and rights of Aboriginal children 
an� �oun� �eo��eǤ 

Aboriginal organisations caring for  
Aboriginal children
The submission called for strengthening of Aboriginal 
families, communities and Aboriginal community controlled 
organisations to care for their children and young people and 
re�u�e the nu��er of A�ori�ina� �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ 

Victoria’s Vulnerable 
Children Strategy   
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�he �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es �o���ete� an Ǯas 
if’ section 18 trial of a number of children with the Victorian 
A�ori�ina� �hi�� �are A�en��Ǥ �e�tion ͙͠ shifts �uar�ianshi� 
fro� the �e�retar� to the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�es to the �hief e�e�uti�e oƥ�er of an A�ori�ina� 
�o��unit� �ontro��e� �r�anisationǤ �he tria� �as �ro�isin�ǡ 
�arti�u�ar�� in reunitin� �hi��ren �ho ha� �een in �are for se�era� 
�ears �ith their fa�i�� �e��ersǤ

�e are �art of the �e�tion ͙͠ �teerin� 
rou�ǡ �hi�h is no� 
discussing a trial in a regional Aboriginal community controlled 
or�anisationǤ More �or� sti�� nee�s to �e �one in this �riorit� areaǤ

Better support forAboriginal and non-Aboriginal  
carers to provide culturally competent 
placements, and maintain and grow the pool  
of Aboriginal carers
�he �o�ern�ent announ�e� ͆͛͜ �i��ion o�er four �ears for 
tar�ete� �are �a��a�es to �o�e �hi��ren out of resi�entia� �are 
an� into ho�eǦ�ase� �areǤ �he �a��a�es ai� to �ro�i�e ƪe�i��e 
��a�e�ent o�tions that i��ro�e out�o�es for �hi��ren an� the 
�arers �ho �oo� after the�Ǥ A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �ri�ar� 
s�hoo� a�e� �hi��ren are the Ƥrst �riorit�Ǥ �he �o�ern�ent has 
a�so �o��en�e� the �e�e�o��ent of a foster �are re�ruit�ent 
an� retention strate��Ǥ 

�ther �riorities i�entiƤe� in the su��ission in��u�eǣ

■■ Aboriginal children and young people in out-of-home care 
should be under the authority, care and case management 
of an A�ori�ina� �o��unit� �ontro��e� or�anisationǤ

■■ �trate�ies �ust �e i�entifie� to �ui�� the �ife s�i��s an� 
cultural identity of Aboriginal children and young people in 
outǦofǦho�e �are an� �re�are the� to �ea�e �are an� �a�e 
a su��essfu� transition to a�u�thoo�Ǥ 

■■ ��er� A�ori�ina� �hi�� an� fa�i��ǡ re�ar��ess of �here 
the� �i�e in �i�toriaǡ �ust ha�e fu�� a��ess to a ran�e of 
�re�entionǡ ear�� inter�ention an� ��a�e�ent ser�i�es 
�e�i�ere� throu�h the A�ori�ina� �o��unit� �ontro��e� 
or�anisation se�torǤ 

■■ Ensuring compliance with the Children, Youth and Families 
Act as it relates to Aboriginal children and young people and 
�a�in� re�o��en�ations to stren�then the A�tǤ

CALD Strategic Partnership 
Advisory Committee
This is a partnership between the Commission and the Ethnic 
�o��unities �oun�i� of �i�toriaǤ Me��ers in��u�e sta�eho��ers 
who are interested in collaborating on strategic responses that 
a��o� �o�ern�ent an� nonǦ�o�ern�ent a�en�ies to i��ro�e 
the �i�es of �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e fro� �u�tura��� 
an� �in�uisti�a��� �i�erse an� refu�ee �a���roun�sǤ

�he �o��ittee ai�s to ensure that �o�ern�ent strate�ies 
an� ��ans reƪe�t �u�tura� �i�ersit� an� �u�tura� �o��eten�eǤ 
�his a��roa�h ena��es a��ro�riate res�onses to the s�e�iƤ� 
challenges and concerns of many culturally and linguistically 
�i�erse an� refu�ee fa�i�iesǡ an� the �e�i�er� of o�ti�u� 
out�o�es for �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǤ  

�he �or� of the �o��ittee su��orts the a��o�a�� �or� �e �o 
towards: 

■■ a �ho�eǦofǦ�o�ern�ent �u�tura� res�onsi�eness fra�e�or� 
for �hi��Ǧre�ate� ser�i�e �e�i�er�

■■ enhanced indicators and data from Victoria’s Vulnerable 
�hi��renǯs �trate�� that is re�e�ant to �hi��ren fro� 
�u�tura��� an� �in�uisti�a��� �i�erse an� refu�ee 
�a���roun�s

■■ child safe standards that support cultural safety

■■ �hi�� �rote�tion �ata that is re�e�ant to the �u�tura� 
�a���roun� of �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e

■■ ser�i�e res�onses that su��ort �hi��ren fro� as��u� an� 
refu�ee �a���roun�sǤ  
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The Commission for Children and Young 
People Act provides the legislative mandate 
under which we conduct inquiries.

�he A�t s�e�iƤes that �e �ust �on�u�t in�uiries in re�ation to 
�hi��ren �ho ha�e �ie� �ithin ͙͚ �onths of �ein� �no�n to 
�hi�� �rote�tionǤ 

�he A�t a�so �ro�i�es that �e �a�ǡ on our o�n initiati�e or at the 
request of the Minister, conduct an inquiry in relation to:

■■ a �atter re�atin� to the safet� or �e���ein� of a �u�nera��e 
�hi�� or �oun� �erson or a �rou� of �u�nera��e �hi��ren or 
young people

■■ the �ro�ision of ser�i�es �ro�i�e� ȋor o�itte� to �e 
�ro�i�e�Ȍ  �� a �o��unit� ser�i�eǡ hea�th ser�i�eǡ hu�an 
ser�i�eǡ s�hoo�ǡ �hi�� �rote�tion ser�i�es or Youth 
usti�e 
ser�i�es �hereǡ a�on� other thin�sǡ the �o��ission 
identifies a persistent or recurring systemic issue in the 
�ro�ision of those ser�i�esǤ

��e�iƤ� �e�is�ati�e �ro�isions further �eƤne the s�o�e of the 
in�uiries an� the �ro�esses �� �hi�h the� are to �e �on�u�te�Ǥ 
�he o�erǦri�in� o��e�ti�e for a�� three t��es of in�uiries is to 
�ro�ote �ontinuous i��ro�e�ent an� inno�ation in �o�i�ies 
and practices relating to Child Protection and the safety and 
�e���ein� of �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��eǡ an� �hi��ren 
an� �oun� �eo��e �enera���Ǥ

Child death inquiries 
 We thank families, friends and professionals for their 

courage in sharing their experiences with the Commission. 
These contributions are greatly appreciated and will 
continue to help us improve the services to vulnerable 
children and families. 

 Bernie Geary OAM and Andrew Jackomos PSM

�hi�� �eath in�uiries e�a�ine the �a� in �hi�h ser�i�es �ere 
�ro�i�e� ȋor not �ro�i�e�Ȍ to i�entif� ho� �o�i�ies an� �ra�ti�es 
�an �e i��ro�e� to �etter �rote�t �hi��ren an� ensure their 
safet� an� �e���ein�Ǥ 

Children known to Child Protection 
�he �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es notiƤe� us of ͚͜ 
�eaths o��urrin� in ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝ that �ere in s�o�e for a �hi�� �eath 
in�uir�Ǥ �f those ͚͜ �eathsǡ four of the �hi��ren ȋ͙͟ �er �entȌ 
�ere A�ori�ina�Ǥ

�e �ate�orise a �eath �ase� on infor�ation fro� �hi�� 
�rote�tion ��ient Ƥ�esǡ �e�i�a� re�ortsǡ auto�s� re�ortsǡ forensi� 
re�orts an� �oronia� Ƥn�in�s ȋ�hen a�ai�a��eȌǤ �o�eti�es 
�oronia� in�esti�ations ha�e not �on��u�e� or the �ate�or� 
of �eath Ƥn�in�s re�ains �en�in�Ǥ �n other �asesǡ a Ƥn�in� 
of Ǯunas�ertaine�ǯ �a� �e �a�e �hen the �oroner is una��e 
to �eter�ine the �ause of �eathǤ �i�niƤ�ant �ariations in the 
number and categories of deaths occur, so caution is necessary 
�hen inter�retin� this �ataǤ 

Providing independent 
oversight   
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�hirteen �hi��ren ȋ͜͝ �er �entȌ �ie� as a resu�t of an a��uire� or 
�on�enita� i��nessǤ �eaths fro� e�terna� �auses su�h as a��i�entǡ 
suicide, substance use or non-accidental trauma accounted 
for ͛͜ �er �ent of �eaths in this �erio�Ǥ �f the three �eaths 
attri�ute� to a��i�entsǡ one in�o��e� a �ro�nin�ǡ one re�ate� 
to a �otor �ehi��e a��i�ent an� one to a �or���a�e a��i�entǤ 
The cause of death is not yet clear for two deaths and these are 
�ate�orise� as ǯ�en�in� �eter�inationǯǤ �a�ies an� �res�hoo� 
a�e� �hi��ren �a�e u� ͟͞ �er �ent of �eaths an� ͚͡ �er �ent of 
�eaths �ere of �oun� �eo��e a�e� �et�een ͙͛ an� ͙͟Ǥ

�he �a�orit� of �hi��ren ȋ͚͞Ǥ͝ �er �entȌ �ere the su��e�t of �hi�� 
�rote�tion in�o��e�ent at the ti�e of �eathǡ �ith �ost of these in 
the in�esti�ation an� �rote�tion or�er �hasesǤ �f the ͛͟Ǥ͝ �er �ent 
of �hi�� �eaths �here �hi�� �rote�tion �ases �ere not a�ti�e at the 
ti�e of �eathǡ �ost ha� �een ��ose� at in�esti�ation or inta�eǤ

�hree ȋ͙͛ �er �entȌ of the re�orts �ere �a�e to �hi�� �rote�tion 
after the in�ur� or in�i�ent that resu�te� in �eathǤ

Table 2: Deaths of children known to Child Protection 2014–15

CATEGORY OF DEATH BY AGE 0–5 months 6–11 months 1–3 years 4–12 years 13–17 years Total %

Illness  ͡ ͚ 0 1 1 13 54%

Accident 0 1 1 0 1 3 13%

�onǦa��i�enta� trau�a 0 0 0 0 1 1 4%

Suicide/self-harm 0 0 0 0 4 4 17%

�ru�Ȁsu�stan�e re�ate� 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

���� ȋsu��en une��e�te� 
�eath of an infantȌ 

1 0 0 0 0 1 4%

Pending determination 1 0 1 0 0 2 8%

Total 11 3 2 1 7 24 100%
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Providing independent oversight (continued)

The child death inquiry process
�e �eter�ine the �anner in �hi�h ea�h �hi�� �eath in�uir� �i�� 
�e �on�u�te� after re�ie�in� initia� re�or�s an� Ƥ�es re�ei�e� 
fro� the �e�art�entǤ �he issues i�entiƤe� sha�e the a��roa�h 
to the in�uir�ǡ in��u�in� �hi�h ser�i�es an� �rofessiona�s �i�� 
�e �onta�te� for further infor�ation an� inter�ie�sǤ �ur staff 
conduct the inquiries and confer with or engage external experts 
�here re�uire�Ǥ 

�e in�ite fa�i�� �e��ers to �arti�i�ate in the in�uir� �ro�ess 
to un�erstan� ho� ser�i�es �ere �e�i�ere� fro� their uni�ue 
�ers�e�ti�e an� to �onsi�er their in�ut a�out ho� i��ro�e�ents 
�ou�� �e �a�eǤ �e �reat�� a��re�iate the �ontri�ution of 
fa�i�� �e��ers an� �rofessiona�sǤ �earnin� fro� their �ire�t 
e��erien�e is in�a�ua��eǤ 

�hen �e �on�u�t a �hi�� �eath in�uir� in re�ation to an 
A�ori�ina� �hi��ǡ �e in�o��e an A�ori�ina� �onsu�tant in the 
in�uir� �ro�essǤ

Commission Review Committee
�he �o��ission �e�ie� �o��ittee is �a�e u� of the 
�o��issionersǡ the �hief e�e�uti�e oƥ�er an� senior staff of 
the �o��issionǡ �ho i�entif� �e� �o�i��ǡ �ro�ra� an� �ra�ti�e 
issues of �on�ernǤ �he �o��ittee re�ie�s a�� �hi�� �eath in�uiriesǡ 
as well as other inquiries we conducted, and, where appropriate, 
�a� en�orse re�o��en�ations arisin� fro� the in�uiriesǤ 

�e �re�are a re�ort for ea�h �hi�� �eath in�uir�ǡ �ro�i�e 
in�i�i�ua�sǡ �o�ern�ent �e�art�ents an� ser�i�es �ith the 
o��ortunit� to res�on� to an� a��erse �o��ent or o�inion 
an� �ro�i�e �o�ies of the Ƥna� re�ort to the �e�retar� to the 
�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es an� re�e�ant Ministers 
as re�uire� �� the A�tǤ 

�e �i�� a�so �u��ish a �etai�e� �iennia� resear�h re�ortǡ �hi�h 
will include a detailed data analysis of child death inquiry reports, 
other re�e�ant in�uiries an� resear�h �e ha�e un�erta�enǤ 

Child death inquiry reports reviewed in 2014–15
	ro� ͙ 
u�� ͚͙͘͜ to ͛͘ 
une ͚͙͘͝ the �o��ission �e�ie� 
Committee met 10 times and considered reports relating to 
͛͜ �hi��ren �ho �ere in s�o�e for a �hi�� �eath in�uir�Ǥ �ear�� 
͘͟ �er �ent of the �ases re�ie�e� re�ate� to �hi��ren �ho �ie� 
�et�een 
anuar� ͚͙͛͘ an� ͛͘ 
une ͚͙͘͝Ǥ

�i� of the �hi�� �eath in�uir� re�orts re�ie�e� re�ate� to 
A�ori�ina� �hi��renǤ

�f the ͛͜ �hi�� �eath in�uiries re�ie�e� in this �erio�ǡ ͙͟ ȋ͘͜ 
�er �entȌ �ie� as a resu�t of an a��uire� or �on�enita� i��nessǤ 
	ourteen ȋ͛͛ �er �entȌ of these �hi��ren ha� a �i�ite� �ife 
e��e�tan��Ǥ �en �hi��ren ȋ͚͛ �er �entȌ s�ent their short �i�es in 
hos�ita�Ǥ  

�eaths fro� e�terna� �auses su�h as a��i�entǡ sui�i�e or nonǦ
a��i�enta� trau�a a��ounte� for ͙͟ �eaths ȋ͘͜ �er �entȌ in 
the re�orts re�ie�e� in this �erio�Ǥ �hree of the ei�ht �eaths 
attri�ute� to a��i�ents in�o��e� �ar a��i�entsǡ t�o re�ate� to 
ho�e �ro�nin�ǡ t�o �ere �ho�in� �eaths an� one re�ate� to 
ƤreǤ  �here �ere four �eaths fro� sui�i�e in this �ohort of �hi�� 
�eath in�uiries re�ie�e�Ǥ �e�en �hi�� �eaths ȋ͙͞ �er �entȌ �ere 
�ate�orise� as su��en une��e�te� �eath of an infant ȋ����Ȍ 
�ith three of these attri�ute� to ���� an� four �here the 
�oroner �as una��e to �eter�ine the �ause of �eathǤ �n si� of the 
se�en �eaths attri�ute� to ���� there �as a histor� of unsafe 
s�ee�in�Ǥ 

�he �a�orit� of �hi��ren ȋ͘͞ �er �entȌ �ere the su��e�t of �hi�� 
�rote�tion in�o��e�ent at the ti�e of �eath �ith �ost of these 
in the in�esti�ation �hase or �rote�ti�e inter�ention �haseǤ 
�f the �hi�� �eaths �here the �hi�� �rote�tion �ases �ere 
��ose� at the ti�e of �eathǡ �ost ha� �een ��ose� at inta�e or 
in�esti�ationǤ  

Themes identified from child death inquiries 
considered in 2014–15
�onsistent �ith our �e�is�ati�e �an�ateǡ our �hi�� �eath in�uiries 
ta�e a �roa� �ie� of the �a� in �hi�h ser�i�es �ere �ro�i�e� 
throu�hout the �ife of the �hi��Ǥ �e �o not �onƤne our re�ie�s to 
the ser�i�es �e�i�ere� i��e�iate�� �efore the �hi�� �ie�ǡ so an� 
issues i�entiƤe� shou�� not �e inter�rete� as �ein� asso�iate� 
�ith the �ir�u�stan�es of the �eathǤ �t is not our ro�e to 
determine the cause of death or to determine whether anyone is 
�e�a��� res�onsi��e for the �eathǤ �hose are fun�tions e�er�ise� 
�� the �oronerǯs �ourt an� other �u�i�ia� �o�iesǤ  

�he ina�e�uate �ra�ti�es i�entiƤe� in �an� of the �ases 
�onsi�ere� �� the �o��ission �e�ie� �o��ittee in ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝ 
are si�i�ar to those �re�ious�� hi�h�i�hte� �� the �o��ission 
an� the for�er �i�torian �hi�� �eath �e�ie� �o��itteeǤ �a��e ͛ 
�ro�i�es a su��ar� of the issuesǡ an� �e� the�es are �is�usse� 
in �ore �etai� �e�o�Ǥ

�e a�so note� e�a���es of �oo� �ra�ti�e �ith e�e�ents of 
soun� �ra�ti�e s�e�iƤ�a��� note� in ͙͟ �hi�� �eath in�uiries ȋ͘͜ 
�er �entȌǤ As in �re�ious �earsǡ �oo� �ra�ti�e �as often note� in 
�ases �here si�niƤ�ant hea�th issues ha� �een i�entiƤe� an� a 
nu��er of those �hi��ren re�aine� in hos�ita� fro� �irthǤ
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�a��e ͛ǣ ��a��i�e i���e� an� ��e�e� i�en�iƤe� in ��i�� �ea�� in��i�y �e�o��� �on�i�e�e� �y ��e  
Commission Review Committee in 2014–15

THEME TYPES OF PRACTICE ISSUES NUMBER OF 
RELEVANT CASES

PERCENTAGE OF 
RELEVANT CASES

�is� assess�ent 

• absence of analysis
Ȉ hi�h ris� status not i�entiƤe�
Ȉ insuƥ�ient �onta�t �ith ��ientȀfa�i�� o�erǦre�ian�e on in�ut 

of other professionals/agencies  

͚͟ 63

�er�i�e �oor�ination  
and collaboration 

• absences of case conferences
• unclear roles/responsibilities 
Ȉ a �a�� of share� un�erstan�in� of �ase �ire�tion
Ȉ a �a�� of effe�ti�e intera�en�� �o��uni�ationȀ�o��a�oration

͚͚ ͙͝

Information gathering  

• family history not obtained 
Ȉ �ase Ƥ�es not a�e�uate�� �onsi�ere�
Ȉ insuƥ�ient �onta�t �ith �hi��Ȁfa�i��
• interstate information not incorporated 
Ȉ �arer �a���roun� not a�e�uate�� �onsi�ere�

͚͘ 47

Case closure 

• premature case closure
• inadequate closure plan
• absence of case closure meeting with agencies
Ȉ ��ose� �rior to effe�ti�e en�a�e�ent of ser�i�es

17 40

Case management 

Ȉ �a�� of �ase �ro�ress
Ȉ �u�ti��e �or�er in�o��e�ent
Ȉ �a�� of a��o�ation of �or�er 
• inability to facilitate case plan goals
Ȉ ina�e�uate en�a�e�ent of �or�er �ith ��ientȀfa�i�� 
Ȉ insuƥ�ient un�erstan�in�Ȁana��sisȀ�onitorin� of �ase issues

͙͝ ͛͝

Case planning  

Ȉ �a�� of �u�tura� ��annin�
Ȉ �a�� of �on�Ǧter� ��annin�
Ȉ �a�� of shortǦter� ��annin�
Ȉ �a�� of a��ro�riate �ase ��anǡ ina�e�uate re�ie� of �ase ��an

11 ͚͞

Record management 

• inadequate case recording
• client information system case recording issues
Ȉ �e� �ata on re�ate� �erson Ƥ�es not on ��ient Ƥ�e 
Ȉ �a�� of e�i�en�e �resente� to su�stantiate assess�ent

8 ͙͡

 
�o�eǣ �n �o�e �a�e� ����i��e ��e�e� �e�e i�en�iƤe�
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Providing independent oversight (continued)

Information gathering, risk assessment and 
case closure
�e i�entiƤe� issues re�atin� to the ��ose�� inter�in�e� areas 
of infor�ation �atherin�ǡ ris� assess�ent an� �ase ��osureǤ 
�n so�e �asesǡ re�eate� �ase ��osures at inta�e �eant that 
�or�ers ha� �ini�a� or no �onta�t �ith the fa�i�� or the �hi��Ǥ 
�his �i�ite� the �atherin� of �ru�ia� infor�ationǤ A �a�� of 
information gathering can lead to inadequate assessments and 
an un�eresti�ation of the ris� to the �hi��Ǥ

�n �an� of the �ases re�ie�e�ǡ �u�ti��e re�orts �ere �a�e to 
Child Protection without resulting in adequate assessment and 
sustaine� inter�entionǤ �ne �oun� �erson �as the su��e�t of ͚͘ 
re�ortsǡ �e�innin� �hen he �as an infantǤ �f these re�ortsǡ ͙͝ 
�ere ��ose� at inta�eǤ

	or so�e �earsǡ �hi�� �rote�tion has i�entiƤe� effe�ti�e 
res�onses to �u�u�ati�e har� as a �riorit�Ǥ Yet �e �ontinue to 
see e�a���es of su�erƤ�ia� ris� assess�ents �ith an e�iso�i� 
rather than a ho�isti� fo�usǤ �n so�e �asesǡ the �re�ious �attern 
an� histor� in fa�i�ies in�i�ate� that �rote�ti�e issues ha� 
�een �on�stan�in� an� �ere �i�e�� to �e re�eate�ǡ �es�ite 
re�ent ��ai�s �� �arents that �atters ha� �een a��resse�Ǥ �he 
fo��o�in� �uotes fro� in�uir� re�orts i��ustrate this issueǤ

 Subsequent closures at the intake phase meant no direct 
contact (with the family), which further reduced the capacity 
of Child Protection to astutely assess risk and the likelihood 
of cumulative harm to the children.

	 One	five	year	old,	who	despite	a	history	of	reports	relating	to	
his health, family violence, parental mental health and drug 
and alcohol concerns, parenting and care arrangements, 
was under-assessed by Child Protection regarding the 
potential cumulative impact on the children. There was no 
direct follow up with the family or services.   

 Child Protection records included many indications of an 
episodic and occasional view of the family’s life. Assessment 
that is based only on a very brief snapshot is unlikely to come 
across signs of cumulative harm. Further, when there is no 
direct observation of children by Child Protection, reported 
signs of deterioration in development or behaviours can be 
under-rated.

Service coordination and collaboration
�f the ͛͜ in�uir� re�orts �onsi�ere� �� the �o��ission 
�e�ie� �o��itteeǡ ͚͚ hi�h�i�hte� issues re�atin� to ser�i�e 
coordination, collaboration, communication, information 
sharin� an� �a�� of �ase �onferen�esǤ �hese areas of �ra�ti�e 
ha�e �een i�entiƤe� as si�niƤ�ant �ha��en�es for �an� �earsǤ 

�he fo��o�in� �hi�� �eath in�uir� �on�u�te� in ͚͙͘͜ 
�e�onstrates that the issue re�ains �urrentǤ

Case example: ‘Tyler’

���er �as Ƥrst re�orte� to �hi�� �rote�tion in ͙͡͡͠ an� ͙͙ 
ti�es thereafterǤ �he Ƥrst �ase �onferen�e �as he�� in ͚͙͙͘Ǥ �t 
a��eare� to �e the on�� o��asion �hen ser�i�e �ro�i�ers �a�e 
to�ether to share infor�ationǡ �o��uni�ate as a ser�i�e s�ste� 
an� �o��a�orateǤ

�er�i�es �i� not �or� ��ose�� to�ether an� there �as no for�a��� 
�oine� u� effortǤ �o ser�i�e or �rofessiona� too� the �ea� to 
esta��ish a net�or� to ensure ���erǯs safet� an� �e���ein�Ǥ 
�or�in� in �artnershi� �as not a�hie�e� �es�ite this a��roa�h 
�ein� �e�� un�erstoo� as the �asis for effe�ti�e �ra�ti�e �ith 
�o���e� �ases an� �u�ti��e ser�i�e �ro�i�ersǤ

A�tion �as not ta�en to fa�i�itate sharin� of infor�ation a�ross 
in�o��e� ser�i�es or to initiate a share� a��roa�h to ��annin� 
an� �o��a�orationǤ A �rofessiona�sǯ �eetin� �as not �on�ene� to 
�oin u� the efforts of ���erǯs s�hoo�ǡ �isa�i�it� ser�i�es �ro�i�ersǡ 
oƥ�e of housin�ǡ the re�e�ant 
� an� other �e�i�a� ser�i�esǤ

���erǯs �ae�iatri�ian further a��ise� that he ha� ne�er �een 
contacted by Child Protection about Tyler and did not become 
a�are of their in�o��e�ent unti� after the �eathǤ 

Tyler’s school reported that Child Protection do not treat them 
as Ǯ�artnersǯ �ho �an �ontri�ute to un�erstan�in� an� ��annin� 
for �hi��ren an� fa�i�ies �ho� the� �no�Ǥ �he s�hoo� �ou�� 
ha�e a��re�iate� �ein� in�o��e� in �ase ��annin� or �are tea� 
�eetin�s �ith �hi�� �rote�tion an� other ser�i�esǡ �ut in�i�ate� 
this does not generally happen and it did not happen in relation 
to ���erǯs fa�i��Ǥ

As note� a�o�eǡ the the�e of effe�ti�e �o��a�oration �et�een 
statutor� �hi�� �rote�tion ser�i�es an� the asso�iate� 
ser�i�e s�ste� re�ains a �ha��en�eǤ �n�uiries nationa��� an� 
internationally highlight this core issue that persists throughout 
the �erio�s of re�ie�sǤ
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Recommendations
�he �o��ission �e�ie� �o��ittee Ƥna�ise� ͙͘ 
re�o��en�ations an� �ro�i�e� these to the Minister for 
�o��unit� �er�i�es an� the �e�retar� to the �e�art�ent 
of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǤ �he re�o��en�ations fo�us on 
opportunities to enhance practices and procedures within Child 
�rote�tion an� other ser�i�es for �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� �oun� 
�eo��eǤ �he t�o e�a���es �e�o� i��ustrate the re�o��en�ations 
an� res�onses to the�Ǥ

High-risk infants

�e re�o��en�e� that �hi�� �rote�tion a�en� its �ra�ti�e 
a��i�e in re�ation to hi�hǦris� infantsǤ ��ear �ui�e�ines for the 
�onsi�eration of re�o�in� a hi�hǦris� status fro� infants shou�� 
include:

■■ �o�u�ente� �e�isionǦ�a�in� �onsu�tations �ith s�e�ia�ist 
�or�ers 

■■ rationales recorded in client relationship information 
s�ste�Ǥ 

�he �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es has a��ise� that it 
a��e�ts this re�o��en�ationǤ

Aboriginal intensive case management services

�e re�o��en�e� that the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�es �or�s �ith A�ori�ina� �o��unit� or�anisations an� the 
�o��ission to un�erta�e a for�a� �ro�ess to e���ore the �erits 
of esta��ishin� �i�isiona� A�ori�ina� intensi�e �ase �ana�e�ent 
ser�i�es to �eet the nee�s of hi�hǦris� A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� 
�oun� �eo��eǤ 

�he �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es has a��ise� that it 
a��e�ts this re�o��en�ationǤ

Sharing what we learn from our child death 
inquiries
Child death inquiry reports contain personal information about 
the child who has died and their family and carers, as well as 
infor�ation a�out the ser�i�es �ro�i�e�Ǥ �he �o��ission for 
�hi��ren an� Youn� �eo��e A�t in��u�es �ro�isions to �rote�t 
the �onƤ�entia�it� of these re�ortsǤ �e�orts are �ro�i�e� to the 
�e�retar� to the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es an� 
re�e�ant �inistersǤ

�e �ra� u�on the Ƥn�in�s an� re�o��en�ations of these 
in�uiries in our �roa�er a��i�e �or�ǡ an� �e �arti�i�ate in a 
ran�e of foru�s �ith �hi�� �rote�tion �or�ers to �o��uni�ate 
�hat �e ha�e �earne�Ǥ 	or e�a���eǡ one of our staff �arti�i�ate� 
on t�o hi�hǦris� infant �ane�sǡ an� another �resente� our 
Ƥn�in�s on �u�u�ati�e har� to senior �hi�� �rote�tion staffǤ 

�n �o�e��er ͚͙͘͜ǡ the �ana�er of our �n�uiries an� ��ste�i� 
�efor� �nit �a�e a �resentation at the fourth Austra�asian 
�onferen�e on �hi�� �eath �n�uiries an� �e�ie�sǤ �er 
presentation highlighted the Victorian system for conducting 
�hi�� �eath in�uiries an� ho� �e �or� to a�hie�e out�o�es that 
�a�e a �ifferen�eǤ
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Commission-initiated inquiries 
“. . . as a good parent would . . .”

�n Mar�h ͚͙͘͜ǡ �e initiate� an in�uir� into the a�e�ua�� of the 
�ro�ision of resi�entia� �are ser�i�es to �i�torian �hi��ren �ho 
ha�e �een su��e�t to se�ua� a�use or se�ua� e���oitation �hi�st 
resi�in� in resi�entia� �areǤ

�e �i� this �e�ause of our �ra�e �on�erns a�out the on�oin� 
ina�e�ua�ies of s�ste�i� res�onses to �re�entin� an� 
responding to the occurrence of sexual abuse and sexual 
e���oitation of �hi��ren in resi�entia� �areǤ 

�e sou�ht a��i�e an� infor�ation fro� the se�tor an� the 
�roa�er �o��unit� an� a�so in�ite� �eo��e �ith �ersona� 
e��erien�e to �a�e a �ire�t su��issionǤ �e ana��se� ͙͠͡ 
�ate�or� �ne ��ient in�i�ent re�orts o�er a ͙͚Ǧ�onth 
period, relating to alleged reports of sexual abuse and sexual 
e���oitation of ͙͞͞ in�i�i�ua� �hi��ren in resi�entia� �areǤ �o�e 
of these �hi��ren �ere as �oun� as se�enǡ an� ͚͜ �hi��ren �ere 
su��e�t to �u�ti��e re�ortsǤ

�es�ite �ata irre�u�aritiesǡ �e foun� that the s�a�e of �hi��Ǧ
to-child sexual abuse and external predators abusing children 
�as a�ar�in�Ǥ �taffǦtoǦ�hi�� se�ua� a�use �i� not feature at 
the same rate, but was nonetheless extremely concerning and 
una��e�ta��eǤ

The inquiry report, “. . . as a good parent would . . .”, details 
our Ƥn�in�s an� re�o��en�ationsǤ �he tit�e is �ra�n fro� 
the language of section 174 of the Children, Youth and Families 
A�tǡ �hi�h re�uires the �e�retar� to the �e�art�ent of �ea�th 
Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es to �ro�i�e Ǯfor the �h�si�a�ǡ inte��e�tua�ǡ 
e�otiona� an� s�iritua� �e�e�o��entǯ of �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e 
�are Ǯin the sa�e �a� as a �oo� �arent �ou��ǯǤ 

�he re�ort in��u�es re�o��en�ations to �o�ern�ent for the 
re�e�e�o��ent of resi�entia� �are to i��ro�e safet� for �hi��renǤ 
Following the tabling of the report in the Victorian Parliament, 
we will closely monitor the response to and implementation of 
any reforms and will continue to hold the system accountable for 
these �u�nera��e �hi��renǤ

Inquiry into compliance with the intent of the 
Aboriginal Child Placement Principle
�e �o��en�e� an in�uir� into �o���ian�e �ith the intent of 
the Aboriginal Child Placement Principle included in section 13 of 
the �hi��renǡ Youth an� 	a�i�ies A�tǤ 

The Aboriginal Child Placement Principle is a nationally 
recognised principle that is incorporated into the law of most 
Austra�ian �uris�i�tions to �ui�e �hi�� �rote�tion �ra�ti�eǤ �he 
�rin�i��e a��or�s �ith �e� hu�an ri�hts instru�entsǡ in��u�in� 
the �nite� �ations �e��aration on the �i�hts of �n�i�enous 
�eo��esǤ

�he �harter of �u�an �i�hts an� �es�onsi�i�ities in��u�es 
s�e�iƤ� re�o�nition of the �istin�t �u�tura� ri�hts of A�ori�ina� 
�eo��esǡ in��u�in� the ri�ht to en�o� their i�entit� an� �u�ture 
an� to �aintain their �inshi� tiesǤ

�e�tion ͙͛ of the �hi��renǡ Youth an� 	a�i�ies A�t �ro�i�es 
that the a��i�e of the re�e�ant A�ori�ina� a�en�� �ust �e 
ta�en into a��ount �hen an A�ori�ina� �hi�� is to �e ��a�e� in 
outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �n a��itionǡ re�ar� �ust �e �i�en to s�e�iƤ� 
criteria included in the Act that emphasise the importance of 
maintaining the child’s connection with their family, community, 
�u�ture an� i�entit�Ǥ

�he �rin�i��eǡ in �on�un�tion �ith other �arts of the A�tǡ is 
designed to ensure that Aboriginal children in out-of-home 
�are �aintain an� �e�e�o� their A�ori�ina� i�entit� an� re�ain 
�onne�te� to their A�ori�ina� fa�i��ǡ �o��unit� an� �u�tureǤ 
�he A�ori�ina� �hi�� ��a�e�ent �rin�i��e has �een a si�niƤ�ant 
�oint of �is�ussion �urin� �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘Ǥ

The inquiry we are conducting will examine and report on:

■■ the �urrent �e�e� of �o���ian�e �ith the intent of the 
Aboriginal Child Placement Principle 

■■ identification of systemic barriers to compliance with the 
intent of the principle

■■ re�o��en�ations for s�ste�i� �han�es to i��ro�e 
�o���ian�e �ith the intent of the �rin�i��eǤ

�e anti�i�ate the in�uir� �i�� �e �o���ete� at the en� of 
͚͙͘͝ǡ after �hi�h the re�ort �i�� �e ta��e� in the �i�torian 
�ar�ia�entǤ �e �i�� �onitor the �o�ern�entǯs res�onse to an� 
i���e�entation of the re�o��en�ationsǤ 

Providing independent oversight (continued)
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Systemic inquiry into services provided to 
Aboriginal children and young people in out-of-
home care in Victoria.
�e are �on�u�tin� a s�ste�i� in�uir� in re�ation to the �ro�ision 
of ser�i�es to A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in outǦofǦ
ho�e �areǤ �he s�o�e an� �on�u�t of the in�uir� are a�i�ne� 
�ith the �or� �ein� un�erta�en as �art of �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘Ǥ 

The inquiry will include consideration of the adequacy and 
a��ro�riateness of ser�i�es �ro�i�e� ȋor not �ro�i�e�Ȍ to 
Aboriginal children and young people within the scope of the 
inquiry in relation to:

■■ case planning, stability planning and cultural planning 

■■ the a���i�ation of �oo�in� After �hi��ren �are ��ans an� 
placement planning processes

■■ health, mental health, education and drug and alcohol 
ser�i�es �ithin the �onte�t of outǦofǦho�e �are

■■ the intera�tion �et�een �e�art�entsǡ a�en�ies an� ser�i�e 
�ro�i�ers an� ho� these se�tors �or� to ensure that the 
�rou� re�ei�e a��ro�riate e�u�ationa�ǡ hea�th an� so�ia� 
opportunities 

■■ the �ro�ision of ser�i�es in su��ortin� �oun� �eo��e in their 
transition to in�e�en�ent �i�in�Ǥ

�sin� Ƥ�e re�ie�sǡ �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ �ataǡ �is�ussions �ith 
�e�art�ents an� other re�e�ant a�en�iesǡ �e �i�� �ro�i�e an 
opportunity for children, their families and carers to share their 
�i�e� e��erien�eǤ

�e ai� to �on��u�e this in�uir� in ear�� ͚͙͘͞Ǥ  

Individual inquiry – ‘Xavier’ 

In accordance with section 37 of the Commission for Children 
and Young People Act, we commenced an inquiry into the safety 
an� �e���ein� of a �u�nera��e �hi��Ǥ �he in�uir� is e�a�inin� the 
ser�i�es �ro�i�e� or not �ro�i�e� to a ͙͚Ǧ�earǦo�� A�ori�ina� 
�o�ǡ �a�ierǡ an� his e��erien�es �ith the �hi�� �rote�tion an� 
Youth 
usti�e s�ste�s fro� his Ƥrst �onta�t �ith �hi�� �rote�tion 
at the age of four months to the end of the inquiry period in 

anuar� ͚͙͘͝Ǥ  

As �art of this in�uir� �ro�essǡ �e ha�e re�ie�e� Ƥ�es he�� �� 
the �e�art�ent in re�ation to �a�ier an� inter�ie�e� �a�ierǡ 
se�era� of his fa�i�� �e��ers an� �ore than ͙͝ �eo��e in�o��e� 
�ith his �areǤ �e anti�i�ate the in�uir� �i�� �e �o���ete� in the 
�atter ha�f of ͚͙͘͝ an� the �onƤ�entia� in�uir� re�ort �i�� then 
�e �resente� to re�e�ant �inisters an� the �e�retar� to the 
�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�esǤ 
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The Commission for Children and Young 
People Act empowers the Commission to:

■■ �ro�ote the �ro�ision of outǦofǦho�e �are ser�i�es that 
en�oura�e the a�ti�e �arti�i�ation of �hi��ren in the �a�in� 
of decisions that affect them

■■ �ro�i�e a��i�e to the Minister for �o��unit� �er�i�es 
an� the �e�retar� to the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�es on the �erfor�an�e of outǦofǦho�e �are ser�i�esǤ

As �es�ri�e� in other se�tions of this re�ortǡ �e �ro�ote the �oi�e 
of children and young people in out-of-home care, monitor the 
ser�i�es an� �ro�i�e a��i�e throu�h ourǣ

■■ in�e�en�ent �isitor �ro�ra�s

■■ re�ie� of �ate�or� �ne ��ient in�i�ent re�orts

■■ participation in out-of-home care forums

■■ resear�h �artnershi�s an� re�ie� an� ana��sis of �ata 

■■ en�a�e�ent �ith ser�i�esǡ �arersǡ �hi��ren an� �oun� 
�eo��eǤ

�he �hrase Ǯas a �oo� �arent �ou��ǯǡ �ra�n fro� se�tion ͙͟͜ of 
the �hi��renǡ Youth an� 	a�i�ies A�t �ro�i�es a usefu� �en�h�ar� 
for �u�h of the �or� �e �o �onitorin� this ser�i�e s�ste�Ǥ �ur 
�or� in re�ation to a��o�atin� for i��ro�e�ents to �ea�in� �are 
��ans an� a��ess to hea�th ser�i�es e�e���iƤes ho� �e use our 
legislated monitoring functions to identify opportunities for 
�ontinuous i��ro�e�ent an� inno�ationǤ 

Leaving care plans
�e �e�ie�e that Ǯa �oo� �arent �ou��ǯ e�ui� �hi��ren an� �oun� 
�eo��e �ith the �ife s�i��s re�uire� for in�e�en�ent �i�in� an� 
su��ort the� as the� e��ar� on that �ourne�Ǥ �i�i�ar�� the 
�harter for �hi��ren an� Youn� �eo��e in �utǦofǦho�e �are 
�ro�ises �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e Ǯhe�� in �re�arin� ��se�f to 
�ea�e �are an� su��ort after � �ea�e �areǯǤ 

The Children, Youth and Families Act states that support for 
�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �ea�in� �are �an �e �ro�i�e� u� unti� 
the a�e of ͚͙Ǥ �his is �u�h �oun�er than the a�e of ͚͝ǡ �hi�h is 
no�inate� �� other states an� territories for �ostǦ�are su��ortǤ 

�ur �is�ussions �ith �oun� �eo��e an� those �ho �are for the� 
ha�e i�entiƤe� a ran�e of �on�erns a�out �ea�in� �are ��ans an� 
su��ortǤ

■■ �ne �oun� �o�anǡ �e�� �efore her ͙͠th �irth�a�ǡ 
in�i�ate� she fe�t Ǯ�u��e�ǯ out of a �arin� en�iron�ent 
to an unsatisfactory lead tenant option because there was 
pressure to place another young person where she had 
�een �i�in�Ǥ 

■■ A young person indicated her feeling of impending 
�rofoun� �one�iness an� iso�ation in the �o�e to her �ostǦ
�are en�iron�entǤ 

■■ �on�erne� �or�ers in�i�ate� their �is�a� at a ͙͝Ǧ�earǦo�� 
young person transitioning inappropriately to a lead tenant 
arran�e�entǡ �hi�h ine�ita��� an� �re�i�ta��� �ro�e �o�nǤ

■■ A teena�e �ir� in�i�ate� a�ar� that her �ea�in� �are o�tions 
in��u�e� �is�ussions �ith the ho�e�essness ser�i�e net�or� 
Ȃ a ��an to transition fro� �are to ho�e�essnessǤ

�e ha�e i�entiƤe� �ea�in� �are ��ans an� su��ort after �are as �e� 
�riorities for �onitorin� into the futureǤ

Monitoring strategy and 
out-of-home care services
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Access to health services
Most �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �ho �i�e in outǦofǦho�e �are 
ha�e e��erien�e� serious har�Ǥ �his has often in��u�e� a fai�ure 
to atten� to their �asi� hea�th �are nee�sǤ �f �reater �on�ernǡ 
ho�e�erǡ is that so�e �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �are �o not a��a�s 
re�ei�e �ro��t attention to their hea�th �are nee�sǤ �i�e�� a��ess 
to appropriate health care is fundamental to ensuring that children 
in outǦofǦho�e �are re�ei�e a �e�e� of �are that is �onsistent �ith 
�o��unit� e��e�tations an� their �ost �asi� hu�an ri�htsǤ �arers 
ha�e a��ise� us that the fai�ure to �ro�i�e �ro��t �e�i�a� �are is 
so�eti�es �ue to �e�a�s in re�ei�in� fun�in� fro� the �e�art�ent 
of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es an� �on� �u��i� �aitin� �istsǤ 

�hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e �ho �i�e in outǦofǦho�e �are shou�� 
not �e su��e�te� to these �a�ariesǤ �he� shou�� ha�e a��ess to 
a Ǯ�o�� �assǯ a��roa�h to the treat�ent of their �enta�ǡ hearin�ǡ 
si�htǡ s�ee�hǡ an� �enta� hea�th nee�sǤ 

�here ha�e �een �an� �is�ussions �ith state an� fe�era� 
�e�art�ents o�er a nu��er of �ears a�out reso��in� these 
�on�ernsǤ More re�ent��ǡ a �ar�e �o��unit�Ǧ�in�e� hea�th 
insurance company approached the Commission, the 
�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es an� �o��unit� ser�i�es 
or�anisations to �is�uss inno�ati�e a��roa�hes to reso��in� these 
hea�th �are �ha��en�esǤ �e inten� to a�ti�e�� �ursue the �is�ussion 
for the sa�e an� �eneƤt of e�er� �hi�� in �areǤ 

Review of Category One  
client incident reports 
�he �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es re�uires a�� fun�e� 
ser�i�e �ro�i�ers to �o���� �ith its ��ient in�i�ent �ana�e�ent 
an� re�ortin� �ro�essesǤ A ��ient in�i�ent re�ort is re�uire� for a�� 
�riti�a� in�i�ents in�o��in� or i��a�tin� u�on �hi��ren that o��ur at 
the ser�i�e or �urin� ser�i�e �e�i�er�Ǥ �he �e�art�ent �onsi�ers 
that at the time of the report being made, such incidents are 
a��e�ations on��Ǥ

�he �ost serious in�i�entsǡ referre� to as �ate�or� �neǡ �on�ern 
a��e�ations in re�ation to in�i�ents that ha�eǡ or �ou��ǡ resu�t in a 
serious outcome or trauma such as:

■■ the death of a child

■■ serious physical assault 

■■ sexual assault 

■■ in�ur� to a �hi�� or �oun� �erson 

■■ drug use that is life threatening, results in loss of 
consciousness or results in hospitalisation

■■ �hi��ren en�a�in� in �eha�iour that isǡ or has the �otentia� 
to be, a threat to their life, or to others

■■ �oor �ua�it� of �are �� �are�i�ers or staff that i��a�ts on a 
�hi��ǯs �e���ein�ǡ hea�th or �e�e�o��entǤ

�hen an in�i�ent o��ursǡ �ire�tǦ�are staff res�on� to the 
i��e�iate nee�s of the �hi��Ǥ �enior staff �ithin the �e�art�ent 
of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es re�ei�e the �ate�or� �ne ��ient 
in�i�ent re�orts in or�er to ensure a��ro�riate ste�s are ta�en 
to respond to the needs of the children directly impacted by the 
incident, identify broader issues impacting on the quality of the 
�are �ro�i�e� an� ta�e re�e�ia� a�tion �here re�uire�Ǥ

61



�he �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es �ro�i�es us �ith 
�o�ies of �ate�or� �ne ��ient in�i�ent re�orts re�atin� to �hi��ren 
�ho �i�e in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ �utǦofǦho�e �are ser�i�es in��u�e 
resi�entia� �areǡ ho�e �ase� �are an� �inshi� �areǤ As note� 
ear�ier in this re�ortǡ �e �o not �urrent�� re�ei�e �ate�or� �ne 
client incident reports for children and young people in Youth 

usti�e �entresǤ

�e ana��se the re�orts re�atin� to �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �are to 
monitor and identify emerging or recurring themes, trends and 
issues and to inform discussions and recommendations about 
the �a� the ser�i�e s�ste� �an �e i��ro�e�Ǥ �n a��itionǡ in �ases 
�here �e i�entif� si�niƤ�ant �on�erns a�out an in�i�ent or the 
response to it, discussion occurs with the senior departmental 
staff �ho are u�ti�ate�� res�onsi��e for ensurin� the safet� an� 
�e���ein� of the �hi��ren entruste� to the �are of the stateǤ 

�he �onitorin� of �ate�or� �ne ��ient in�i�ent re�orts �ro�i�es 
us �ith �ita� infor�ation a�out the �a�a�it� of the outǦofǦho�e 
care system to nurture and protect the safety and wellbeing of 
�hi��renǤ �he re�orts an� the res�onses to the in�i�ents �es�ri�e� 
in the� re�ea� the i��a�t of the trau�a an� a�use �an� �hi��ren 
e��erien�e �rior to �o�in� into �areǡ the �iƥ�u�ties an� �i�e��as 
for carers and the limitations of the current out-of-home care 
s�ste�Ǥ 

�ur re�ie� of �ate�or� �ne ��ient in�i�ent re�orts has a�so 
hi�h�i�hte� a �a�� of �onsisten�� in the �a� in �hi�h �ifferent 
a�en�ies an� areas of the �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an 
�er�i�es �ate�orise an� res�on� to in�i�entsǤ 	urtherǡ �e ha�e 
i�entiƤe� that the �a�erǦ�ase� in�i�ent re�ortin� s�ste� is 
out�ate�ǡ ineƥ�ient an� o�en to �isinter�retationǤ �t �oes not 
a�e�uate�� �a�ture the �oi�e of the �hi�� an� �a��s an effe�ti�e 
fee��a�� �oo�Ǥ �e ha�e re�o��en�e� that the �e�art�ent of 
�ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es u��ra�eǡ as a �riorit�ǡ to an inte�rate� 
electronic incident reporting system that records outcomes of 
allegations, encourages the participation of children in the process 
an� a��o�s a��urate �ata �o��e�tion an� rea�Ǧti�e ana��sesǤ

	ro� ͙ 
u�� ͚͙͘͜ to ͛͘ 
une ͚͙͘͝ �e re�ei�e� o�er ͚͘͘͘ �ate�or� 
�ne ��ient in�i�ent re�orts re�atin� to �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e 
�are fro� the �e�art�entǤ �hese re�orts �ontain re�or�s of �ore 
than ͛͘͘͘ in�i�i�ua� �hi��ren ȋ��ient in�i�ent re�orts �an re�ate to 
�u�ti��e �hi��ren �er re�ortȌǤ �urin� this �erio�ǡ ͙͛͛͘ �hi��ren �ere 
the su��e�t of one or �ore �ate�or� �ne ��ient in�i�ent re�ortsǤ 

�he �ar�est �ro�ortion of ��ient in�i�ent re�orts re�ei�e�ǡ re�ate� 
to children who reside in residential care, despite this being the 
s�a��est �ro�ortion of �areǤ 

The Report on Government Services 2015 notes that in Victoria, 
se�en �er �ent of a�� �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �are �i�e� in resi�entia� 
�areǤ �his �earǡ ͞͝ �er �ent of the �ate�or� �ne ��ient in�i�ent 
re�orts re�ie�e� �� us in�o��e� �hi��ren �i�in� in resi�entia� �areǤ 

	ro� our re�ie� of the in�i�ent re�orts �e re�ei�e� �e note� 
that:

■■ of those incident reports classified as allegations of 
ina��ro�riate se�ua� �eha�iourǡ se�ua� e���oitationǡ  
an� se�ua� assau�tǡ �ore than ͞͝ �er �ent in�o��e� �hi��ren 
residing in residential care

■■ of those incident reports classified as suicide or self-harm 
in�i�entsǡ a��ro�i�ate�� ͘͠ �er �ent in�o��e� �hi��ren 
residing in residential care

■■ of those incidents classified as absent or missing person, 
a�out ͟͝ �er �ent in�o��e� �hi��ren resi�in� in resi�entia� 
care 

■■ of those incidents classified as physical assault, about  
͝͝ �er �ent in�o��e� �hi��ren resi�in� in resi�entia� �areǤ

Figure 2: Category One client incident reports by placement 
type 2014–15

22%  Home-based care
9%    Kinship care 
4%    Othe placement types

65%  Residential care 
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Figure 3: Proportion of Category One client incident reports by placement type 2014-15
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Across all categories of out-of-home care, the most frequent 
�ate�or� �ne ��ient in�i�ent re�orts re�ei�e� �� us in ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝ǡ 
�ere the sa�e as those re�ei�e� in the �re�ious Ƥnan�ia� �earǢ 
Ǯa�sentȀ�issin� �ersonǯǡ Ǯ�eha�iour Ȃ �an�erousǯǡ Ǯ�eha�iour Ǧ 
�isru�ti�eǯǡ Ǯ�h�si�a� assau�tǯ an� re�orts re�atin� to Ǯ�eha�iour 
Ȃ se�ua�ǯ an� Ǯse�ua� assau�tǯǤ

�he �e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es �eƤne these 
�ate�or� �ne in�i�ent t��es as fo��o�sǣ

■■ Ǯa��en�Ȁ�i��in� �e��onǯǣ where a child or young person 
is missing from their placement, their whereabouts are 
un�no�n an� there is �ra�e �on�ern for their o�n or otherǯs 
safet� an� �e�fareǤ �his in��u�es a��e�ations of a��u�tion or 
�i�na��in�Ǥ

■■ Ǯ�e�a�io�� Ȃ �an�e�o��ǯǣ where the actions of the child or 
�oun� �erson �ea� to or ��a�e the�se��es or others at ris� of 
harm; conduct that is or poses a serious threat to life of self 
or othersǢ �an�erous �eha�iour that resu�ts in inter�ention 
fro� �o�i�eȀa��u�an�eȀfire ser�i�esǤ

■■ Ǯ�e�a�io�� Ȃ �i�����i�eǯǣ where a child or young person’s 
a�tions �ause �isor�erǡ are intrusi�e an�Ȁor offensi�e to 
othersǤ

■■ Ǯ��y�i�a� a��a���ǯǣ all assaults of or by a child or young 
�erson that �e� to a serious in�ur� an� hos�ita�isation as 
an in�atientǡ assau�ts in�o��in� a �ea�on Ȃ re�ar��ess of 
in�ur� an� a�� assau�ts or a��e�e� assau�ts of a �hi�� or �oun� 
�erson �� a staff �e��er or �o�unteer �arer re�ar��ess of 
in�ur�Ǥ

■■ Ǯ�e�a�io�� Ȃ �e��a�ǯǣ �eha�iour of a se�ua� nature �� a �hi�� 
or young person that places their safety and wellbeing at 
ris�Ǥ

■■ Ǯ�e��a� a��a���ǯǣ includes any allegation of rape Ȃ including 
alleged rape of or by a child or young person, exchange of 
sex with predatory adults for money, goods, substances 
or fa�oursǤ �n�e�ent se�ua� assau�t in��u�es an� a�t in 
front of or by a child or young person that is reportable 
to police including the production or possession of child 
�orno�ra�h�Ǥ

The high numbers of incident reports relating to the alleged 
se�ua� �eha�iour an� assau�t of �hi��ren resi�in� in resi�entia� 
�are infor�e� the �o��issionǯs �e�ision to un�erta�e an in�uir� 
into the a�e�ua�� of resi�entia� �are ser�i�es for this �ohort of 
�hi��ren �ho �ere su��e�t to these a��e�e� in�i�entsǤ

�ur ana��sis of the �ate�or� �ne ��ient in�i�ent re�orts �e 
re�ei�e�ǡ a�so in�i�ate� that A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� 
�eo��e are o�erǦre�resente� in �ate�or� �ne in�i�ents 
�arti�u�ar�� in re�ation to �hi��ren �et�een the a�es of ͜ an� ͙͙Ǥ 
A�ori�ina� �hi��ren are a�so o�erǦre�resente� in the Ǯ�h�si�a� 
assau�tǯ �ate�or� of in�i�entǤ

Figure 4: Category One client incident reports by placement 
type and Aboriginality 2014–15
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Maximising the 
Commission’s  
operating effectiveness 
Governance
The Commission for Children and Young People Act establishes 
the �o��issionǡ �ro�i�es for its in�e�en�en�eǡ an� �reates 
the fra�e�or� �� �hi�h it is to �e �o�erne�Ǥ �he A�t �ro�i�es 
in se�tion ͞ that the �o��ission is to �e Ǯ�onstitute� �� 
the Principal Commissioner’ and assigns to the Principal 
�o��issioner a �i�e arra� of fun�tions an� �o�ersǤ �onsistent 
with its independent status, the Public Administration Act 2004 
�ro�i�es that the �o��ission is a Ǯs�e�ia� �o��Ǥǯ �hi�e the 
A�t ena��es the a��oint�ent �� the 
o�ernor in �oun�i� of 
a��itiona� �o��issionersǡ it is si�ent on their ro�es an� �o�ersǤ  

��er the �ast se�era� �earsǡ �e ha�e reƤne� our interna� 
�o�ernan�e �ra�ti�es ��ǣ

■■ ha�in� an e�e�uti�e �o��ittee to �ea� �ith hi�hǦ�e�e� 
policy and strategic matters and an operations group to 
deal with core operational matters

■■ i���e�entin� a ran�e of other interna� �o�ernan�e 
arran�e�ents to o�ersee s�e�ifi� �ie�es of �or� as re�uire�

■■ �reatin� the �o��ission �e�ie� �o��ittee to re�ie� 
in�uir� re�orts an� �e�e�o� re�o��en�ations an� the 
�n�uir� 
o�ernan�e �o��ittee to �ro�i�e o�ersi�ht to 
in�uiriesǤ

As �e�� as these interna� �o�ernan�e arran�e�entsǡ �e ha�e 
an Au�it an� �is� �o��ittee �o��rise� of in�e�en�ent 
�e��ers �ith e��ertise in �o�ernan�eǡ a��ountin� an� ris� 
�ana�e�entǤ An interna� au�itor has �een a��ointe� to re�ie� 
areas of ris� an� the �iti�ation strate�ies in ��a�e to a��ress 
the�Ǥ �he �or� of the interna� au�itor �i�� �e �ui�e� �� the 
�nterna� Au�it �harter an� the �or� ��an �i�� �e en�orse� �� the 
�rin�i�a� �o��issioner fo��o�in� a��i�e fro� the Au�it an� �is� 
�o��itteeǤ

�n ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝ǡ the �o��issioners an� �hief e�e�uti�e oƥ�er 
�eter�ine� to re�ie� the �o��issionǯs or�anisationa� stru�ture 
an� ha�e en�a�e� e�terna� a��isers to su��ort this �ro�essǤ 
�he o��e�ti�e is to �e�e�o� the �est �ossi��e stru�ture to 
�e�i�er on �urrent fun�tions an� an� ne� fun�tions that �a� 
be delegated to us as part of implementing the Betrayal of 
Trust re�o��en�ationsǤ �he ne� stru�ture �i�� a�so res�on� 
to re�o��en�ations in a re�ie� of the �o��ission �� the 
�i�torian �u��i� �e�tor �o��issionǤ 

Developing enhanced  
data systems 
�n ͚͙͛͘Ȃ͙͜ �e un�ertoo� a �etai�e� re�ie� of our �ro�esses 
an� s�ste�s for the �ana�e�ent of �ata an� infor�ationǤ �he 
re�ie� �e�onstrate� that our e�istin� �o��uter s�ste�s are 
inadequate to enable us to meet our future needs, particularly 
any new functions which may be assigned to us in response to 
the �etra�a� of �rust re�ortǤ

�e ha�e in�esti�ate� re��a�in� our e�istin� �ata�ases an� 
systems with a new case management system that will better 
su��ort our �urrent an� future fun�tionsǤ �e nee� a s�ste� 
that �i�� he�� i�entif� issuesǡ tra�� the �ro�ress of �asesǡ re�ort 
on out�o�es an� �e a �entra� re�ositor� for �ase sensiti�e 
infor�ationǤ 	o��o�in� e�tensi�e �onsu�tation �ith other 
�o�ern�ent �e�art�ents an� a�en�ies an� other resear�hǡ 
�e �e�e�o�e� a �usiness �ase to assist in the se�e�tion of an 
a��ro�riate s�ste�Ǥ ���ortant��ǡ the �i�torian �u��i� �e�tor 
�o��ission �e�ie� of the �o��ission a�so su��orte� the 
nee� for a ne� s�ste� �� re�o��en�in� i��ro�e�ents to the 
�ana�e�ent of our infor�ation an� �ataǤ �or� is �ontinuin� in 
this areaǤ 
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Aboriginal Inclusion Action Plan 
�ur A�ori�ina� �n��usion A�tion ��an arti�u�ates si� �rin�i��es that 
will guide the implementation of the plan and underpin all our 
�or�Ǥ �hese �rin�i��es areǣ

■■ the past impacts the present 

■■ A�ori�ina� �eo��e �eser�e e�ua� out�o�es 

■■ �enuine en�a�e�ent �ith A�ori�ina� sta�eho��ers  
is paramount 

■■ Aboriginal identity and culture is a strength and  
a �rote�ti�e fa�tor 

■■ inclusion must be consistent and systemic 

■■ in��usion is e�er�oneǯs �usinessǤ

�he ��an �es�ri�es Ƥ�e �e� fo�us areas an� in��u�es the 
o��e�ti�eǡ out�o�eǡ �es�ri�tionǡ res�onsi��e �erson an� 
in�i�ator of su��ess for ea�hǤ 

�he A�ori�ina� �n��usion A�tion ��an �i�� �e o�erseen �� a 
�or�in� �rou� of our staffǤ �e� a�tions in��u�e the �e�e�o��ent 
of an Aboriginal Recruitment Strategy with an aspirational target 
of 16 per cent employment, as well as the use of an Aboriginal 
���a�t �tate�ent at the ��annin� sta�es of a�� the �ro�e�tsǡ 
resear�h an� �u��i�ations �e �enerateǤ 

�his �earǡ our staff ha�e �een a�ti�e�� en�a�e� in �e�on�i�iation 
�ee� an� �A���� e�ents as �e�� as the �e�e�o��ent of the 
A�ori�ina� �n��usion A�tion ��an throu�h a series of �or�sho�s 
an� �is�ussionsǤ

Objective: Leadership creates an 
environment where Aboriginal 
inclusion is embedded as core 

business in all our activities 
and decisions.

Focus Area 1
Leadership

and Governance

Objective: Policy and research 
contribute to improved 
outcomes for Aboriginal 

children and young 
people.

Focus Area 2
Policy and Research

Objective: Aboriginal inclusion is a 
primary consideration in the design 

implementation, delivery & 
evaluation of our programs, 

services, inquiries & 
reviews.

Focus Area 3
Programs, Services,

Inquiries & Reviews  

Objective: Create a culturally 
safe and inclusive workplace 

that positions the CCYP as 
an employer of choice.

Focus Area 4
Workplace Diversity

Objective: Internal and external 
communication practices 
increase awareness and 

commitment to Aboriginal 
inclusion.

Focus Area 5
Communications

Figure 5: Aboriginal Inclusion Action Plan

Maximising the Commission’s operating effectiveness (continued)
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Appendix 1:  
Presentations, committees 
and research partnerships

Presentations 
A�ori�ina� A�tion ��an Meetin� Ȃ A�ori�ina� �hi��ren an� �oun� 
people in out-of-home care 

Anglicare Victoria Annual General Meeting

Asso�iation of �hi�� �e�fare A�en�ies �onferen�e Ȃ �he �o�a� 
Commission into Institutional Responses to Child Sexual 
A�useǣ �es�on�in� to this �ha��en�e fro� a ��� an� �i�torian 
�ers�e�ti�e

Austra�ian an� �e� �ea�an� Asso�iation for the �reat�ent of 
�e�ua� A�use ȋA��A��AȌ ����osiu� ͚͙͘͜ Ȃ �he �ontinuu� of 
�nstitutiona� �e�ua� A�useǣ 	ro� �er�etrators to �re�ention

Austra�ian �ru�s �onferen�e ͚͙͘͜ Ȃ ��e an� A�tere� �ea�ities

�roa�for� �e�on�ar� �o��e�e Ȃ Ǯ�arents as �artnersǯ �arent 
Forum

�a��are Annua� 
enera� Meetin� ͚͙͛͘Ȃ͚͙͘͜

�ara �n�Ǥ �etire�ent 	un�tion for �hief ��e�uti�e �ƥ�erǡ �o��n 
�i�ir�i�io

�entre for ���e��en�e Ȃ 
i�in� �orro� �or�sǣ �he ���erien�e of 
Siblings in Care

�it� of 
reater �en�i�o Muni�i�a� �ar�� Years ��an �ta�eho��er 
Forum

�o��ittee for ��ono�i� �e�e�o��ent of Austra�ia �un�h

Community Child Care Association Annual General Meeting

Consulting Children Forum 

���A�� 	oun�ation Ȃ ���ortan�e of �i��in� ��a�e�ent Ƭ 
Contact Forum

�e�art�ent of ��u�ation an� �ar�� �hi��hoo� �e�e�o��ent 
Ȃ �e�art�ent of �u�an �er�i�es �i�torian �o��unit� �e�tor 
Roundtable

�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es A�ori�ina� 	a�i��Ǧ�e� 
�e�isionǦMa�in� �est �i�ision 	oru�

�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es �entra� �i�h�an�s Area 
A�ori�ina� A��isor� 
rou�

�e�art�ent of �u�an �er�i�es Ȃ �e�art�ent of ��u�ation 
an� �ar�� �hi��hoo� �e�e�o��ent 	oru� Ǯ	ro� �o���ian�e to 
�ua�it�ǯ

�ar�� �hi��hoo� Austra�ia �ationa� �oun�i� Meetin�

	a�i�� �io�en�e ��e�ia�ise� �o��unit� of �ra�ti�e 	oru� Ȃ 
Aboriginal Family Violence

	ar� �afet� 	oru� Ȃ �ee�in� �i�s free fro� har� on the far�

	eta� A��oho� ��e�tru� �isor�er �or�sho�

	irst ͙͘͘͘ �a�s ��ientiƤ� ����osiu�

	ran�stonǦMornin�ton �eninsu�a Me�i�are �o�a� Ȃ Youth Ƭ 
Trauma

Geelong Foster Carers

�ea�th ��u�ators �earners �arents ȋ����Ȍ �onferen�e ͚͙͘͝

�n�i�enous �oun�ta��e Ȃ �u�tura� �o��eten�e of �ainstrea� 
hea�th ser�i�es an� s�ste�s

�nternationa� �u�an �i�hts �a� �ration Ȃ �in�in� our �ast �ith 
our futureǣ �o� �u�tura� ri�hts �an he�� sha�e i�entit� an� �ui�� 
resi�ien�e in �oorie �i�s

�s�a�i� �oun�i� of �i�toria Ȃ �or�in� �ith �hi��ren �he�� an� 
�o��ission for �hi��ren an� Youn� �eo��e 
oint ��u�ation 
Session

�oorie �on�ersations �onferen�e Ȃ �ea�ershi�ǣ �hin�in� 
�ifferent�� �oin� �ifferent�� Ȃ �a�in� an i��a�t

�oorie Youth �u��it Ȃ �tron�er �o��unities an� �oorie Youth

�aun�h of Ǯ�rea�in� the ����e of �rau�a �oori �arentin�ǣ �hat 
�or�s 	or �sǯ for the Mina�a��u �ea�in� �entre
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�aun�h of ���A�� 	oun�ation �i�eo an� �e�ort

�aun�h of Djarmbi The Different Kookaburra for the Rumbalara 
A�ori�ina� �oo�erati�e

�aun�h of �a� in �onte�t on �hi��ren of �risoners at �hi�� A�are 
Conference

�aun�h of Ǯ�ee�in� �a�� the �a�ers Ȃ �inshi� �are in �i�toriaǯ 
�esear�h �e�ort �� �a�t�are �esear�h �nit in �artnershi� �ith 
���hi�� an� An�hor

�aun�h of Ǯ�i��in� ��a�e�ent an� �onta�t in �utǦofǦho�e �areǯ 
�e�ort an� a��o��an�in� �i�eo �� �r 
ose�h M��o�a��

�aun�h of the �hi�� an� Youth �ire�tor� at the �a�si�e Me�i�are 
�o�a� an� ��hoo� 	o�use� Youth �er�i�es 

�aun�h of the Mari��rnon� 	a�i�� �tren�thenin� �trate�� for 
the Maribyrnong Early Years Alliance

�aun�h of the re�ort on Youn� �eo��e �ransitionin� fro� �utǦ
ofǦ�o�e �are an� Youth 
usti�e �� Asso�iate �rofessors �hi�i� 
Men�esǡ �a�e�a �no�ǡ �usan �ai�a�i

�aun�h of the �tate of 
reater �he��artonǯs �hi��ren �e�ort ͚͙͘͜

�aun�h of the �tate of Mi��ura �ura� �it� �oun�i�ǯs �hi��ren an� 
Young People

�o�o�a �o��e�e ͚͙͘͜ Annua� A�ar�s ��enin� 

�orthern �a� �o��e�e Ȃ ��hoo� Mottoǣ �or�in� �o�ether 
�o�ar�s an ���itin� �e� 	uture

Parents Victoria Annual Conference

�e� �ross �er�i�es �o��ittee

Relationships Australia Annual General Meeting

�esi�entia� �are �or�er 	oru� Ǯ�esi �o��sǯ

�o�a� �hi��renǯs �os�ita� 
ran� �oun� Ȃ � see the future for 
Aboriginal Children and Young People and it is good

�o�a� �hi��renǯs �os�ita� Menta� �ea�th �o��unit� �eferen�e 
Group

�a�e the �hi��ren ��annin� �ession

�ierra �eoneǯs ͜͝th �n�e�en�en�e Anni�ersar� ͚͙͘͝ 
a�a �inner 

�outh �astern �i�toria �e�ion �e�art�ent of ��u�ation an� 
�rainin� Ǧ �ross �o�ern�ent an� a�en�� �o��a�oration 

�t �u�eǯs 	oster �arer �inner

�tate�i�e �oorie ��u�ation �or�for�e 	oru� Ȃ �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ 
Emerging Issues

�tren�thenin� �isa�i�it� A��o�a�� �onferen�e ͚͙͘͜

�he �i�th �inston �Ǥ �i��ar�s Me�oria� �ration Ȃ �earin� the 
�oi�e of �u�nera��e �hi��ren

�i���
 ���er ��art� �aun�h

Victoria Police Presentation

Victorian Aboriginal Children and Young Person’s Alliance

�i�torian A�ori�ina� �o��unit� �ontro��e� �ea�th �r�anisation 
Me��ers Meetin� Ȃ �as�for�e ͙͘͘͘ ���ate

�hitt�esea �e�on�i�iation �inner

�irri�irri ȋ�e�on�i�iation Messen�erȌ ��i�en�e an� �o�i�� 
�i�isionǡ �e�art�ent of �u�an �er�i�es Ȃ �o� ha�e �e 
�onstru�te� e�i�en�e a�out for an� �ith A�ori�ina� an� �orres 
Strait Islander Peoples?

�a�ier �o��e�e Ȃ �a��in� �ith �u�nera��e �hi��ren an� Youn� 
�eo��eǣ �ers�e�ti�es on �hi��ren an� �oun� �eo��e in �tate �areǡ 
the �u�eni�e �usti�e s�ste�ǡ an� the issues of une���o��ent

Committees
A�ori�ina� �hi�� �ea�th �oun�ta��e

A�ori�ina� �u�an �er�i�es �oun�ta��e

A�ori�ina� 
usti�e 	oru�

�entre for ���e��en�e Ȃ fo�us �rou�s e���orin� un�erstan�in� 
an� �no��e��e of e�istin� �o���aints �ro�esses an� fee��a�� 
for children and young people in care

�entre for ���e��en�e Ȃ �ea�in� an� �ost �are �ra�titioners 	oru�

���A�� 	oun�ation ��atfor� �our of �o�er Ȃ ena��es the 
Commissioners, as panel members, to hear directly from young 
�eo��e �ho are e��erien�in� or ha�e e��erien�e�ǡ outǦofǦho�e 
care 

Appendix 1: Presentations, committees  
and research partnerships (continued)
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�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es 	oster �are �or�in� 
Group 

�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es �e�tor �n�a�e�ent 

rou� Ȃ �er�anen�� �han�esǣ A�en��ent to the �hi��ren 
Youth Ƭ 	a�i�ies A�t

�e�art�ent of �ea�th Ƭ �u�an �er�i�es ��ste�s ���ro�e�ent 
�or�in� 
rou�

�e�art�ent of 
usti�e Ƭ �e�u�ation Mi��ura �o��unit� 
Partnership 

�e�art�ent of 
usti�e Ƭ �e�u�ation �or�in� 
rou�s

Indigenous Family Violence Partnership Forum

Institute of Public Administration Indigenous group 

�oori �ea�in� �are �ro�e�t �o��ittee Ȃ resear�h �ro�e�t 
�ana�e� �� Monash �ni�ersit� 

�atro�e �o��unit� �artnershi� 
rou�

Ministerǯs �oun�ta��e on ���ro�in� ��u�ation �ut�o�es for 
�hi��ren an� Youn� �eo��e in �utǦofǦho�e �are 

Ministeria� A��isor� �o��ittee for �hi��ren in �utǦofǦho�e �are 

�a��ei 
errin� ȋ�oorie Youth �ro�ra�Ȍ 	oots�ra� 	oot�a�� ��u� 

�ationa� 
usti�e �oa�ition

�ar��i��e �o��e�e �oar�

�ar��i��e �o��e�e ��hoo� �oun�i�

�o�i�e ��terna� ��u�ation A��isor� 
rou� �o��ittee

�e� �ross �er�i�es �o��ittee

�i���e �ro�e�tǣ ���ro�in� Menta� �ea�th in �utǦofǦ�o�e �are 

�er�i�es �onne�t ��a�uation �eferen�e 
rou� 

��art 
usti�e for Youn� �eo��e

Victoria Police Aboriginal Portfolio Reference Committee

Victoria Police Young People’s Portfolio Reference Group 

�i�torian �afe �o��unities �et�or� Ȃ ��e�uti�e Me��er

Youn� �ffen�ers �ransfer 
rou�

Research partnerships
Children of prisoners: Care planning for children of incarcerated 
parentsǡ �e� �� Monash �ni�ersit�ǡ assesse� the i��a�t of 
in�ar�eration of �ri�ar� �arers on �hi��renǯs �are an� �e�e�o�e� 
a strate�i� fra�e�or� for �oo� ��annin�Ǥ 

Indigenous young people leaving out-of-home care led by 
resear�hers fro� Monash �ni�ersit�ǡ ai�s to e���ore the 
experiences of Indigenous young people as they transition from 
�areǡ an� their �onne�tions to �u�ture an� �o��unit�Ǥ

�inshi� �are A��isor� 
rou�ǡ �e� �� resear�hers fro� Me��ourne 
�ni�ersit�ǡ is an on�oin� resear�h �ro�e�t that has �ro�u�e� a 
�eta sur�e� of �hi��ren in outǦofǦho�e �areǤ

Longitudinal research into children domiciled in prison, led by 
resear�hers fro� Monash �ni�ersit�ǡ is a �ro�e�t that �i�� 
explore options to examine the experiences and outcomes for 
in�ar�erate� �others an� their �hi��ren �hen raise� in �risonǤ

Making the World of Difference: The ‘First 1000 Days’, led by 
�ne��a �i��ea�th 
rou�ǡ �entre for �ea�th ��uit�ǡ is a resear�h 
�ro�e�t that ai�s to �ro�i�e a �oor�inate�ǡ �o��rehensi�e 
inter�ention to a��ress the nee�s of A�ori�ina� an� �orres �trait 
Islander children from conception to two years of age, thereby 
�a�in� the foun�ation for their future hea�th an� �e���ein�Ǥ

Young and Well Cooperative Research Council is exploring the role 
of te�hno�o�� in the �i�es of �oun� �eo��e an� ho� it �an �e 
use� to i��ro�e the �enta� hea�th of �oun� �eo��eǤ �ts �ro�e�ts 
in��u�e a ran�e of �o��a�orati�e en�ea�ours �ith resear�hersǡ 
�ra�titionersǡ inno�ators an� �o�i�� �a�ersǤ

Young people transitioning from out-of-home care and Youth 
Justice in�esti�ate� the e��erien�es of �oun� �eo��e �ea�in� �are 
�ho ha� a �onne�tion to Youth 
usti�eǡ or �ere �re�ious�� Youth 

usti�e ��ientsǤ �n �e�te��er ͚͙͘͜ the �rin�i�a� �o��issioner 
�aun�he� the Ƥna� re�ort of this �ro�e�tǡ �hi�h �as un�erta�en in 
�artnershi� �ith Monash �ni�ersit�ǡ Youth 
usti�eǡ 
esuit �o�ia� 
�er�i�esǡ Youth �u��ort an� A��o�a�� �er�i�e an� �hite�ion �n�Ǥ
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Appendix 2:  
Disclosure index

�his annua� re�ort is �re�are� in a��or�an�e �ith a�� re�e�ant 
�i�torian �e�is�ations an� �ronoun�e�entsǤ �his in�e� has 
�een �re�are� to fa�i�itate i�entiƤ�ation of the �o��issionǯs 
�o���ian�e �ith statutor� �is��osure re�uire�entsǤ

LEGISLATION REQUIREMENT PAGE REFERENCE

 Ministerial Directions

Charter and purpose

	�� ͚͚	 Manner of esta��ish�ent an� the re�e�ant Ministers ͙͚Ȃ͙͛ǡ ͙͙͟

	�� ͚͚	 ���e�ti�esǡ fun�tionsǡ �o�ers an� �uties ͙͚Ȃ͙͛

	�� ͚͚	 �i�niƤ�ant a�hie�e�ents ͙͜Ȃ͙͝

	�� ͚͚	 �ature an� ran�e of ser�i�es �ro�i�e� ͙͚Ȃ͙͛

Management and structure

	�� ͚͚	 �r�anisationa� stru�ture 10

Financial and other information

	�� ͙͘ �is��osure in�e� 70

	�� ͙͝� ��e�uti�e oƥ�er �ata 118

	�� ͚͚	 Employment and conduct principles 73

	�� ͚͚	 ���u�ationa� hea�th an� safet� �o�i�� ͟͝

	�� ͚͚	 �u��ar� of the Ƥnan�ia� resu�ts for the �ear ͙͠Ȃ͜͠

	�� ͚͚	 �i�niƤ�ant �han�es in Ƥnan�ia� �osition �urin� the �ear 73

	�� ͚͚� Ma�or �han�es or fa�tors affe�tin� �erfor�an�e �ȀA

	�� ͚͚	 �u�se�uent e�ents �ȀA

	�� ͚͚	 Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 76

	�� ͚͚	 �o���ian�e �ith �ui��in� an� �aintenan�e �ro�isions of Building Act 1993 77

	�� ͚͚	 �tate�ent on �ationa� �o��etition �o�i�� �ȀA
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LEGISLATION REQUIREMENT PAGE REFERENCE

	�� ͚͚	 Application and operation of the Protected Disclosures Act 2012 76
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Appendix 3:  
Compliance and 
accountability 

Our people – overview
�e e���o� ͚͛ staff of �ho� ͙͠ are fu�� ti�e an� ͙͜ are �art 
ti�eǤ

�inet� �er �ent of our on�oin� staff ho�� a tertiar� �e�reeǤ 
�e e���o� staff �ith �e�rees in so�ia� �or�ǡ ear�� �hi��hoo� 
�e�e�o��entǡ �a�ǡ nursin�ǡ �s��ho�o��ǡ �u��i� se�tor 
a��inistrationǡ �e�ia an� �o��uni�ations an� �usinessǤ

Employment and  
conduct principles
�e are �o��itte� to a����in� �erit an� e�uit� �rin�i��es �hen 
a��ointin� staffǤ �ur se�e�tion �ro�esses ensure that a���i�ants 
are assesse� an� e�a�uate� fair�� an� e�uita��� on the �asis 
of the �e� se�e�tion �riteria an� other a��ounta�i�ities �ithout 
�is�ri�inationǤ ����o�ees ha�e �een �orre�t�� ��assiƤe� in 
�or�for�e �ata �o��e�tionsǤ

The Code of Conduct for Victorian Public Sector Employees of 
��e�ia� �o�ies a���ies �ithin the �o��issionǤ

Carers Recognition Act 
�e su��ort the �rin�i��es of the Carers Recognition Act 2012 and 
demonstrate this through our:

■■ �o��it�ent to �ro�i�in� f�e�i��e �or�in� arran�e�ents 
for our staff to support their roles as carers

■■ production of a range of resources designed to assist carers, 
�arti�u�ar�� those �ho �ro�i�e �are to �hi��ren in the outǦofǦ
ho�e �are s�ste�ǡ an� infor�a� �inshi� �arersǤ 

Audit and Risk Committee  
membership and roles
�he Au�it an� �is� �o��ittee �onsists of the fo��o�in� 
members:

■■ �a�i� 
i��sǡ �hair�erson �Ǥ�o�ǡ 	�Aǡ 	A���

■■ �ue �roo�ǡ �n�e�en�ent Me��er ���ǡ �Aǡ M�Aǡ �		inǡ 
	
�Aǡ MA���

�he �ri�ar� ro�e of the Au�it an� �is� �o��ittee is to  
re�ie� an� a��ise the e�e�uti�e of the �o��ission on  
�atters of Ƥnan�ia� a��ounta�i�it�ǡ interna� Ƥnan�ia� �ontro�ǡ  
an� ris� �ana�e�entǤ

�he Au�it an� �is� �o��ittee �ro�i�es o�ersi�ht an� a��i�e  
to the e�e�uti�e of the �o��ission in re�ation to theǣ 

■■ Commission’s financial performance 

■■ Commission’s financial reporting processes, both internal 
and external

■■ �e�e�o��entǡ o�eration an� i���e�entation of the 
�o��issionǯs ris� �ana�e�ent fra�e�or�

■■ �harterǡ s�o�e of �or�ǡ �erfor�an�e an� in�e�en�en�e of 
the Commission’s internal audit function

■■ s�o�e of �or� of the �o��issionǯs e�terna� au�itor

■■ matters of accountability and internal control affecting the 
financial operations of the Commission

■■ effe�ti�eness of �ana�e�ent infor�ation s�ste�s an� 
other systems of internal financial control

■■ acceptability, disclosure of and correct accounting 
treatment for significant transactions which are not part of 
the �o��issionǯs nor�a� �ourse of �usinessǤ
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Table 4: Workforce data

ONGOING EMPLOYEES FIXED TERM  
AND CASUAL

Number Full time Part time FTE FTE


une ͚͙͘͜ 30 ͙͝ ͙͝ ͚͜Ǥ͚ ͘Ǥ͠


une ͚͙͘͝ ͚͛ 18 14 ͚͟Ǥ͞ 1

JUNE 2015 JUNE 2014

ONGOING FIXED TERM  
AND CASUAL ONGOING FIXED TERM  

AND CASUAL

Number FTE FTE Number FTE FTE

Gender

Male 3 3 ͚ ͚

Female ͚͡ ͚͜Ǥ͞ 1 ͚͠ ͚͚Ǥ͚ ͘Ǥ͠

Age

͚͝Ȃ͛͜ 3 3 1 1

͛͝Ȃ͜͜ 7 ͝Ǥ͞ 1 7 ͝Ǥ͜

͜͝Ȃ͜͝ 13 ͙͘Ǥ͞ ͙͚ ͡Ǥ͜

͝͝Ȃ͞͝ ͡ ͠Ǥ͜ 10 ͠Ǥ͜

��a��iƤ�a�ion

Child Protection ͚ ͙Ǥ͞

��� ͚

VPS 3 4 ͛Ǥ͜ ͝ 4

VPS 4 1 1 1 1

��� ͝ 16 ͙͛Ǥ͝ ͙͝ ͙͚Ǥ͚

VPS 6 8 ͟Ǥ͙ ͡ 7 ͘Ǥ͠

��e�uti�es 1 1

Appendix 3: Compliance and accountability (continued)

�o�e�ǣ ��� Ƥ���e� �eƪe�� e���oy�en� �e�e�� ���in� ��e �a�� ���� �ay �e�io� o� 
�ne o� ea�� yea�Ǥ

�n�oin� e���oyee� �ean� �eo��e en�a�e� on an o�en en�e� �on��a�� o� e���oy�en� an� e�e���i�e� en�a�e� on a ��an�a�� e�e���i�e �on��a�� ��o �e�e 
active in the last full pay period of June.

F�� �ean� ���� �i�e ��aff e��i�a�en�Ǥ

������e� a�e ��o�e on �ea�e �i��o�� �ay o� a��en� on �e�on��en�ǡ e��e�na� �on��a��o��Ȁ�on����an��ǡ �e��o�a�y ��aff e���oye� �y e���oy�en� a�en�ie�ǡ 
an� a ��a�� n���e� o� �eo��e ��o a�e no� e���oyee� ��� a��oin�ee� �o a ��a���o�y oƥ�eǡ a� �eƤne� in ��e ����i� ���ini���a�ion ��� ͚͘͘͜Ǥ
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Occupational health and safety
�o in�uries �ere re�or�e� �urin� ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝Ǥ

�e are �o��itte� to the �oa� of ensurin� a�� staff re�ain 
safe an� hea�th� at �or�Ǥ �e ha�e i���e�ente� strate�ies to 
enhan�e the o��u�ationa� hea�th an� safet� of staffǡ in��u�in�ǣ

■■ �a�in� o��u�ationa� hea�th an� safet� issues a stan�in� 
item on fortnightly staff meetings

■■ or�anisin� annua� �or���a�e ins�e�tions 

■■ �ro�i�in� in�i�i�ua� er�ono�i� assess�ents u�on re�uestǤ

�e ha�e t�o Ƥrst ai� oƥ�ers an� t�o hea�th an� safet� 
re�resentati�esǡ a�� of �ho� atten� trainin� as re�uire�Ǥ

Consultancy expenditure
Details of consultancies valued at $10,000 or greater

�n ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝ there �as one �onsu�tan�� �here the tota�  
fees �a�a��e to the �onsu�tants �ere ͙͆͘ǡ͘͘͘ or �reaterǤ   
�he tota� e��en�iture in�urre� �urin� ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝ in re�ation  
to this �onsu�tan�� �as ͚͚͆ǡ͙͛͜ ȋe���u�in� 
��ȌǤ �etai�s are 
out�ine� �e�o�Ǥ

�n ͚͙͘͜Ȃ͙͝ǡ there �ere no �onsu�tan�ies �here the tota� fees 
�a�a��e to the �onsu�tants �ere �ess than ͙͆͘ ͘͘͘Ǥ  

Table 5: Individual consultancies valued at $10,000 or greater

CONSULTANT
PURPOSE OF 
CONSULTANCY START DATE END DATE

TOTAL APPROVED 
PROJECT FEE  

(EXC. GST)

EXPENDITURE 
2014–15

FUTURE 
EXPENDITURE 

2014–15

�ri�e �aterhouse 
Coopers

�ata se�urit� au�it ͜ Au� ͚͙͘͜ ͚͡ �e�t ͚͙͘͜ ͆͘͜ǡ͘͘͘ ͚͚͆ǡ͙͛͜ Ȃ
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Freedom of Information Act 
Compliance
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 enables the public to access 
certain documents held by public sector agencies, including the 
�o��ission for �hi��ren an� Youn� �eo��eǤ 

	or the �erio� ͙ 
u�� ͚͙͘͜ to ͛͘ 
une ͚͙͘͝ǡ �e re�ei�e� one 
	ree�o� of �nfor�ation re�uestǤ �he re�uest �as fro� the 
�e�ia an� a��ess to the �o�u�ent �as �enie�Ǥ

Making a Freedom of Information request
Access to documents may be obtained through a written 
re�uest to the �o��issionǡ as �etai�e� in sǤ ͙͟ of the 	ree�o� of 
�nfor�ation A�tǤ

�n su��ar�ǡ the re�uire�ents for �a�in� a re�uest areǣ

■■ it should be in writing

■■ it should identify as clearly as possible the document being 
requested

■■ it should be accompanied by the appropriate application fee 
ȋthe fee �a� �e �ai�e� in �ertain �ir�u�stan�esȌǤ

Requests for documents in the possession of the Commission for 
Children and Young People should be addressed to:

	ree�o� of �nfor�ation �ƥ�er 
Commission for Children and Young People 
�e�e� ͚͘ǡ ͘͟͝ �our�e �t 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

A��ess �har�es �a� a���� on�e �o�u�ents ha�e �een 
processed and a decision on access has been made (for example, 
�hoto�o��in� an� sear�h an� retrie�a� �har�esȌǤ 	urther 
information regarding Freedom of Information can be found at 
���ǤfoiǤ�i�Ǥ�o�ǤauǤ 

Protected Disclosure Act 
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 encourages and assists people 
in �a�in� �is��osures of i��ro�er �on�u�t �� �u��i� oƥ�ers an� 
�u��i� �o�iesǤ �he A�t �ro�i�es �rote�tion to �eo��e �ho �a�e 
disclosures in accordance with the Act and establishes a system 
for the �atters �is��ose� to �e in�esti�ate� an� re�tif�in� a�tion 
to �e ta�enǤ

�e �o not to�erate i��ro�er �on�u�t �� e���o�eesǡ nor the 
ta�in� of re�risa�s a�ainst those �ho �o�e for�ar� to �is��ose 
su�h �on�u�tǤ �e are �o��itte� to ensurin� trans�aren�� an� 
a��ounta�i�it� in our a��inistrati�e an� �ana�e�ent �ra�ti�es 
an� su��ort the �a�in� of �is��osures that re�ea� �orru�t 
�on�u�tǡ �on�u�t in�o��in� a su�stantia� �is�ana�e�ent of 
�u��i� resour�esǡ or �on�u�t in�o��in� a su�stantia� ris� to �u��i� 
hea�th an� safet� or the en�iron�entǤ

�e �i�� ta�e a�� reasona��e ste�s to �rote�t �eo��e �ho �a�e 
such disclosures from any detrimental action in reprisal for 
�a�in� the �is��osureǤ

�e are not a��e to re�ei�e �is��osures un�er the �rote�te� 
�is��osure A�tǤ �is��osures a�out the �o��ission or our staff 
�a� no� �e �a�e to the �n�e�en�ent �roa�Ǧ�ase� AntiǦ
�orru�tion �o��ission ȋ��A�ȌǤ �ther �u��i� oƥ�ers or �o�ies 
that �an re�ei�e �rote�te� �is��osures are �iste� on ��A�ǯs 
�e�site at ���Ǥi�a�Ǥ�i�Ǥ�o�ǤauǤ

	urther infor�ation a�out the �rote�te� �is��osure A�t is 
a�ai�a��e fro�ǣ 

�n�e�en�ent �roa�Ǧ�ase� AntiǦ�orru�tion �o��ission 
�e�e� ͙ǡ �orth �o�erǡ ͜͝͡ �o��ins �treet 
Melbourne Victoria 3000 
�honeǣ ͙͛͘͘ ͛͟͝ ͙͛͝ 
���Ǥi�a�Ǥ�i�Ǥ�o�Ǥau

�ur �ro�e�ures un�er the �rote�te� �is��osures A�t are 
�u��ishe� our �e�siteǤ 

Victorian Industry Participation 
Policy Act 
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 requires 
departments and public sector bodies to report on the 
implementation of the Victorian Industry Participation Policy 
ȋ����ȌǤ �e�art�ents an� �u��i� se�tor �o�ies are re�uire� to 
a���� ���� in a�� �ro�ure�ent a�ti�ities �a�ue� at ͆͛ �i��ion or 
�ore in �etro�o�itan Me��ourne an� for state�i�e �ro�e�tsǡ or 
͙͆ �i��ion or �ore for �ro�ure�ent a�ti�ities in re�iona� �i�toriaǤ 
�e�art�ents �ust re�ort on ���� i���e�entationǤ �e �i� not 
en�a�e in an� a���i�a��e ten�ers �urin� the re�ortin� �erio�Ǥ
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Building Act 
�e neither o�n nor �ontro� an� �o�ern�ent �ui��in�s an�  
are therefore exempt from the requirement to notify our 
�o���ian�e �ith the �ui��in� an� �aintenan�e �ro�isions  
of the Building Act 1993Ǥ 

Additional information available 
on request
�n �o���ian�e �ith the re�uire�ents of the �tan�in� �ire�tions 
of the Minister for Finance, details in respect of the items listed 
�e�o� ha�e �een retaine� �� the �o��ission an� are a�ai�a��e 
on re�uestǡ su��e�t to the �ro�isions of the 	ree�o�  
of Information Act:

aǤ a state�ent that �e��arations of �e�uniar� interests ha�e 
�een �u�� �o���ete� �� a�� re�e�ant oƥ�ers

�Ǥ �etai�s of shares he�� �� a senior oƥ�er as no�inee or he�� 
�eneƤ�ia��� in a statutor� authorit� or su�si�iar�

�Ǥ details of publications produced by the entity about itself, 
and how these can be obtained

�Ǥ �etai�s of �han�es in �ri�esǡ feesǡ �har�esǡ rates an� �e�ies 
charged by the entity

eǤ �etai�s of an� �a�or e�terna� re�ie�s �arrie� out on the 
entity

fǤ �etai�s of �a�or resear�h an� �e�e�o��ent a�ti�ities 
un�erta�en �� the entit�

�Ǥ �etai�s of o�erseas �isits un�erta�en in��u�in� a su��ar� of 
the o��e�ti�es an� out�o�es of ea�h �isit

hǤ �etai�s of �a�or �ro�otiona�ǡ �u��i� re�ations an� �ar�etin� 
a�ti�ities un�erta�en �� the entit� to �e�e�o� �o��unit� 
a�areness of the entit� an� its ser�i�es

iǤ �etai�s of assess�ents an� �easures un�erta�en to 
i��ro�e the o��u�ationa� hea�th an� safet� of e���o�ees

�Ǥ a general statement on industrial relations within the  
entity and details of time lost through industrial accidents 
and disputes

�Ǥ a �ist of �a�or �o��ittees s�onsore� �� the entit�ǡ  
the purposes of each committee and the extent to which 
the �ur�oses ha�e �een a�hie�e�

�Ǥ details of all consultancies and contractors including:

�Ǥ consultants/contractors engaged

nǤ ser�i�es �ro�i�e�

oǤ e��en�iture �o��itte� to for ea�h en�a�e�entǤ

�he infor�ation is a�ai�a��e on re�uest fro�ǣ

�hief ��e�uti�e �ƥ�er  
Commission for Children and Young People 
�e�e� ͚͘ǡ ͘͟͝ �our�e �treet 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

Attestation of compliance with 
Ministerial Standing Direction 
4.5.5.1 – Insurance
�ǡ �ernie 
ear�ǡ �ertif� that the �o��ission for �hi��ren  
an� Youn� �eo��e has �o���ie� �ith Ministeria� �ire�tion  
͜Ǥ͝Ǥ͝Ǥ͙ Ȃ �nsuran�eǤ  

 

Bernie Geary 
Principal Commissioner 
Commission for Children and Young People

Risk management
�ǡ �ernie 
ear�ǡ �rin�i�a� �o��issionerǡ �ertif� that the 
�o��ission has ris� �ana�e�ent �ro�esses in ��a�e �onsistent 
�ith A�Ȁ��� ��� ͙͛͘͘͘ǣ͚͘͘͡ an� an interna� �ontro� s�ste� 
is in ��a�e that ena��es the e�e�uti�e to un�erstan�ǡ �ana�e 
an� satisfa�tori�� �ontro� ris� e��osuresǤ �he ris� �roƤ�e of the 
�o��ission has �een �riti�a��� re�ie�e� �ithin the �ast ͙͚ 
�onthsǤ 

 

Bernie Geary 
Principal Commissioner 
Commission for Children and Young People
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Accountable officer’s and chief finance  
and accounting officer’s declaration 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
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Commission for Children and Young People

Comprehensive operating statement

for the financial year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Note ($'000) ($'000)

Income from transactions
Grants and other income transfers 2 6,471                       5,630                             
Total income from transactions 6,471                      5,630                            

Expenses from transactions
Employee benefits 3(a) 4,225                       3,598                             
Depreciation 3(d) 9                              2                                    
Grants 3(b) 334                          326                                
Other operating expenses 3(c) 1,860                       1,699                             
Total expenses from transactions 6,428                      5,625                            
Net result from transactions (net operating balance) 43                           5                                   

Other economic flows included in net result
Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 3(e) (43)                           (5)                                   
Total other economic flows included in net result (43)                          (5)                                  
Net result for the year -                              -                                    

The comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

 
Financial 
Statements
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Financial Statements for the  
financial year ended 30 June 2015 
 

Commission for Children and Young People
Balance sheet
As at 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Note ($'000) ($'000)

Assets
Financial assets
Receivables 4 1,645                   1,387                   
Total financial assets 1,645                  1,347                  

Non-financial assets
Plant and equipment 5 26                        35                        
Total non-financial assets 26                       35                       
Total assets 1,671                  1,422                  

Liabilities
Payables 6 -                       208                      
Provisions 7 1,671                   1,214                   
Total liabilities 1,671                  1,422                  
Net assets -                      -                         

Equity
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 8(a) -                       -                          
Contributed capital 8(b) -                       -                          
Net worth -                      -                         

Commitments for expenditure 10
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 9

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Commission for Children and Young People

Statement of changes in equity

for the financial year ended 30 June 2015

Accumulated
Surplus/(Deficit) Contributed Capital Total

($'000) ($'000) ($'000)
Balance at 1 July 2013 -                                     -                                     -                                 

Net result for the year -                                     -                                     -                                 
Balance at 30 June 2014 -                                    -                                    -                                

Net result for the year -                                     -                                     -                                 
Balance at 30 June 2015 -                                    -                                    -                                

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash flow statement

2015 2014
Note ($'000) ($'000)

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Grants and other income transfers 6,212           5,351                              
Total receipts 6,212          5,351                             

Payments
Payments for employee benefits (3,811) (3,443)                             
Other payments (2,401) (1,871)                             
Total payments (6,212) (5,314)                            
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 12 -              37                                  

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for non-financial assets                - (37)                                  
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities -              (37)                                 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents -              -                                     

Cash and deposits at the beginning of the financial year                - -                                      
Cash and deposits at the end of the financial year -              -                                     

The cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Cash Movements disclosed in the above cash flow statement are those cash transactions completed by the Department of Human 
Services (1 July 2014 - 31 December 2014) and by the Department of Health and Human Services (1 January 2015 - 30 June 
2015) on behalf of the Commission for Children and Young People.

Financial Statements for the  
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 30 June 2015 
 

Note 1. Summary of significant accounting 
policies 

These annual financial statements represent the general purpose financial statements for the 
Commission for Children and Young People (the Commission) for the year ended 30 June 2015. 

The purpose of this report is to provide users with information about the Commissionʼs stewardship 
of resources entrusted to it. 

To gain a better understanding of the terminology used in this report, a glossary of terms and style 
conventions can be found in note 1(u). 

(a) Statement of compliance 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AAS), including 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). In particular, they are 
presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of AASB 1049 Whole of Government and 
General Government Sector Financial Reporting. Where appropriate, those paragraphs of AAS 
applicable to not-for-profit entities have been applied. 

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of 
the underlying transactions or other events is reported.  

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Commission for Children and 
Young People on 16 October 2015. 

(b) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement 
The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation of these financial statements 
whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to 
which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. 

The Department of Health and Human Services (hereafter referred to as the ʻdepartmentʼ) provides 
services to the Commission which include human resources, information technology and services, 
information & record management, financial administration and procurement assistance, property 
services, management support, vehicles and training and development, as stipulated in the 
memorandum of understanding that exists between the Commission and the Department. 

Management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable in the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision, and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application 
of Australian Accounting Standards that have significant effect on the financial statements and 
estimates relate to the fair value of plant and equipment, (refer to Note 1(k)) and the employee 
benefit provision based on the likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave claims, future salary 
movements and future discount rates (refer to Note 1(l)). 

Notes to and forming part of the  
financial statements 30 June 2015 
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 30 June 2015 
 

Note 1. Summary of significant accounting 
policies 

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost except for impairment 
losses. Historical cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 

The Commission determines the policies and procedures for recurring and non-recurring fair value 
measurements, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and the 
relevant FRDs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities; 

• Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and 

• Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement is unobservable. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Commission has determined classes of assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of 
the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

In addition, the Commission determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2015 and the comparative information presented for the 12 months ended 
30 June 2014. 

(c) Reporting entity 
The financial statements include the controlled activities of the Commission. 

The entity was established on 1 March 2013 via the Commission for Children and Young People 
Act 2012 and the principal address is: 

Level 20 
570 Bourke Street 
Melbourne, Victoria 3000 

Objectives of Commission for Children and Young People  
The objectives of the Commission are to promote continuous improvement and innovation in: 

� policies and practices relating to the safety and wellbeing of children and young people 
generally and in particular those who are vulnerable; and 

� the provision of out-of-home care services for children. 
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Note 1. Summary of significant accounting 
policies 

(d) Scope and presentation of financial statements 

Comprehensive operating statement 
The comprehensive operating statement has been prepared to ʻnet result from transactionsʼ (or 
termed as ʻnet operating balanceʼ). This classification is consistent with the whole of government 
reporting format and is allowed under AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements. 

The net result is equivalent to profit or loss derived in accordance with AAS. 

Balance sheet 
Assets and liabilities are presented in liquidity order with assets aggregated into financial assets 
and non-financial assets. 

Current and non-current assets and liabilities (non-current being those assets or liabilities expected 
to be recovered or settled more than 12 months after the reporting period) are disclosed in the 
notes, where relevant. 

Statement of changes in equity 
The statement of changes in equity presents reconciliations of non-owner and owner changes in 
equity opening balances at the beginning of the reporting period to the closing balances at the end 
of the reporting period. It also shows changes due to amounts recognised in the ʻcomprehensive 
resultʼ.  

Cash flow statement 
Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise from operating activities, investing 
activities, or financing activities. This classification is consistent with requirements of AASB 107 
Statement of Cash Flows. 

Rounding  
Amounts in the financial statement have been rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars unless 
otherwise stated. Refer to the end of Note 1(u) for a style convention explaining that minor 
discrepancies in totals within tables are due to rounding. 

(e) Changes in accounting policies 

Subsequent to the 2013-14 reporting period, the following new and revised standards have 
been adopted in the current period, with financial impact detailed below. 

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 

AASB 10 provides a new approach to determine whether an entity has control over another 
entity, and therefore must present consolidated financial statements. The new approach 
requires the satisfaction of all three criteria for control to exist over an entity for financial 
reporting purposes: 

• the investor has power over the investee; 
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Note 1. Summary of significant accounting 
policies 

• the investor has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee; and 

• the investor has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of 
investorʼs returns. 

Based on the new criteria prescribed in AASB 10, the Commission has reviewed its existing 
arrangements to determine if there are any entities that need to be consolidated to create a 
group. The Commission has concluded that no entity has met the control criteria.  

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities  

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities prescribes the disclosure requirements for an 
entityʼs interest in subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and extends to the entityʼs 
association with unconsolidated structured entities.  
The Commission has reviewed its current contractual arrangements to determine if there are any 
unconsolidated structured entities that the Commission has involvement with. It has not identified 
any unconsolidated structured entities during the assessment.  

(f) Income from transactions 
Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Commission and the income can be reliably measured at fair value. 

Grants  
Income from grants (other than contribution by owners) is recognised when the Commission obtains 
control over the contribution.  

For reciprocal grants (that is, equal value is given back by the Commission to the provider), the 
Commission is deemed to have assumed control when the Commission has satisfied its 
performance obligations under the terms of the grant. For non-reciprocal grants, the Commission is 
deemed to have assumed control when the grant is receivable or received. Conditional grants may 
be reciprocal or non-reciprocal depending on the terms of the grant.  

(g) Expenses from transactions 
Expenses from transactions are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year 
to which they relate. 

Employee expenses 
Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, leave 
entitlements, fringe benefit tax, redundancy payments, WorkCover premiums and superannuation 
contributions. These are recognised when incurred. 

As per 1(b), the department provides services to the Commission which includes managing and 
calculating the employee expenses as described above. 

Rental operating costs 
Rental operating costs include maintenance, rates and charges, tenant utilities and operating 
expenses. These costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
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Depreciation  
Plant and equipment and other non-current physical assets that have finite useful lives are 
depreciated. Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the 
assetʼs value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life.  

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of 
each annual reporting period, and adjustments made where appropriate.  

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation for the current and 
prior years: 

Asset class Useful life 

Plant and equipment  3 to 10 years 

Other operating expenses 
Other operating expenses generally represent the day to day running costs incurred in normal 
operations and include: 

Supplies and services 

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are 
incurred. 

(h) Other economic flows included in net result 
Other economic flows measure the change in volume or value of assets or liabilities that do not 
result from transactions. The Commission recognised the revaluation of the present value of the 
long service leave liability due to changes in the bond interest rates and the effects of changes in 
assumptions as a ʻgain/loss from other economic flowʼ. 

(i) Financial instruments 
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one 
entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of an entityʼs 
activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than contract. 
Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. For example, statutory receivables arising from 
taxes, fines and penalties do not meet the definition of financial instruments as they do not arise 
under contract. However, guarantees issued by the Treasurer on behalf of an entity are financial 
instruments because, although authorised under statute, the terms and conditions for each financial 
guarantee may vary and are subject to an agreement. 

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between those financial assets 
and financial liabilities that meet the definition of financial instruments in accordance with AASB 132 
and those that do not. 

The following refers to financial instruments unless otherwise stated. 
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Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the date they originate. They are initially 
measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include the Commissionʼs contractual 
payables. 

(j) Financial assets 

Receivables 
Receivables consist of: 

•  contractual receivables, which include mainly debtors in relation to goods and services; and 

• statutory receivables.  

Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial instruments. Statutory receivables are 
recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment), but are not 
classified as financial instruments because they do not arise from a contract. Other receivables 
have normal credit terms, which are generally 30 days.  

(k) Non-financial assets 

Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment is initially measured at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal consideration, the cost is 
the assetʼs fair value at the date of acquisition. More details about the valuation techniques and 
inputs used in determining the fair value of non-financial physical assets are discussed in Note 5 
Plant and Equipment. 

The fair value of plant and equipment is normally determined by reference to the assetʼs 
depreciated replacement cost. For these assets, the existing depreciated historical cost is generally 
a reasonable proxy for depreciated replacement cost because of the short lives of the assets 
concerned. 

Fair value assessments are prepared annually. 

The written down replacement cost has been considered as fair value for plant and equipment as at 
30 June 2015. 

(l) Liabilities 

Payables 
Payables consist predominantly of contractual payables, such as accounts payable and other 
sundry liabilities. Accounts payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the 
Commission prior to the end of the reporting period that are unpaid and arise when the Commission 
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods and services. 

Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as financial liabilities at 
amortised cost (refer to Note 1(i)). Statutory payables are recognised and measured similarly to 
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contractual payables, but are not classified as financial instruments and not included in financial 
liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from a contract.  

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Commission has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of 
economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows, using discount rates that 
reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the provision. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
received from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

Employee benefits 
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave 
and long service leave for services rendered to the reporting date. 

Wages and salaries, and annual leave 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave are recognised 
in the provision for employee benefits as ʻcurrent liabilitiesʼ, because the Commission does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of these liabilities.  

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries and 
annual leave are measured at: 

• Nominal value – if the Commission expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or 

• Present value – if the Commission does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months. 

Long service leave 
Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 

Current liability – unconditional long service leave 

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability even 
when the Commission does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it does not 
have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take 
leave within 12 months. 

The components of this current long service leave liability are measured at: 

• Nominal value—component that the Commission expects to settle within 12 months; and 

• Present value—component that the Commission does not expect to settle within 12 months. 
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Non-current liability – conditional long service leave  

Conditional long service leave is disclosed as a non-current liability because there is an 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the 
requisite years of service. 

This non-current long service leave liability is measured at present value. Any gain or loss following 
revaluation of the present value of non-current long service leave liability is recognised as a 
transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for 
which it is then recognised as an other economic flow (refer to Note 1(h)). 

Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement 
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The 
Commission recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either 
terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period are discounted to present value. 

Employee benefits on-costs 
Employee benefits on-costs (such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation) are 
recognised separately from the provision for employee benefits.  

Derecognition of financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expires. 

(m) Equity 

Contributions by owners 
Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as 
contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions have also 
been designated as contributions by owners. 

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to or 
contributions by owners. Transfers of net liabilities arising from administrative restructurings are 
treated as distributions to owners. 

(n) Commitments 
Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from 
contracts. These commitments are disclosed by way of a note (refer to Note 10) at their nominal 
value and inclusive of the goods and services tax payable. In addition, where it is considered 
appropriate and provides additional relevant information to users, the net present values of 
significant individual projects are stated. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as 
commitments once the related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.  
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(o) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities  
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are 
disclosed by way of a note (refer to Note 9) and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. 
Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of the goods and services tax receivable or 
payable respectively. 

(p) Goods and services tax 
The goods and services tax is managed by the department who calculates the statutory tax liable 
and to be settled with the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) on the Commissionʼs behalf.  

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated goods and services 
tax, except where goods and services tax incurred is not recoverable from the ATO. In this case, 
the goods and services tax payable it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of goods and services tax receivable 
or payable. The net amount of goods and services tax recoverable from or payable to, the ATO is 
included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet of the department. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The goods and services tax components of cash flows 
arising from investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO are 
presented as operating cash flow. 

Commitments and contingent assets and liabilities are also stated inclusive of goods and services 
tax. 

(q) Comparative information 
Where necessary the previous year's figures have been reclassified to facilitate comparatives. 
Adjustments were made to the comparatives and these are noted throughout the financial 
statements. 

(r) Events after the reporting period 
Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events. Where the 
transactions result from an agreement between the Commission and other parties, the transactions 
are only recognised when the agreement is irrevocable at or before the end of the reporting period. 
Adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial statements for events which occur 
after the reporting period and before the date the financial statements are authorised for issue, 
where those events provide information about conditions which existed in the reporting period. Note 
disclosure is made about events between the end of the reporting period and the date the financial 
statements are authorised for issue where the events relate to conditions which arose after the end 
of the reporting period and which may have a material impact on the results of subsequent years. 

(s) Accounting standards and interpretations 
Certain accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 
the 30 June 2015 reporting period. The Department of Treasury and Finance assesses the impact 
of these new standards and advises the Commission of their applicability and early adoption where 
appropriate.  
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As at 30 June 2015, the following standards and interpretations had been issued but were not 
mandatory for the financial period ended 30 June 2015. The Commission has not, and does not 
intend to, adopt these standards early. 

Standard/Interpretation Summary Applicable 
for annual 
reporting 
periods 

beginning 
on 

Impact on public sector 
entity financial statements

AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments

The key changes include the 
simplified requirements for the 
classification and measurement of 
financial assets, a new hedging 
accounting model and a revised 
impairment loss model to 
recognise impairment losses 
earlier, as opposed to the current 
approach that recognises 
impairment only when incurred. 

1 Jan 2018 The assessment has 
identified that the financial 
impact on available for sale 
(AFS) assets will now be 
reported through other 
comprehensive income 
(OCI) and no longer recycled 
to the profit and loss.  

While the preliminary 
assessment has not 
identified any material 
impact arising from AASB 9, 
it will continue to be 
monitored and assessed.  

AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 
requires an entity to recognise 
revenue when the entity satisfies 
a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or 
service to a customer. 

1 Jan 2017 

(Exposure 
Draft 263 – 
potential 
deferral to 1 
Jan 2018) 

The changes in revenue 
recognition requirements in 
AASB 15 may result in 
changes to the timing and 
amount of revenue recorded 
in the financial statements. 
The Standard will also 
require additional 
disclosures on service 
revenue and contract 
modifications.  
A potential impact will be the 
upfront recognition of 
revenue from licenses that 
cover multiple reporting 
periods. Revenue that was 
deferred and amortised over 
a period may now need to 
be recognised immediately 
as a transitional adjustment 
against the opening 
accumulated surplus/(deficit) 
if there are no former 
performance obligations 
outstanding. 
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Standard/Interpretation Summary Applicable 
for annual 
reporting 
periods 

beginning 
on 

Impact on public sector 
entity financial statements

AASB 2014-4 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Clarification 
of Acceptable Methods 
of Depreciation and 
Amortisation 
[AASB 116 & AASB 138]

Amends AASB 116 Property, 
Plant and Equipment and AASB 
138 Intangible Assets to: 

• establish the principle for 
the basis of depreciation 
and amortisation as being 
the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future 
economic benefits of an 
asset; 

• prohibit the use of 
revenue-based methods 
to calculate the 
depreciation or 
amortisation of an asset, 
tangible or intangible, 
because revenue 
generally reflects the 
pattern of economic 
benefits that are 
generated from operating 
the business, rather than 
the consumption through 
the use of the asset.  

1 Jan 2016 The assessment has 
indicated that there is no 
expected impact as the 
revenue-based method is 
not used for depreciation 
and amortisation.  

AASB 2015-6 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Extending 
Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-
Profit Public Sector 
Entities 
[AASB 10, AASB 124 & 
AASB 1049]

The Amendments extend the 
scope of AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures to not-for-profit public 
sector entities.  Guidance has 
been included to assist the 
application of the Standard by 
not-for-profit public sector entities. 

1 Jan 2016 The amending standard will 
result in extended 
disclosures on the entity's 
key management personnel 
(KMP), and the related party 
transactions.  

(t) Accounting standards issued and adopted earlier 

The Australian Accounting Standards Board issued an amending accounting standard AASB 2015-
7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public 
Sector Entities on 13 July 2015. Even though it was not mandatory for the reporting period ended 
30 June 2015, the Commission has elected to early adopt and apply AASB 2015-7 before its 
mandatory application date. The impact of the early adoption resulted in reduced disclosures 
relating to quantitative information of ʻsignificant unobservable inputsʼ and the ʻsensitivity analysisʼ in 
Note 5. 

95CCYP ANNUAL REPORT 2014-2015



Notes to and forming part of the  
financial statements 30 June 2015 
 

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 30 June 2015 
 

Note 1. Summary of significant accounting 
policies 

(u) Glossary of terms and style convention 

Commissioners 
Commissioners refer to the people appointed by the Governor in Council on the recommendation of 
the Minister for Community Services. 

Commitments 
Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from 
non-cancellable contractual or statutory sources. 

Comprehensive result 
Total comprehensive result is the change in equity for the period other than changes arising from 
transactions with owners. It is the aggregate of net result and other non-owner changes in equity. 

Employee benefits expenses 
Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, 
leave entitlements, redundancy payments, defined benefits superannuation plans, and defined 
contribution superannuation plans. 

Financial instrument 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are not contractual 
(such as statutory receivables or payables that arise as a result of statutory requirements imposed 
by governments) are not financial instruments. 

Financial asset 
A financial asset is any asset that is: 

• cash; 

• an equity instrument of another entity; 

• a contractual or statutory right: 

o to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or 

o to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under 
conditions that are potentially favourable to the entity; or 

• a contract that will or may be settled in the entityʼs own equity instruments and is: 

o a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable 
number of the entityʼs own equity instruments; or 

o a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount 
of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entityʼs own equity 
instruments. 

Financial liability 
A financial liability is any liability that is: 
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• A contractual or statutory obligation: 

o To deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 

o To exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under 
conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity; or 

• A contract that will or may be settled in the entityʼs own equity instruments and is: 

o A non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable 
number of the entityʼs own equity instruments; or 

o A derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed 
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entityʼs own 
equity instruments. For this purpose the entityʼs own equity instruments do not 
include instruments that are themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery 
of the entityʼs own equity instruments. 

Financial statements 
Depending on the context of the sentence where the term ʻfinancial statementsʼ is used, it may 
include only the main financial statements (that is, comprehensive operating statement, balance 
sheet, cash flow statement, and statement of changes in equity); or it may also be used to replace 
the old term ʻfinancial reportʼ under the revised AASB 101 (September 2007), which means it may 
include the main financial statements and the notes. 

Grants  
Transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour 
to another unit without receiving approximately equal value in return. Grants can either be operating 
or capital in nature. While grants to governments may result in the provision of some goods or 
services to the transferor, they do not give the transferor a claim to receive directly benefits of 
approximately equal value. For this reason, grants are referred to by the AASB as involuntary 
transfers and are termed non-reciprocal transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of approximately equal 
value may occur, but only by coincidence. For example, governments are not obliged to provide 
commensurate benefits, in the form of goods or services, to particular taxpayers in return for their 
taxes.  

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to 
conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants which are 
paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use. 

Net result 
Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result 
of items of income, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding 
those that are classified as other non-owner changes in equity. 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) 
Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is income from 
transactions minus expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing 
sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting from changes in price levels and 
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 30 June 2015 
 

Note 1. Summary of significant accounting 
policies 

other changes in the volume of assets. It is the component of the change in net worth that is due to 
transactions and can be attributed directly to government policies. 

Net worth 

Assets less liabilities which is an economic measure of wealth. 

Payables 
Includes short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest payable. 

Receivables 
Includes amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, short and long term 
trade credit and accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, taxes and interest 
receivable. 

Other operating expenses 
Other operating expenses generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, 
including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal operations of the entity.  

Transactions 
Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, 
usually an interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include flows within an 
entity such as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the 
depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service provided by the asset. Taxation is regarded 
as mutually agreed interactions between the government and taxpayers. Transactions can be in 
kind (for example, assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal consideration) or where the 
final consideration is cash. In simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions of the 
government. 

Style conventions 
Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals and 
sums of components reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are based on the 
underlying unrounded amounts. 

The notation used in the tables is as follows: 

- zero, or rounded to zero 

(xxx.x) negative numbers 

20xx year period 

20xx-xx year period 

The financial statements and notes are presented based on the illustration for a government 
department in the 2014–15 Model Report for Victorian Government Departments.  
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 2. Income from transactions

2015 2014
($'000) ($'000)

Grants 
Department of Health and Human Services 6,471  5,630   

Total 6,471  5,630   
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Commission for Children and Young People

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 3. Expenses from transactions

2015 2014
($'000) ($'000)

(a) Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 2,981                     2,576
Superannuation 307                        254
Leave expenses 739                        602
Other On-cost 198                        166

Total employee benefits 4,225 3,598

(b) Grants
Grants 334                        326
Total grants 334 326

(c) Other operating expenses

Travel and subsistence 105                        80
Office and accommodation 303                        311
Administrative costs 16                          -
General expenses 571                        525
Information, communications and technology costs 13                          -
Financial analysis 229                        153
Contractor expenses 570                        551
Learning and Development costs 53                          79

Total other operating expenses 1,860 1,699

(d) Depreciation 
Depreciation 9                            2

Total depreciation 9 2

(e) Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows
Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service leave liability (43)                         (5)

Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows (43) (5)
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 4. Receivables

2015 2014
($'000) ($'000)

Current receivables
Contractual
Amounts owing from Department of Health and Human Services 1,645                  1,387          
Total current receivables 1,645                 1,387         
Total receivables 1,645                  1,387          
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Commission for Children and Young People

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 5. Plant and equipment

2015 2014
Note ($'000) ($'000)

Sub-classification by nature(i)

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment   - at fair value 37              37
Less accumulated depreciation (12) (2)
Total plant and equipment at fair value 5(a) 26 35

Net carrying amount of plant and equipment 26              35

Note:
(i) Consistent with Financial Reporting Direction 103F Non-Current Physical Assets,  all assets need 
to be further sub-categorised according to the assets' nature (i.e. buildings, plant and equipment, etc), 
with each sub-category being classified as a separate class of asset for financial reporting purposes. 
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 5. Plant and equipment (continued)

(a) Movements in carrying amounts 

 Plant and 
equipment 

 Total 

($'000) ($'000)
Balance at 1 July 2013 -                -          
Additions                   37             37 
Depreciation and amortisation                   (2)             (2)
Balance at 30 June 2014 35                 35           
Additions                   -               -   
Depreciation and amortisation                   (9)             (9)
Balance at 30 June 2015 26                 26           

Reconciliations of the movement in carrying amounts of each class of plant and equipment at 
the beginning and end of the financial year are set out below.
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Commission for Children and Young People

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 5. Plant and equipment (continued)

(b) Fair Value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 30 June 2015

Carrying

amount Level 1(i) Level 2(i) Level 3(i)

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Plant and equipment at fair value
Plant and equipment 26 -                 -         26
Total plant and equipment at fair value 26 - - 26

Note:

(b) Fair Value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 30 June 2014

Carrying

amount Level 1(i) Level 2(i) Level 3(i)

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Plant and equipment at fair value
Plant and equipment 35 -                 -         35
Total plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 35 - - 35

Note:
(i)   Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 1(b).

There have been no transfers between levels during the year.

 Fair value measurement at end of 
reporting period using : 

(i)   Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 1(b).

There have been no transfers between levels during the year.

 Fair value measurement at end of 
reporting period using : 
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Commission for Children and Young People

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 6. Payables

2015 2014
($'000) ($'000)

Current payables
Contractual
Other payables -                   208                
Total current payables -                  208               

Total payables -                  208               

(a) Maturity analysis of contractual payables
Refer to Note 11 for the maturity analysis of contractual payables
(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from contractual payables
Refer to Note 11 for the nature and extent of risk arising from contractual payables. 
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Commission for Children and Young People

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 7. Provisions

2015 2014
Note ($'000) ($'000)

Current provisions
Employee benefits (i) 6(a) 1,558                         994                            
Employee benefit on-costs 6(b) 85                              180                            
Total current provisions 1,643                        1,174                        

Non-current provisions
Employee benefits (i) 6(a) 17                             34                             
Employee benefit on-costs 6(b) 11                             6                               
Total non-current provisions 28                             40                             

Total provisions 1,671                        1,214                        

(a)  Employee benefits and related on-costs (i)

Current employee benefits:
Salaries and wages (ii)

  Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii) 57                              8                                
Annual leave entitlements
  Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii) 420                            200                            
  Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (iii) 10                              98                              
Long service leave entitlements
  Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii) 680                            688                            
  Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (iii) 391                            -                                 
Total current employee benefits 1,558                        994                           

Non-current employee benefits:
Conditional long service leave entitlements (iii) 17                              34                              

Total non-current employee benefits 17                             34                             

Total employee benefits 1,575                        1,028                        

(b)  Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs
Current on-costs (ii)
  Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii) 11                              162                            
  Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (iii) 74                              18                              
Non-current on-costs (iii) 11                              6                                
Total on-costs 96                             186                           

Total employee benefits and related on-costs 1,671                        1,214                        

Note:

(ii)  The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts.
(iii)  The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.

(i)  Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees, not including on-costs.
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 8. Equity

2015 2014
($'000) ($'000)

(a)  Accumulated surplus
Balance at beginning of financial year -               -                        
Net result for the year -               -                        
Balance at the end of financial year -               -                       

(b) Contributions by owners
Balance at beginning of financial year -               -                        
Balance at the end of financial year -               -                       
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Commission for Children and Young People

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 9. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
There are no contingent assets and contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2015 (2014: nil)
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Commission for Children and Young People

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 10. Commitments for expenditure

(a) Commitments other than public private partnerships  (i)
2015 2014

($'000) ($'000)

(a) Other expenditure commitments
Provision of services 509 59
Total other expenditure commitments 509 59
Total commitments for expenditure (inclusive of GST) 509 59

Notes:
(i) All amounts shown in the commitments note are nominal amounts inclusive of GST.

The following commitments have not been recognised as liabilities in the financial statements
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

(b) Commitments payable (i)
2015 2014

Nominal values ($'000) ($'000)
The following commitments have not been recognised as liabilities in the financial statements.
(a) Other expenditure commitments

Commitments under contracts for operating expenditure largely comprising service delivery 
(excluding operating lease commitments) outstanding as at the reporting date but not 
recognised as liabilities, payable:
Less than 1 year 421 59
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 88 -          
Total other expenditure commitments 509 59
Total commitments for expenditure (inclusive of GST) 
Less GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office 46 5
Total commitments for expenditure (exclusive of GST) 463 53

Commission for Children and Young People

(i) All amounts shown in the commitments note are nominal amounts inclusive of GST.
Notes:
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Commission for Children and Young People

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 11.     Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(b) Categorisation of financial instruments (i)

2015 Note
Contractual financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost

Total

($'000) ($'000)

Contractual financial assets
Receivables 4 1,645                          1,645                          
Total contractual financial assets 1,645                          1,645                          

Contractual financial liabilities
Payables 6 -                              -                              
Total contractual financial liabilities -                              -                              

2014 Note
Contractual financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost

Total

($'000) ($'000)

Contractual financial assets
Receivables 4 1,387                          1,387                          
Total contractual financial assets 1,387                          1,387                          

Contractual financial liabilities
Payables 6 208                             208                             
Total contractual financial liabilities 208                             208                             

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. GST input tax credit recoverable).

CCYP's principal financial instruments comprise of:
• receivables (excluding statutory receivables); and
• payables (excluding statutory payables).

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the 
basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset and financial liability are disclosed in Note 1 
to the financial statements.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage CCYP's financial risks within the government policy parameters.

CCYP's main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. CCYP manages these financial risks in accordance with its 
financial risk management policy.

CCYP uses different methods to measure and manage the different risks to which it is exposed. Primary responsibility for the identification and 
management of financial risks rests with the audit and risk management committee of CCYP.
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Commission for Children and Young People

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

(e) Market risk

CCYPʼs exposure to market risk is insignificant.

Note 11. Financial instruments (continued)

114



Commission for Children and Young People

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 11. Financial instruments (continued)

(f) Fair value
The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

· Level 1 - the fair value of financial instruments with standard terms and conditions and traded in active markets are 
determined with reference to quoted market prices;

· Level 2 - the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
· Level 3 - the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted 
cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

CCYP considers that the carrying amount of financial instrument assets and liabilities as recorded in the financial 
statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values, because of the short-term nature of the financial 
instruments and the expectation that they be paid in full.
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Commission for Children and Young People

Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

2015 2014
($'000) ($'000)

Net result for the year -                                -                                

Non-cash movements
Depreciation and amortisation 9                               2                               

Movements in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in receivables (258)                          (278)                          
Increase/(decrease) in payables (208)                          154                            
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 457                            159                            

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities -                                37                             

Note 12. Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash flows from operating 
activities
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 30 June 2015

(a) Remuneration of executives

Income band
2015 2014 2015 2014

Under $100,000 1                          1                          
$180,000-$189,999 -                           -                           1                          
$220,000-$229,999 1                          -                           -                           
Total number of executives 1                         1                         1                         1                         
Total amount $32,024 $228,368 $32,024 $184,416

Total remuneration Base remuneration

(b) Payments to other personnel (i.e. contractors with significant management responsibities)

Note 14.     Remuneration of executives and payments to other personnel (i.e. contractors with 
significant management responsibilities)

The numbers of executive officers, other than ministers and accountable officers, and their total remuneration during the 
reporting period are shown in the first two columns in the table below in their relevant income bands.  The base 
remuneration of executive officers is shown in the third and fourth columns.  Base remuneration is exclusive of bonus 
payments, long-service leave payments, redundancy payments and retirement benefits. The total annualised employee 
equivalent provides a measure of full-time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.

The Commission has one executive officer position. Following the resignation of the previous chief executive officer in 
2014, the position of chief executive officer was filled on an acting basis until March 2015. The acting position was not 
classified as an executive officer.

CCYP did not make any payments to contractors with signficant management responsibilities for the year ended 
30 June 2015 (2014: nil)
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 15.     Remuneration of auditors
2015 2014

($'000) ($'000)
Victorian Auditor General's Office - audit of the financial report 4 4
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Notes to and forming part of the financial statements 2015

Note 16.     Economic dependency

The Department of Health and Human Services has issued a letter of comfort to the Commission for Children and 
Young People to confirm that it will provide adequate cash flow support to enable the Commission for Children 
and Young People to meet its current and future operational obligations as and when they fall due for a period up 
to 30 October 2016.
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